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FFUBRRE
‘} FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

2016 2015 2014 2013 2012
ZE-RE ET—hF ZTWF T—=F —FT-—F
HK$000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET TFET FET FAET

(Restated)
(&%)
Results &
Year ended BEZ=ZHA=+—H
31 March FEE
Loss attributable RARIER AFEME
to owners of the E518
Company (131,334)  (445,229) (52,291) (78,395) (293,521)
Assets and EERER
liabilities
At 31 March R=A=+—8H
Total assets EERE 407,467 496,346 985,596 1,222,622 1,492,708
Total liabilities BEBRE (290,995) (256,603)  (302,995)  (450,221)  (546,375)
Total equity T EER 116,472 239,743 682,601 772,401 946,333
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

Financial Review
Consolidated results

For the year ended 31 March 2016, Culture Landmark
Investment Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) recorded
revenue of approximately HK$112.0 million compared
to approximately HK$141.4 million for the last financial
year, representing a decrease of about 20.8%, and
loss of approximately HK$133.8 million compared to
approximately HK$450.6 million for the last financial
year, representing a decrease of about 70.3%. The
Group recognised the impairment losses on trade and
other receivables and goodwill of approximately HK$61.3
million for the year ended 31 March 2016 and still made
a significant decrease in the loss for the year ended
31 March 2016 because of the absence of (i) the loss
on disposal of Hua Rong Sheng Shi Holding Limited
(“Hua Rong") of approximately HK$16.0 million; (ii)
the amortisation on intangible assets and deferred
expenditure of approximately HK$24.0 million; and (iii)
the impairment loss on available-for-sale investments,
goodwill and intangible assets of approximately HK$332.3
million, which were recognised in the last financial year.

Business Review

During the year ended 31 March 2016, the Group's
reportable business segments principally consist of
(i) licence fee collection and provision of intellectual
property enforcement services business; (ii) exhibition-
related business; (iii) property sub-leasing business; (iv)
property development and investment; (v) sludge and
sewage treatment; (vi) entertainment business; and (vii)
food and beverages business.

During the year ended 31 March 2016, the Group
recognised a gain on disposal of available-for-sale
investments of approximately HK$14.3 million as a
result of the disposal of 135,836,474 ordinary shares
of Cosmopolitan International Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 120), a company incorporated in Cayman Islands
with limited liability and the ordinary shares of which are
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK
(Continued)

Business Review (Continued)

With a money lenders licence granted previously, the
Group has also conducted money lending business in
Hong Kong on a small scale and made relatively small
profits from this sector.

Licence fee collection and provision of intellectual
property enforcement services business

On 8 May 2006, (i) China Music Video Broadcast
(Shenzhen) Company Limited* (1 Z E&ECEYI) B R
‘A|]) (“China Music”), an indirect non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, and China Music Video
Collective Management Association* (f B & & & {E &
£REEHE) ("MVCM Association”) entered into a
copyright co-operation agreement; and (ii) China Music,
Song Labs Co, Ltd* (It RAZEREEEFKMABERAA)
(“Song Labs"”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, and the MVCM Association entered into
a copyright business operation co-operation agreement
(together with their supplemental agreements, the
“Copyright Co-operation Agreements”). Pursuant to
the Copyright Co-operation Agreements, the MVCM
Association, China Music and Song Labs have set up
a market operation team in the PRC to manage and
operate the business of the licences of copyright to
karaoke music products in the PRC, and China Music and
Song Labs are entitled to certain portion of the licence
fees in the PRC. Under the Copyright Co-operation
Agreements, the MVCM Association takes the role as
the sole market manager and China Music and Song
Labs together take the role as the sole market operator.
Pursuant to the Copyright Co-operation Agreements,
the MVCM Association is required to collect the licence
fees from the karaoke operators and distribute and pay
certain portion of such licence fees to China Music and
Song Labs on a weekly basis as operating fees (the
“Operating Fees”).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK
(Continued)

Business Review (Continued)

Licence fee collection and provision of intellectual

property enforcement services business (Continued)

On 1 June 2016, China Music and Song Labs have

initiated legal proceedings (the

“Litigation”) against

MVCM Association in the PRC court claiming for:

(a)

the payment of (i) outstanding Operating Fees
of approximately RMB34,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$40,800,000) by MVCM
Association to China Music and Song Labs pursuant
to the Copyright Co-operation Agreements which
represents the outstanding Operating Fees up to
the second quarter of 2015 (the "“Outstanding
Operating Fees"”); and (ii) the default interest
of approximately RMB2,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$2,400,000), if calculated up to 31

May 2016;

a declaration that the unilateral termination of
one of the Copyright Co-operation Agreements
by MVCM Association was invalid and that
MVCM Association should continue to perform
its obligations under the Copyright Co-operation
Agreements; and

the costs of the Litigation to be borne by MVCM
Association.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK
(Continued)

Business Review (Continued)

Licence fee collection and provision of intellectual
property enforcement services business (Continued)

As at the date of this report, it is uncertain as to whether
the Group can fully recover the Outstanding Operating
Fees from MVCM Association. Accordingly, the board
(the “"Board”) of directors (the
Company is of the view that the non-payment of the

“Directors”) of the

Outstanding Operating Fees may have adverse impact
on the interests of the Group’s license fee collection
and provision of intellectual property enforcement
services business and hence the Group's overall revenue
and gross profit for the year ended 31 March 2016. In
view of such uncertainties, an impairment loss of trade
receivables of approximately RMB30,700,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$37,700,000) was made for the year
ended 31 March 2016 and the recognition of the revenue
from the Operating Fees for the period after the second
quarter of 2015 is pending, and subject to, the result of
the Litigation.

On 1 June 2016, dt mm#EZE A RERL (The People's
Court of Chaoyang, Beijing*) notified China Music and
Song Labs that the application for the Litigation has been
accepted. The Litigation is still on a preliminary stage
and the Company’'s PRC legal counsel is currently taking
all necessary steps to protect the Company’s interests.
For details in relation to the Litigation, please also refer
to the Company’'s announcements dated 12 November
2015, 23 May 2016 and 2 June 2016.

For the year ended 31 March 2016, this business
segment recorded revenue of approximately HK$12.8
million compared to approximately HK$39.7 million for
the last financial year, representing a decrease of about
67.8%, which was mainly attributable to the disposal of
Hua Rong completed in August 2014 and the Litigation.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK
(Continued)

Business Review (Continued)

Licence fee collection and provision of intellectual
property enforcement services business (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2016, this business
segment recorded loss of approximately HK$36.5
million compared to approximately HK$182.4 million
for the last financial year, representing a decrease of
about 80.0%, which was mainly due to the absence
of the non-recurring items including (i) the loss on
disposal of Hua Rong of approximately HK$16.0 million;
(i) the amortisation on intangible assets and deferred
expenditure of approximately HK$20.7 million; and (iii)
the impairment loss on goodwill and intangible assets of
approximately HK$147.9 million.

Exhibition-related business

China Resources Advertising & Exhibition Company
Limited, a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company (together with its subsidiaries, the “CRA
Group"”) is principally engaged in exhibition-related
business. The CRA Group has acted as an organizer
and contractor for exhibitions and meeting events
held in Hong Kong. It has developed over 20 years of
relationship with the Hong Kong Trade Development
Council ("HKTDC") and has become one of the major
agents organising trade fairs for PRC groups whilst most
of which were co-organised with the HKTDC. The clients
of the CRA Group are primarily PRC based including
numerous sub-councils of the China Council for the
Promotion of International Trade in the PRC. For the year
ended 31 March 2016, this business segment recorded
revenue of approximately HK$54.6 million compared to
approximately HK$66.7 million for the last financial year,
representing a decrease of about 18.1%, and loss of
approximately HK$2.5 million compared to approximately
HK$25.7 million for the last financial year, representing
a decrease of about 90.3%. The drop in revenue was
mainly as a result of the slowing economies in the PRC
and the decrease in the loss was mainly due to the
absence of (i) the amortisation on intangible assets of
approximately HK$3.2 million; and (ii) the impairment loss
on intangible assets of approximately HK$19.9 million,
which were non-recurring items.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK
(Continued)

Business Review (Continued)
Property sub-leasing business

On 27 May 2011, the Company (as the purchaser)
entered into an agreement (as amended and
supplemented by supplemental agreements dated 20
December 2011, 31 December 2012, 30 September
2013 and 30 September 2014) (collectively referred
to as the “BoRen Agreement”) with HaoRan Cultural
Development Limited (the “BoRen Vendor”) pursuant
to which the Company agreed to acquire from BoRen
Vendor the entire issued capital of BoRen Cultural
Development Limited (“BoRen”). BoRen holds direct
interests in Elite-China Cultural Development Limited
and its subsidiaries (the “Elite Group”), being a group
of companies which principally engage in sub-leasing
of properties and facilities in Nanjing. Pursuant to the
BoRen Agreement, it was originally agreed that the
Company shall provide a loan in the total principal
amount of not less than RMB50.0 million to the Elite
Group for each of the years on or before 30 September
2015, 30 September 2016 and 30 September 2017,
respectively (the “Original Loan”) and in consideration
of the provision of the Original Loan, the BoRen
Vendor shall provide a profit guarantee in favour of the
Company whereby the BoRen Vendor guaranteed that
the total audited combined net profits after taxation
and non-controlling interest of Elite Group for the three
financial years ending 31 December 2017 shall not be
less than RMB75.0 million (the “Profit Guarantee”). On
29 September 2015, the Company, the BoRen Vendor
and the guarantor to the BoRen Vendor entered into the
fifth supplemental agreement (the “Fifth Supplemental
Agreement”), pursuant to which the parties agreed to
further amend certain terms of the BoRen Agreement.
Pursuant to the Fifth Supplemental Agreement, the
parties mutually agreed to reduce the amount of the
Original Loan from an aggregate of RMB150.0 million
to RMB10.0 million (the “New Loan") for the purpose
of minimizing the Company’s credit risk and investment
risk, after taking into consideration of the current

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK
(Continued)

Business Review (Continued)
Property sub-leasing business (Continued)

market condition and change of development plan of the
properties of BoRen and its subsidiaries. In consideration
of the BoRen Vendor agreeing to reduce the size of the
Original Loan, the Company has agreed to accept certain
share pledges in favour of the Company as security
for the New Loan, in place of the Profit Guarantee.
Pursuant to the Fifth Supplemental Agreement, the New
Loan will be provided by the Company to Elite Group
within 30 days upon signing of the Fifth Supplemental
Agreement (i.e. 28 October 2015),
conditions precedent being fulfilled and/or waived. As

subject to certain

certain conditions precedent were not fulfilled or waived
within 30 days upon signing of the Fifth Supplemental
Agreement (i.e. 28 October 2015) and no extension
has been agreed between the parties, the Company's
obligation to provide the New Loan has lapsed
accordingly. Upon the lapse of the Fifth Supplemental
Agreement, neither party shall have any further
obligations nor liabilities towards the other nor any
claims against the other in connection with the BoRen
Agreement (save for antecedent breaches, if applicable).
For details in relation to the BoRen Agreement and the
Fifth Supplemental Agreement, please also refer to the
Company’s announcements dated 27 May 2011, 6 July
2012, 11 July 2012, 31 December 2012, 30 September
2013, 30 September 2014, 29 September 2015 and 28
October 2015.

March 2016,
segment recorded revenue of approximately HK$44.2

For the year ended 31 this business
million compared to approximately HK$33.6 million for
the last financial year, representing an increase of about
31.5%,
million as compared to loss of approximately HK$122.3

and recorded a profit of approximately HK$4.4

million for the last financial year, which was mainly due
to the absence of the non-recurring items including
the impairment loss on goodwill and available-for-sale
investments of approximately HK$115.3 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK
(Continued)

Business Review (Continued)
Property development and investment

In 2013, the Company entered into an acquisition
agreement (as amended and supplemented by
supplemental agreements dated 30 July 2014 and
28 October 2014) (collectively referred to as the
“Acquisition Agreement”) with Bliss Zone Limited
("“BZL") to acquire the entire issued share capital of
Longisland Tourism Investment & Development Limited
(EBEREREEABRAR) for a total consideration of
HK$400.0 million. The transaction was approved by the
Company’s shareholders on 7 November 2013.

Pursuant to the terms of the Acquisition Agreement, the
completion of the Acquisition Agreement is conditional
upon fulfilment and/or waiver (as the case maybe) of
the conditions precedent set out in the Acquisition
Agreement on or before 30 April 2015. On 30 April 2015,
the conditions precedent to the Acquisition Agreement
were not fulfilled and/or waived (as the case maybe) and
no extension of the time was agreed by the parties to
the Acquisition Agreement, the Acquisition Agreement
had lapsed and ceased to have any effect and neither
party thereto had any rights or obligations towards each
other thereunder, save for liabilities for any antecedent
breaches thereof and BZL was required to rebate the
earnest money, the partial payment and any settled
residual payment to the Company. The total payment
amounting to HK$80.0 million was fully refunded during
the year ended 31 March 2016.

On 21 December 2013, the Company entered into
the tripartite framework agreement with the People's
Government of Sheshan and Beijing International
Trust Company Limited in relation to the development
of certain projects in Sheshan (the “Tripartite
Framework Agreement”). Details of the Tripartite
Framework Agreement are disclosed in the Company's
announcement dated 23 December 2013. Such
development has yet to be commenced as at the date of
this report since the Company and the other parties to
the Tripartite Framework Agreement are still assessing
the feasibility of those projects.

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK
(Continued)

Business Review (Continued)
Sludge and sewage treatment

In August 2015, the Group completed the acquisition
of 51% equity interests of Suzhou Great Research &
Ltd.* (BRI RRMRERERE

(“Great Research”) and its subsidiaries (the

Industrialization Co.,
BRAR])
“Great Group"), the financial results of the Great Group
has been consolidated to the financial statements of the
Group since the completion of the acquisition. For further
details in relation to the acquisition of the Great Group,
please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 7
July 2015.

The Great Group uses BOO (Build-Own-Operate) project
model to provide sludge treatment services in the PRC.
As at 31 March 2016, the relevant project company, an
associated company of Great Research, has commenced
operation of a sludge treatment facility in Henan. For
the year ended 31 March 2016, the share of losses of
associates were approximately HK$0.2 million.

Further, the Great Group also intends to take on certain
projects to provide sewage treatment services in the
PRC with BOT (Build-Operate-Transfer) as its main
project model in the future.

During the year ended 31 March 2016, the goodwill of
approximately HK$20.0 million was fully impaired and
impairment loss on intangible assets of approximately
HK$0.3 million were provided as the Great Group had no
revenue generated and the growth will be depended on
the new projects to be carried out in the future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK
(Continued)

Outlook

Looking ahead, the Directors expect the business
environment to remain challenging. The Group will
continue to closely monitor and review its existing
business from time to time and adopt timely and
appropriate measures to improve the business operation
and financial position of the Group. At the same time,
the Group will also continuously explore and look for
opportunities to diversify the business of the Group and
to enhance shareholders’ value.

In view of macro-economic environment (which the
Directors believed were not optimistic), there may be an
increasing demand in money lending business and third
party financing services. The Group intends to further
develop its money lending business. The Board believes
that the money lending business will provide the Group
an opportunity to broaden revenue sources and obtain
stable interest income for the Group. The Group is
optimistic that the money lending business will have
positive impact on the Group. In order to help to achieve
these goals, on 16 May 2016, the Company announced
the proposed open offer that will raise capital to facilitate
the business expansion in money lending business and
enhance the general working capital of the Group. For
details in relation to the open offer, please refer to the
section headed “Liquidity and financial resources” of this
report.

On 8 June 2015, the Group entered into an acquisition
agreement to acquire certain subscribed capital
contribution of Chongging Lianshun Heqi Venture
Investment Fund Partnership* (BEEEIESRAIEREE
B ) (“Lianshun”) at a consideration equivalent to
HK$32.0 million in Renminbi (“RMB"), which is expected
to provide the Group a favourable investment opportunity
in the fast-growing unconventional oil/gas industry. The
acquisition was completed in August 2015.

On 7 July 2015, the Group entered into an acquisition
agreement to acquire 51% equity interests of Great
Research, the Great Group is expected to be a
multipurpose eco-industrial base for the Group. The
acquisition was completed in August 2015.

*  For identification only
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The Directors of the Company present their report
together with the audited financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2016.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note
46 to the financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’'s performance for the year
under review by business segment is set out in note 6
to the financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business objectives of the Group are to develop its
business and achieve sustainable growth of its business.
The Group aims to achieve such objectives by perusing
the following growth-oriented strategies: (i) further
diversifying the business of the Group by tapping into
the money lending business; (ii) broadening the customer
base of the exhibition-related business of the Group;
and (iii) closely monitoring the cost in the property sub-
leasing business of the Group.

A review of the businesses of the Group during the year
using the financial indicators and a discussion on the
Group's future business development are provided in the
sections headed “Management Discussion and Analysis”
and “Financial Review" in this report. Particulars of
important events affecting the Company that have
occurred since the end of the financial year ended 31
March 2016 are set out in note 47 to the consolidated
financial statements of the Company.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group's financial condition, results of operations,
businesses and prospects may be affected by a number
of risks and uncertainties. The followings are the key
risks and uncertainties identified by the Group. There
may be other risks and uncertainties in addition to those
shown below which are not known to the Group or
which may not be material now but could turn out to be
material in the future.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Principal Risks and Uncertainties (Continued)
Business Risk

Certain of the business segments to which the
Group operates are subject to changes in consumer
perception, preferences and tastes, in particular, for the
exhibition-related business as well as the property sub-
leasing business. The Group’s business and financial
performance depends on factors which may affect the
level and pattern of consumer spending in China and in
Hong Kong.

Market Risk

The business and operation of certain business segments
of the Group, in particular, the licence fee collection and
provision of intellectual property enforcement services
business, property sub-leasing business and sludge and
sewage treatment, are basically conducted in the PRC
and the clients of another main business segment of
the Group, the exhibition-related business, are primarily
PRC based textile manufacturers, and therefore the
Group’s operation, revenue and profit margin are highly
impacting by the economies of the PRC and the measures
implemented by the PRC government. During the vyear,
the Group affected by the slowing economies in the PRC.

Operational Risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from
inadequate or failed internal processes, people and
systems or from external events. Responsibility for
managing operational risks basically rests with every
function at divisional and departmental levels. The Group
recognises that operational risks cannot be eliminated
completely and that it may not always be cost effective
to do so.

Key functions in the Group are guided by their operating
procedures, limits of authority and reporting framework.
The Group will identify and assess key operational
exposures from time to time and report such risk issues
to senior management as early as possible so that
appropriate risk response can be taken.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Principal Risks and Uncertainties (Continued)
Financial Risk

The financial risk management of the Group are set out
in note 43 to the consolidated financial statements.

Legal Risk

Legal risk is the risk that unenforceable contracts,
lawsuits or adverse judgments may disrupt or otherwise
negatively affect the operations or financial conditions of
the Group. As at the date of this report, the Group has
initiated the Litigation against MVCM Association, for
details in relation to the Litigation, please refer to the
subsection headed "Licence fee collection and provision
of intellectual property enforcement services business”
under the section headed "“Business Review"” on pages
6 to 9 of this report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2016 are set out in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income on pages 62 to 64.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any
dividend in respect of the year ended 31 March 2016
(2015: Nil). Capital will be reserved for the expansion
of the Group’s business and to capture investment
opportunities arising in the future. There is no
arrangement that a shareholder of the Company has
waived or agreed to waive any dividend.

FIXED ASSETS

Details of movements in fixed assets of the Group and
the Company during the year under review are set out in
notes 16 to 17 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movement in the share capital of the Company
are set out in note 32 to the financial statements.

ANNUAL REPORT 2016

EETEHES
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

EBEEE)
TERABETREMEE)
BB

AEBEZHMBRAREREFENEEMBRRN
430

LR

EEBEBREERTAIMITAA « SRR H
SR T R] BE 150 AN 5% [ 38 1 sk B A5 00 th 3ROR &L
SEEPFECRER RAREAY  ~AKHE
CHEGREFREBEEGERAFAR A
AR HBR2HAREE6EIAIER
(G- e AR TR L€ Y E A Y-S
RIS E |8 -

FEARD K

AEEBE_Z-RF=ZA=+T—HILFE
ZEBEHNEC2ECMAZEAZEKAR °

EETERMBE_T—RF=A=1+—H
EFEERNEARE(ZFE—HF: &) &
AEREERAEBRREB 2 ANMERR
HIRZ IREHE o NA BB B LB
MEXFBRETMARE -

EE&E
AEBRARRZEEEENEBEENZ
BHFERNAHREME 16517 -

VN

ARBZBRABBFH BN EHRMZES2

:
1

17



18

EEEHESE
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year under review are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 67
and note 33 to the financial statements, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of the distributable reserves of the Company as
at 31 March 2016 are set out in note 33 to the financial
statements.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2016, the Group had
entered into certain transactions with parties which
were regarded as “Related Parties” under the applicable
accounting principles. Details of those related party
transactions are set out in note 39 to the financial
statements. The transaction which is considered as a
connected transaction under the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”) is further disclosed in the section headed
“Connected Transactions” below.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company's bye-laws (the "“Bye-laws”) and there is
no restriction against such rights under the laws of

Bermuda.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on
page 4.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The Company did not make any charitable donation for
the two years ended 31 March 2015 and 2016.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement benefit schemes are set out in
note 4(o) to the financial statements.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted the share option scheme (the
“Share Option Scheme”) on 30 August 2012 under
which the Directors may grant options to eligible person,
including directors and employees of the Group, to
subscribe for shares of the Company.

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the
Share Option Scheme:

1. Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme is set up for the purpose
of attracting and retaining quality personnel and
other persons to provide incentive to them to
contribute to the business and operation of the
Group.

2. Participants of the Share Option Scheme

The Directors may at their discretion grant options
to (i) any director, employee or consultant of the
Group or a company in which the Group holds an
equity interest or a subsidiary of such company
(" Affiliate”); or (ii) any discretionary trust whose
discretionary objects include any director, employee
or consultant of the Group or an Affiliate; or (iii)
a company beneficially owned by any director,
employee or consultant of the Group or an Affiliate;
or (iv) any customer, supplier or adviser whose
service to the Group or business with the Group
contributes or is expected to contribute to the
business or operation of the Group as may be
determined by the Directors from time to time to
subscribe for shares of the Company.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

3.

Total number of shares available for issue under
the Share Option Scheme and percentage of the
number of issued shares as at the date of this
report

The maximum number of ordinary shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under the
Share Option Scheme was in aggregate 31,135,887
shares as at 31 March 2016 (representing
approximately 4.3% of the number of issued shares
as at the date of this report).

Maximum entitlement of each participant under
the Share Option Scheme

The maximum number of the shares of the
Company (issued and to be issued) in respect of
which options may be granted under the Share
Option Scheme to any one grantee in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1 per cent. of the share
capital of the Company in issue on the last date
of such 12-month period unless approval of the
shareholders of the Company has been obtained in
accordance with Rule 17.03(4) of the Listing Rules.

The period within which the options must
be exercised under Share Option Scheme to
subscribe for shares

The holder of an option may subscribe for the
shares of the Company during such period as
may be determined by the Directors (which shall
be less than ten years from the date of grant of
the relevant option and may include the minimum
period, if any, for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised).
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

6.

The minimum period for which an option must
be held before it can be exercised

There is no minimum period for which an option
granted must be held before it can be exercised
unless otherwise imposed by the Directors.

The period within which the options granted
must be taken up

Options granted must be taken up within 21 days
inclusive of, and from the date of grant.

The basis of determining the exercise price

Options may be granted without any initial payment
for the options at an exercise price (subject to
adjustments as provided therein) equal to the
highest of (i) the nominal value of the shares of
the Company; (ii) the closing price per share of the
Company as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily
quotations sheet on the date of the grant of the
option, which must be a business day; and (iii) the
average closing price per share of the Company
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of the grant of the option.

The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for
a period of 10 years commencing from 30 August
2012.

Details of the Share Option Scheme, including grant and

lapse of options, are disclosed in note 34 to the financial

statements.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this
report are as follows:

Cheng Yang (Chairman)

Tsoi Tung (Chief Executive Officer)
Lei Lei

Huang Ranfei

Li Weipeng (resigned on 8 April 2016)
Tong Jingguo

Yang Rusheng

So Tat Keung

In accordance with bye-law 84(1) of the Bye-laws, one-
third of the Directors for the time being, (or if their
number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest
to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office
by rotation so that each Director shall be subject to
retirement at least once every three years.

Biographical details of Directors and senior
management

Executive Directors

Mr. Cheng Yang (“Mr. Cheng"), aged 52, is an executive
Director, the chairman of the Board and the chairman of
the nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Cheng
joined the Company on 30 April 2010 and has experience
in entertainment and media business. Mr. Cheng is the
founder and a director of Cheng Films & Video Production
Limited (a company incorporated in Hong Kong). He was
an executive director of Lajin Entertainment Network
Group Limited (formerly known as China Media and Films
Holdings Limited), the issued shares of which are listed
on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange,
for the period from September 2011 to March 2014.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Biographical details of Directors and senior
management (Continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Tsoi Tung (“Mr. Tsoi"), aged 46,
Director and the chief executive officer of the Company.

is an executive

Mr. Tsoi was appointed as an executive Director on 18
December 2014 and the chief executive officer of the
Company on 28 January 2015. Mr. Tsoi has experience
in corporate management and investment. Since 2008,
Mr. Tsoi has been the chairman of EEE2ABMAER A
Al (Chongging Kingstone Land Co. Ltd*) (formerly known
asBEEEAAHBEAR AR (Chongging Kingstone Grand
Hotel Co., Limited*)). Since 2012, Mr. Tsoi has also been
the chairman of EREER QA
Limited*). Mr. Tsoi graduated from X Z¥ 4N
(Tianjin Institute of Foreign Trade*) in 1992.

(Bloomage Land Co.

2 52k

Ms. Lei Lei ("Ms. Lei"),
Director,

aged 53, is an executive
the deputy chief executive officer and an
authorised representative of the Company. Ms. Lei
joined the Group on 1 June 2012. She has experience

in business management, she had served as general

manager of /8 E 1 5 X (L& & IR % B IR 2 7 (Hainan
Bojin Cultural Investment Company Ltd.*), and the
chief executive officer of Sunp Canada Inc.. Ms. Lei

graduated from =E E # % 2 ft (Chongging Post &
Telecommunications Institute*) in 1985 with a bachelor
degree in engineering, and obtained a master degree
in philosophy from PFX 7 Al 5 K 2 (Shaanxi Normal
University*) in 1988.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Biographical details of Directors and senior
management (Continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Huang Ranfei (“Mr. Huang"”), aged 35, is an
executive Director. Mr. Huang joined the Company on
28 January 2015 and has experience in investment
banking and management. From 2008 to 2010, Mr.
Huang worked in the investment bank division of Nomura
International (Hong Kong) Limited and his last position
was an associate. From 2010 to 2012, Mr. Huang worked
in Morgan Stanley Asia Limited in Hong Kong and his last
position was a vice president in the investment banking
division, and, from 2012 to 2014, Mr. Huang was an
executive director in Morgan Stanley Huaxin Securities
Company Limited. Mr. Huang graduated from & B X
& (Fudan University*) in 2003 with a bachelor degree
in finance, and obtained a master degree of science in
computational finance from Carnegie Mellon University in
2004.

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Tong Jingguo (“Mr. Tong"), aged 44, is an
independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the
audit committee and the remuneration committee of the
Company and a member of the nomination committee of
the Company. Mr. Tong joined the Company on 18 June
2010. He holds a bachelor degree in engineering from
ALZRZEAE (Xi'an Jiaotong University*) and a master
degree in business administration from £ H X2 (Fudan
University*). During the period from October 2002 to
March 2004, he was the president of %8 5% (5 B RHE A%
B ABMRAF (Zhuhai Gaoling Information Technology Co.,
Ltd*). In 2004, Mr. Tong also founded FYIHESEFIER
AR A A (Shenzhen Huo King Management Consulting
Co., Ltd*).

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED

EERSHREEE#®)
EEREREEBIEENE(2)

HITEFE(E)

ERFERE(ERE]) BE=1+HE" 5B
WITEE - BAER-_ZT—AHAF—A=1+N
HMARRE  WHERERITEBRER
KH A_TT)\FRE-_T—TF FE
EERBRENBR(EE)ERARKRER
18 ERRBURRIKE - B2 —TF
BEZT—ZF BEAHEEFAERTH
MEMNERAR - EREBAAETRER
TEERE  MA T ——F#fE_ZT—N
Fr2AEETERTAFNESESBERE
FRAMITES - EEE_TT=FFRER
BEXRE HISERMBELTEM WE-Z
TNFRFRRAEBEASBEXNEEK SR
BEE T8 -

BUFHITEE

REEEAE(REE]D  BRFE+TTEE B
ARRBIFFNTES  BRERESRFM
ZEGTIF UNRERERZEGKE - REE
R-B—ZFFXATNBMAEXRTA - ®&FF
BRAZRXBARBTIEET BN REBRET
BERELIEM R-_FE_FT+AE_ZF
TME=Z AR BRRAKESEEEMER
MAERDBEE - RELTR _TZTHFAI
RN ERERERNERAR -

L EREERA R



DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Biographical details of Directors and senior
management (Continued)

Independent non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Yang Rusheng (“Mr. aged 48, is an

independent non-executive Director and a member of the

Yang”),

audit committee, the remuneration committee and the
nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Yang joined
the Company on 20 October 2010. He has experience in
finance, audit and tax. He was a partner of ®YIEF &z
Bl 75T (Shenzhen Guangsheng CPA firm*) from 2001
to 2004. Since October 2013, he has been a partner of I
ESAIEMAT (Rui Hua Certified Public Accountants*).
He was a ®#IE £ (executive director*) of FIYI st
MHEMiHpeE —EIEEE (the second committee of
Shenzhen Certified Tax Agents Association*) and a 2%
of MEIFMRBMIBEEMEARE (the fourth
meeting of The China Certified Tax Agents Association*).
BRI K& (Jinan University*)
in 1993 with a master degree in economics. He is a
Certified Public Accountant and Certified Tax Agent in the
PRC. Mr. Yang was an independent director of certain

(director*)

Mr. Yang graduated from

public listed companies in the PRC, namely Shenzhen
Coship Electronics Co., Ltd., Shenzhen SEG Co., Ltd. and
Shenzhen Tonge Group Co., Ltd..

Mr. So Tat Keung ("Mr. So"), aged 60, is an independent
non-executive Director and a member of the audit
committee and the remuneration committee of the
Company. He joined the Company on 28 October 2010.
He is a solicitor practicing in Hong Kong and a notary
public in Hong Kong. Mr. So was admitted as a solicitor
in Hong Kong in 1988. Currently he is a consultant in
Paul C. W. Tse & Co..
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Biographical details of Directors and senior
management (Continued)

Senior management

Mr. Kan Yisong (“Mr. Kan"), aged 43, is a vice president
of the Company responsible for the advertising and
exhibition business of the Group. Mr. Kan was also
an executive director of Lajin Entertainment Network
Group Limited (formerly known as China Media and
Films Holdings Limited), the issued shares of which are
listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock
Exchange, from 5 March 2012 to 25 May 2012. He
joined the Company in May 2011 and has experience in
exhibition and advertising business. Mr. Kan obtained
a bachelor degree in engineering from 7§ % A% i A £
(Xi'an Jiaotong University*) and a master degree in
business administration from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University.

Mr. Chan Wai (“Mr. Chan"), aged 47, is the chief
financial officer, company secretary and an authorised
representative of the Company. Mr. Chan holds a master
degree in Professional Accounting awarded by The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University. He is a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
an associate of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales. Mr. Chan has experience in
accounting and financial management. Mr. Chan joined
the Company in August 2012.

Save as otherwise disclosed, there is no relationship
(including financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationship) between any members of the Board
or the senior management, and no information relating to
the Directors which is required to be disclosed pursuant
to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

Directors’ service contracts

None of the Directors has service contract with the
Company which is not determinable within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Directors’ interests in transactions, arrangements and
contracts

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected
Transactions” below, no transactions, arrangements
and contracts of significance in relation to the Group's
business to which the Company, its subsidiaries, holding
company and any of their subsidiaries was a party and
in which a Director or his/her connected entity had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted
at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

Directors’ right to acquire shares or debentures

Save as the share option scheme as disclosed in this
report, at no time during the year ended 31 March 2016
was the Company, its subsidiaries, holding companies or
fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.

Directors’ interests in equity or debt securities

As at 31 March 2016, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the
shares, underlying share and debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFO")) as recorded in the register required to be kept
under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set forth under
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules were as follows:
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Directors’ interests in equity or debt securities
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Long position in the shares

Name of Director

EEHA REEME

Nature of interest

EERENEERE#)

ESRRASEBRS 2 BE(E)

(a)

KRG ZHFE

Number of Approximate
shares held percentage of

Mr. Cheng Yang (Note 1)

Beneficial owner

Interest of the spouse

B (faT) EnlAA
Ao B
Mr. Tsoi Tung (Note 2) Interest of the spouse
BB E2) Ao B s
Notes:

1. Mr. Cheng Yang personally owned 89,300,000
shares of the Company and his wife, Ms. Bai Xue,
owned 49,000 shares of the Company.

2. Mr. Tsoi Tung's wife, Ms. Wang Ming
("Ms. Wang”), owned 88,000,000 shares of the
Company through Idea Elite Investments Limited, a
company wholly-owned by Ms. Wang.

Share options of the Company

Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme, certain
directors were granted share options to subscribe
for the shares and details of the Directors’ interests
in share options are disclosed in note 34 to the
financial statements.

Save as disclosed herein, as at 31 March 2016,
none of the Directors or chief executive of the
Company had any interest or short position in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept under
section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code.

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED

(b)

as at shareholding
31 March in the
2016 Company
i
ZE-XRF
=A=+—H LSRN
Z iR 5 BREZ
L g BHABED
89,300,000 12.43%
49,000 0.01%
88,000,000 12.25%

Mat -

1. 55k £ E A % F89,300,000 % A
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49,000 AR FIRED ©

2. BREZEFIEELZET(ELL))
ERTZLTE2EW B 2/AF)Idea Elite
Investments Limited # 7 88,000,000
REAR D RIREAD ©

AR AFRE

RIZVBEE ETEFCDERTR
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS FERR

As at 31 March 2016, other than the interests of the RZZE—REZA=+—H BLEXEFH
Directors and chief executive of the Company disclosed EARREEES 2w | —BRABEEZARF
in the paragraph headed “Directors’ interests in equity EERTETBABZEREIN  BHBARAQF
or debt securities” above, according to the register of EREEERHERIE I EFEE I RS
interests required to be kept by the Company under ot - M ALTRARR 2D s BB %D
section 336 of the SFO, the following persons had FHAERIUAR ¢

interests or short positions in the shares or underlying

shares of the Company:

Approximate
Number of percentage of
shares held shareholding

as at in the
Name of shareholder Nature of interest 31 March 2016 Company
R=Z—XxE
=A=+-H RN
ZFER®% ERE
RREHE ERtE #E ZBRNBEDL
Idea Elite Investments Limited Beneficial owner 88,000,000 12.25%
(“Idea Elite”)(Note 1) (Hfs 1) EREAA
Ms. Wang Ming (“Ms. Wang") Interest of controlled corporation 88,000,000 12.25%
(Note 1)
TERLE(TEZE D) EEREE R
Commotra Company Limited Beneficial owner 66,666,666 9.28%
(“Commotra”) (Note 2)
SBERARAIEED(HE2) EnEAA
China Resources (Holdings) Company  Interest of controlled corporation 66,666,666 9.28%
Limited (“China Resources”)(Note 2)
EE(ER)ERAR(IER](M22) XEHzE#R
CRC Bluesky Limited (“CRCB")(Note 2) Interest of controlled corporation 66,666,666 9.28%
(HisE2) REthEEER
China Resources Co., Limited Interest of controlled corporation 66,666,666 9.28%
("CRL") (Note 2)
ERRMHARAR([EBRRD]) TG EEEE
(Hzt2)
China Resources National Interest of controlled corporation 66,666,666 9.28%

Corporation (“CRNC") (Note 2)
HEEREAR(HREZERD(WiE2) XESEERER
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (Continued)

1. Idea Elite is wholly and beneficially owned by Ms. Wang,
the spouse of Mr. Tsoi Tung who is an executive Director
and the chief executive officer of the Company.

2. To the best knowledge of the Directors, Commotra is a
wholly-owned subsidiary of China Resources, which is a
wholly-owned subsidiary of CRCB, which is in turn wholly-
owned by CRL, which is in turn wholly-owned by CRNC.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2016, according
to the register of interests required to be kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO, there was no
person who had any interest or short position in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company which would
fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Share Option Scheme as disclosed in
this report, no equity-linked agreements that will or may
result in the Company issuing Shares, or that require the
Company to enter into any agreements that will or may
result in the Company issuing Shares, were entered into
by the Company during the year or subsisted at the end
of the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Under the Bye-laws, every Director or other officers of
the Company acting in relation to any of the affairs of
the Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets and profits of the Company from and
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which they or any of them, their or any of their
heirs, executors or administrators, shall or may incur
or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred
in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty, or
supposed duty, in their respective offices, or trusts. The
Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in
respect of legal action against its Directors and officers.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the year.

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group puts great emphasis in environmental
protection and energy conservation to enhance the
capacity of sustainable development and undertake
relative social responsibility. Through the establishment
of an ever-improving management system, energy
conservation and environment protection were strongly
promoted, leading to the remarkable achievement of
environmental management.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELATED LAWS AND
REGULATIONS AND ADVANCE TO AN
ENTITY

Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence
to applicable laws, rules and regulations, in particular,
those have a significant impact on the Group. Save
as otherwise disclosed and as far as the Board and
management are aware, the Group has complied with
all related laws and regulations in all material aspects
which may have significant impact on the business and
operation of the Group during the year under review.

On 25 November 2015, B R R HELEE X B R A
a] (Nanjing Yinkun Investment Corporation*) (the
“Guarantor”), an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company as the guarantor, entered into a
guarantee agreement (the “Guarantee Agreement”),
pursuant to which the Guarantor agreed to guarantee the
repayment obligations of MRIrmBEEHEERBR AT
(Nanjing Ruiyi Heng Tong Technology Development Co.,
Ltd.*), a company established in the PRC and a potential
business partner of the Guarantor, as the borrower
under the loan agreement in respect of the loan facility
for the principal amount of up to RMB35,000,000 at a
floating rate in accordance with the benchmark lending
rate of one-to-five year term loan as accounted by the
People’'s Bank of China, subject to adjustments, which
was secured by certain properties in the PRC and was
provided by a financial institution in the PRC in October
2015. Such facility shall be repaid by six (6) semi-annual
installments and its outstanding balance as at 31 March
2016 was RMB35,000,000.

ANNUAL REPORT 2016

EETEHES
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

REBRERRE

AEESEERRRIELE AR AHE
BERZEIPAERBHEET - BERY
THEEZEEBE KN HEEMERR
MR BRERBSBENATL

BFHEERRERUARO—BE
BB

REGHREFUERETERER KRR
ER LERUAEBEAEEATEE - KR
THRBEENEREEREREMRA  ~N&E
EREEFEARAAEEART HET AR
EXEAKEERGREECMARBEIRE
Mo

NR-ZZE—RE+—A=-+EHB  ARRIREE
F2EMBRARE AR ETEEGRAA
ERBERATERADT I ERZ(TER
WED B ERAREERERBRE
TEAHEERNREEEAR AR FEH
MY 2 RRIRERAZEEEBENH)ESR
BERAZERET NEEBASERZA
AR #35,000,000t 2 EFX R E - R IE B
PERARBITEGRZ ERAFEFTHERZE
EEFMNEZZHFETS - A{ELFAE -
ZEBERHPRAZETYERBTHAFE—
HemEBER_Z—AF+ARE - AR
BENNE BHALFNREE m_F
—RNEZAZ+—BZAEEEHABARE
35,000,000 7T °

:
1

31



32

EEEHESE
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

COMPLIANCE WITH RELATED LAW AND
REGULATIONS AND ADVANCE TO AN
ENTITY (Continued)

At the material time, the provision of guarantee (the
“Guarantee”) under the Guarantee Agreement by the
Guarantor constituted a discloseable transaction for
the Company under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules.
Further, as the amount of the Guarantee exceeds 8% of
the assets ratio under Rule 13.13 of the Listing Rules,
the provision of the Guarantee is also subject to the
disclosure requirements under Rule 13.15 of the Listing
Rules.

The Guarantee was made by the management of the
Guarantor without notice to the Board at the material
time, as a result of which the Company failed to timely
comply with the above requirements which constituted
a breach of Rules 13.13, 13.15 and Chapter 14 of the
Listing Rules. Immediately upon the Company became
aware that of the provision of Guarantee, the Company
had as soon as practicable made an announcement
pursuant to the requirements under Rules 13.13, 13.15
and Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules on 14 June 2016.
For further details, please refer to the announcement of
the Company dated 14 June 2016.

RELATIONSHIP OF STAKEHOLDERS

The Company believes that employees, customers
and business partners are the key to have continuous
sustainable development. The Company is committed to
be people-oriented and build up good relationship with its
employees. The Group provides on-the-job training and
development opportunities to enhance its employees’
career progression. Through different trainings, staff's
professional knowledge in corporate operations,
occupational and management skills are enhanced. The
Group also values the health and well-being of its staff.
In order to provide employees with health coverage, its
employees are entitled to medical insurance benefits.
The Group also works together with its business partners
to provide high quality products and services to achieve
the goal of sustainable development and contribution to
the society. Two subsidiaries of the Company initiated
the Litigation against MVCM Association, the Group's
business partner. The Litigation may affect the Group's
relationship with such business partner.

Save as otherwise disclosed, there was no material and

significant dispute between the Group and its distributors
and/or customers during the year under review.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year under review, the aggregated sales
attributable to the Group's five largest customers
accounted for approximately 23% while the largest
customer accounted for approximately 8% of its total
revenue.

During the year under review, the aggregate purchases
attributable to the Group’'s five largest suppliers
accounted for approximately 87% while the largest
supplier accounted for approximately 59% of its total
purchases.

None of the Directors, their close associates, or any
shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors
owned more than 5% of the Company’s issued shares)
had an interest in the five largest suppliers or customers
noted above.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group entered into the following
non-exempted connected transactions under Chapter 14
of the Listing Rules:

On 8 June 2015, Shenzhen Wendi Multimedia
Technology Company Limited* (% 3Il T X i % 5 82 £
ffr BB 2 7 )("Shenzhen Wendi"),
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a sale

an indirect wholly-

and purchase agreement with Guangwei Technology
Group Limited* (BB EEER A F]) ("Guangwei”),
pursuant to which Shenzhen Wendi conditionally agreed
to purchase and Guangwei conditionally agreed to
sell the 9.5% of the subscribed capital contribution of
Lianshun at a consideration equivalent to HK$32,000,000
in RMB. Guangwei is an associate of Ms. Wang Ming,
a substantial shareholder of the Company, holding
approximately 12.25% of the issued shares of the
Company and the spouse of Mr. Tsoi Tung who is an
executive Director and the chief executive officer of the
Company. The acquisition of Lianshun was completed in
August 2015.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

The Company confirms that it has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, during the year under review
the Group did not conduct any non-exempt connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

As at 31 March 2016, the Group employed a total
number of 131 employees (31 March 2015: 142). The
remuneration of the employees of the Group amounted
to approximately HK$47.1 million for the year ended 31
March 2016 (31 March 2015: HK$52.7 million). The Group
remunerates its employees based on their performance,
experience and prevailing industry practices. The
emoluments of the Directors and senior management
of the Company are decided by the remuneration
committee of the Company, having regard to the
Company’s operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics.

The Group periodically reviews its remuneration package
in order to attract, motivate and retain its employees.
Discretionary bonuses are rewarded to Directors and
employees based on the Group’s operating results and
their performance.

Further, the Company has also adopted a share option
scheme for the primary purpose of providing incentives
or rewards to any Director, employee and other eligible
participant who made significant contribution to the
Group. The Group also provides external training courses
to its staff to improve their skills and services on an
ongoing basis.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Liquidity and financial resources

As at 31 March 2016, the Group had bank borrowings of
approximately HK$68.7 million (2015: HK$60.3 million).
The gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 March 2016
was 58.0% compared with 23.4% as at 31 March 2015.
Such ratio was calculated with reference to the bank
borrowings over the Company’'s equity attributable to
owners of the Company. As at 31 March 2016, the Group
had net current liabilities of approximately HK$45.3
million (2015: net current assets of approximately
HK$112.3 million). The current ratio of the Group as at 31
March 2016 was 0.8 compared with 1.5 as at 31 March
2015.

The maturity profile of the Group’'s bank borrowings is
set out as follows:
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HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEETT 2T

Repayable: ARNATREEE
Within one year —FR 50.7 33.9
After one year but within two years  —%F1#%  BERRER 18.0 6.3
After two years but within five years 1% - BEREFER - 20.1
68.7 60.3

The carrying amounts of all the Group’'s bank loans
were denominated in RMB except for certain loan
balances with an aggregate amount of HK$30.0 million
as at 31 March 2016 which were denominated in
Hong Kong dollar. All of the Group's bank loans were
charged at fixed interest rates except for loan balance
of approximately RMB18.0 million as at 31 March 2016
which was charged at floating interest rate. The bank
loans carry interest rates at 2.81% to 7% per annum.

The revenue of the Group, being mostly denominated
in RMB and Hong Kong dollar, matches the currency
requirement of the Group’s expenses while other foreign
currencies were immaterial. During the year ended 31
March 2016, no financial instrument was entered into by
the Group used for hedging purpose. The Group was not
exposed to any exchange rate risk or any related hedges.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Liquidity and financial resources (Continued)

On 16 May 2016, the Company announced its proposal
to raise not less than approximately HK$107.8 million and
not more than approximately HK$111.6 million before
expenses by issuing not less than 359,259,523 offer
shares and not more than 371,833,632 offer shares at
the subscription price of HK$0.30 per offer share on the
basis of one offer share for every two existing shares.
The open offer will allow the Group to facilitate business
expansion and enhance its general working capital.

Treasury policies

The Group adopts conservative treasury policies in
cash and financial management. The Group’s treasury
activities are centralised in order to achieve better risk
control and minimise cost of funds. Cash is generally
placed in short-term deposits with majority denominated
in Hong Kong dollar, Renminbi or US dollar. The Group's
liquidity and financing requirements are frequently
reviewed. In anticipating new investments or maturity of
bank borrowings, the Group will consider new financing
while maintaining an appropriate level of gearing.

Charges

As at 31 March 2016, certain bank deposits of the Group
in the aggregate amount of RMB30.0 million and HK$2.3
million were pledged to secure the banking and credit
facilities of the Group respectively. Also, Nanjing Creative
Eastern 8 Zone Technology Co. Ltd* (F m &l & ® N\ & RH%
AREMTAT), an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company has pledged deposits of RMB6.4 million
to a bank as security for bills payables of RMB6.4 million.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Charges (Continued)

As at 31 March 2016, certain bank loans of the Group in
the total amount of RMB32.3 million were secured by
personal and corporate guarantees provided by Mr. Yang
Lei (a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company), his
spouse and a company beneficially owned by Mr. Yang
Lei and his spouse (the “Related Company”) and certain
assets of Mr. Yang Lei, his spouse, a related party and
the Related Company. At 31 March 2016, Nanjing Yinkun
Investment Corporation* (B RIBHLEEEAFRAA), an
indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
provided the guarantee in respect of a loan facility for the
principal amount of up to RMB35.0 million provided to an
independent third party from a financial institution in the
PRC. The estimated fair value of the financial guarantee is
HK$0 which was arrived on the basis of valuation carried
out by APAC Asset Valuation and Consulting Limited for
the year ended 31 March 2016. For further details, please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 14 June
2016.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any
charges on assets as at 31 March 2016.

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 March 2016, the Group had no material
contingent liabilities.

Significant investments held, material acquisitions
and disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, and future plans for material investments or
capital assets

Save as the acquisition of the Great Group as disclosed
in note 36 to the financial statements of the Company,
there were no other significant investments held,
no material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures during the year ended 31
March 2016.

There was no plan authorised by the Board for other

material investments or additions of capital assets at the
date of this report.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Details of the remuneration paid by the Group to the
Directors of the Company and senior management of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2016 are set out in
notes 11 and 39(a) to the financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed the Company’s listed securities during the
year ended 31 March 2016.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of its Directors, the Company
has maintained sufficient public float in accordance with
the Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31 March
2016 and as at the date of this report.

OTHER MATTERS

Details of events after the reporting period are set out in
note 47 to the financial statements.

AUDITOR

A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company to re-appoint BDO
Limited as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Cheng Yang

Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 June 2016

*  For identification only
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

INTRODUCTION

The Board and the senior management of the Company
are committed to establishing good corporate governance
practices and procedures. The maintenance of high
standard of business ethics and corporate governance
practices has always been one of the Group's goals.
The Company believes that good corporate governance
provides a framework that is essential for effective
management, successful business growth and a healthy
corporate culture, thereby leading to the enhancement of
shareholders’ value.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The corporate governance principles of the Company
emphasize a quality Board, sound internal controls,
transparency and accountability to all shareholders. By
applying rigourous corporate governance practices, the
Group believes that its accountability and transparency
will be improved thereby instilling confidence to
shareholders and the public. The Company has been
conducting its business according to the principles of
the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code") as set
out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules during the year
ended 31 March 2016.

Throughout the financial year ended 31 March 2016,
the Group has complied with the code provisions in
the CG Code save for the deviation of code provision
A.4.1 of the CG Code, details of which will be explained
in the relevant paragraphs in this report. The Board
will review its corporate governance practice annually
and make necessary changes if necessary. Meetings
were held throughout the year under review and where
appropriate, circulars and other guidance notes were
issued to Directors and senior management of the Group
to ensure they were aware of issues regarding corporate
governance practices.
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THE BOARD
Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control
of the Company and oversees the Group's business,
strategic decisions and performances and is collectively
responsible for promoting the success of the Company
by directing and supervising its affairs. In practice, the
Board takes responsibility for decision making in all
major matters of the Company including the approval and
monitoring of all policy matters, the setting of objectives,
annual budgets and overall strategies, the entering into
material transactions, appointment of Directors and
other significant financial and operational matters. The
day-to-day management, administration and operation
of the Company are delegated to the senior executives
and the management. Their responsibilities include the
implementation of decisions made by the Board, the
co-ordination and direction of day-to-day operation and
management of the Company in accordance with the
management strategies and plans approved by the Board.
The Board receives full support from senior executives
to discharge its responsibility. Prior approval has to
be obtained from the Board before entering into any
significant transactions. The statement of the auditors of
the Company in relation to their reporting responsibilities
for the consolidated financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor's Report on pages 59 to 61 of this
report.

Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises seven
Directors, including four executive Directors, namely, Mr.
Cheng Yang (chairman), Mr. Tsoi Tung (chief executive
officer), Ms. Lei Lei and Mr. Huang Ranfei and three
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Tong
Jingguo, Mr. Yang Rusheng and Mr. So Tat Keung.
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THE BOARD (Continued)
Composition (Continued)

One of the independent non-executive Directors has
appropriate accounting and financial management
expertise. The number of independent non-executive
Directors is more than one-third of the Board.
Biographical details of the Chairman and other Directors
are set out in the paragraph headed “Biographical details
of Directors and senior management” on pages 22 to 26
of this report.

The presence of three independent non-executive
Directors is considered by the Board to be a reasonable
balance between executive and non-executive Directors.
The Board is of the opinion that such balance can provide
adequate checks and balances to safeguard the interests
of shareholders and of the Group. The independent non-
executive Directors provide to the Group with a wide
range of expertise and experience so that independent
judgement can be exercised effectively. They have also
participated in Board meetings and general meetings,
dealt with potential conflicts of interest, served on audit
committee, remuneration committee and nomination
committee of the Company and scrutinized the Group's
performance and reporting. Through their active
participation, the management process of the Company
can be critically reviewed and controlled.

The Directors have distinguished themselves in their
field of expertise, and have exhibited high standards
of personal and professional ethics and integrity. All
Directors have given sufficient time and attention to
the Company's affairs. The Board believes that the
ratio between executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors is reasonable and adequate to
perform check and balance function over the Board in
the decision making process.
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THE BOARD (Continued)
Composition (Continued)

The Board is responsible for the appointment of new
Director and nomination for re-election by shareholders
at the annual general meeting of the Company. Under
the Bye-laws, the Board may from time to time appoint
a Director either to fill a vacancy or as an addition to
the Board. Any new Director appointed to fill a casual
vacancy or as an addition to the existing Board shall hold
office until the next following annual general meeting
after his/her appointment and shall then be eligible for
re-election at such meeting.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the
roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate
and should not be performed by the same individual. The
division of responsibilities between the chairman and the
chief executive should be clearly established and set out
in writing.

The position of chairman is held by Mr. Cheng Yang and
he provides leadership and is responsible for the overall
strategic planning and development of the Group and the
effective functioning and leadership of the Board. The
position of chief executive officer is held by Mr. Tsoi
Tung and he is responsible for overall management of
the Group's day-to-day operations.

INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received an annual confirmation
of independence from each of the independent non-
executive Director in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and each of them has declared fulfilment
of all the guidelines for assessing independence
in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
Accordingly, the Company considers that all the
independent non-executive Directors are independent.

All independent non-executive Directors are identified
as such in all corporate communications containing the
names of the Directors. In addition, there is no material
relationship between Board members.
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DEVIATION FROM THE CG CODE

Throughout the year ended 31 March 2016, the Company
has complied with the CG Code as set out in Appendix
14 to the Listing Rules, save and except the following
deviation:

Term of appointment of non-executive Directors

Under the code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code, all non-
executive Directors should be appointed for a specific
term, subject to re-election. Whilst the non-executive
Directors are not appointed for a specific term, the
term of office for non-executive Directors is subject to
retirement from office by rotation and is eligible for re-
election in accordance with the provisions of the Bye-
laws. At each annual general meeting of the Company,
one-third of the Directors for the time being, (or if their
number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest
to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office
by rotation so that each Director shall be subject to
retirement at least once every three years. As such, the
Company considers that such provision is sufficient to
meet the underlying objectives of CG Code.

BOARD MEETINGS AND SHAREHOLDERS’
MEETINGS

The Board regularly meets in person or through other
electronic means of communication at least four times
every year to determine the overall strategic direction,
objectives and to approve interim results, annual results
or other significant matters. Draft notice and agenda
for regular meetings are provided to all Directors for
comments and inclusion of any matters for deliberation
at the meetings. Apart from holding regular meetings,
senior management from time to time provides to the
Directors information on activities and development
of the business of the Group. The company secretary
assists the chairman in preparing agenda for the
meetings and ensures that all applicable rules and
regulations in connection with the meetings are observed
and complied with. The agenda and Board papers are
then sent to all Directors at least 3 days prior to the
meeting. The company secretary also takes detailed
minutes, keeps records of matters discussed and
decision resolved at the meetings.
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BOARD MEETINGS AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EEgeERRREAE#)

MEETINGS (continued)

Directors’ attendances in the general meetings and the REERN BRRARgkEFE BRZEE

committee and nomination committee held during the EREFH W :
year are set out below:

meetings of the Board, audit committee, remuneration T FTHNEESRRREECERZESTH

Audit Remuneration Nomination Annual Special
Board Committee = Committee = Committee General General
Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
attended/ attended/ attended/ attended/ attended/ attended/
Eligible Eligible Eligible Eligible Eligible Eligible
Name of Directors attended attended attended attended attended attended
) ) g/ ) ) )
RERLEE REKHERE SERHE SERLERE BE® BER
Exe BRZEEE FHMEEET REZE8 HERR HERR
Y 83 83 =f = BERE BERE
Executive Director
HITES
Mr. Cheng Yang 7112 — — 11 171 Al
Bi5EE
Mr. Tsoi Tung 12/12 — — — 11 171
Bkt
Ms. Lei Lei 12/12 — — — 0 m
FEXL
Mr. Huang Ranfei 10/12 — — — m m
BRELE
Mr. Li Weipeng (resigned 12/12 — — — 01 Al
on 8 April 2016)
THESRE(RZE—RF
MANBEHE)
Independent Non-
Executive Director
BYFHTES
Mr. So Tat Keung 12/12 4/4 11 — 11 01
ERERLE
Mr. Yang Rusheng 8/12 3/4 17 1M 0/1 0/1
AR
Mr. Tong Jingguo 12/12 4/4 mhn mn 0/ 0/
REB%E
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BOARD MEETINGS AND SHAREHOLDERS’
MEETINGS (continued)

During regular meetings of the Board, the Directors
discuss and formulate the overall strategies of the Group,
monitor financial performances, review the annual and
interim results, and make decisions on other significant
matters. The execution of daily operational matters is
delegated to the senior executives of the Group.

The company secretary records the proceedings of each
Board meeting in detail by keeping minutes, including the
record of all decisions resolved by the Board together
with concerns raised and dissenting views expressed (if
any). Draft Board minutes are circulated to all Directors
for comment and approval as soon as practicable after
the meeting. All minutes are open for inspection at any
reasonable time upon request by any Director.

All Directors have access to relevant and timely
information at all times and they may make further
enquiries if it is necessary to do so.

They also have unrestricted access to the advice
and services of the company secretary, who is held
responsible for providing Directors with Board papers
and other related materials. The company secretary also
ensures that proper Board procedures are followed and
that all applicable laws and regulations are complied
with. If the Directors consider necessary and appropriate,
they may retain the service of independent professional
advisers at the Group's expense.

In case where a conflict of interest arises involving a
substantial shareholder or a Director, such matter will be
resolved in a physical meeting instead of passing written
resolutions. Independent non-executive Directors with
no conflict of interest will be present at meetings to deal
with such conflict issues.
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BOARD MEETINGS AND SHAREHOLDERS’
MEETINGS (continued)

The Board committees, including the audit committee,
the remuneration committee and the nomination
committee, have all adopted the applicable practices and
procedures used in Board meetings.

The annual general meeting and other special
general meetings of the Company are the primary
forum for communication with its shareholders and
for shareholders’ participation. All shareholders are
encouraged to attend the general meetings or to appoint
proxies to attend and vote at meetings on their behalves
if they are unable to attend.

During the year ended 31 March 2016, the Company
held its annual general meeting on 25 September 2015
and its special general meeting on 20 April 2015. Details
of major items discussed in those general meeting are
set out in the circulars of the Company dated 21 August
2015 and 30 March 2015, respectively.

TRAINING AND SUPPORT FOR
DIRECTORS

All Directors, including independent non-executive
Directors, must keep abreast of their collective
responsibilities as Directors and of the business of the
Group. As such, the Group provides a comprehensive
and formal induction to each newly appointed Director
upon his/her appointment. Briefings and orientations are
provided so as to ensure that new Directors are familiar
with the role of the Board, their legal and other duties
as a Director as well as the business and governance
practices of the Group. Such programmes are tailor made
for each Director taking into account their background
and expertise.

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED
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TRAINING AND SUPPORT FOR
DIRECTORS (Continued)

All Directors participated in a briefing session jointly
organized by the Group and qualified professionals
engaged by the Group with the purpose to develop and
refresh Directors’ knowledge and skills on 17 March
2016.

During the year ended 31 March 2016, the Directors
participated in the following training:

BEEZBIR<E

%ﬁ‘g%%E = /\$ ﬂ+’tE|//\EE

%Z%M%'%M%F&Em%%Zﬂ%&
FRRE o
REBEE-_Z—XF=A=+—HBHItFER "

EEZ2HETHE

Type of training

Name of Director EEHE 2B B
Executive Directors HTES

Mr. Cheng Yang BHrE A B
Mr. Tsoi Tung Bt A B
Ms. Lei Lei BERT A B
Mr. Huang Ranfei EIRIERE A B
Mr. Li Weipeng (resigned on 8 April 2016)  FEELE(R_Z—"FMNAN\BEHT) A, B
Independent Non-Executive Directors BYUFHITES

Mr. So Tat Keung BROER A A,
Mr. Yang Rusheng %ﬁﬂif'ﬁi A, B
Mr. Tong Jingguo K=EEE A, B
A: attending seminars, briefing sessions, conferences A HEWSE #gNe sk 9HmE

and/or forums
B: reading newspapers, journals and updates relating
to the economy and/or general business etc.
Each Director will, upon his/her first appointment and
thereafter on a yearly basis, disclose to the Group the
number and nature of offices held by such Director in
public companies and organizations and other significant

commitments.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee was established with
specific written terms of reference which was revised
and adopted on 6 March 2015. As at 31 March 2016, the
remuneration committee consists of three independent
non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Tong Jingguo
(chairman), Mr. Yang Rusheng and Mr. So Tat Keung.

The remuneration committee is responsible for, among
other things, making recommendations to the Board
regarding the overall remuneration policy, remuneration
of Directors and senior management of the Group,
share option scheme, bonus structure, provident fund
and other compensation-related issues. This committee
consults with the chairman and/or chief executive officer
on its proposals and recommendations and has access
to professional advice, if necessary. The remuneration
committee is provided with sufficient resources to
discharge and perform its duties.

The specific terms of reference of the remuneration
committee is posted on the Company’'s website. The
remuneration committee meets at least once a year.

During the year under review, the remuneration
committee held one meeting to review and make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of all Directors and senior management.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee was established with specific
written terms of reference which was revised and
adopted on 30 August 2013. As at 31 March 2016, the
nomination committee consists of one executive Director
and two independent non-executive Directors, namely,
Mr. Cheng Yang (chairman), Mr. Tong Jingguo and Mr.

Yang Rusheng.

The main duties of the nomination committee include
reviewing the structure, size and composition of the
Board annually, making recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the
Company’'s corporate strategy, identifying individuals
suitably qualified to become members of the Board,
selecting individuals nominated for directorships,
assessing the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors and making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors
and succession planning for Directors, in particular the
chairman and the chief executive officer. The nomination
committee is provided with sufficient resources to

discharge and perform its duties.

The specific terms of reference of the nomination
committee is posted on the Company’'s website. The
nomination committee meets at least once a year.

During the year under review, the nomination committee

held one meeting to assess the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee with
specific written terms of reference which was revised
and adopted on 17 December 2015. The main duties of
the audit committee include, among other things, the
following:

(@) to review the financial statements and reports and
consider any significant or unusual items raised by
the Company’s staff responsible for the accounting
and financial reporting function or external auditor
before submission to the Board.

(b) to review the relationship with the external auditor
by reference to the work performed by the auditor,
their fees and terms of engagement, and make
recommendation to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of external auditor.

(c) to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Company's financial reporting system, internal
control system and risk management system and
associated procedures.

The audit committee is provided with sufficient resources
to discharge and perform its duties.

Other duties of the audit committee are set out in its
specific terms of reference which is posted on the
Company’s website. The audit committee shall meet at
least twice a year.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (Continued)

As at 31 March 2016,
of three independent non-executive Directors, namely

the audit committee consists
Mr. Tong Jingguo (chairman), Mr. Yang Rusheng and
Mr. So Tat Keung. No member of the audit committee
is a former partner of the existing auditing firm of the
Company within one year on the date of his ceasing to
be a partner or had any financial interest in the auditing
firm. The audit committee has reviewed the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group and
discussed internal controls and financial reporting matters
with the management team of the Company.

During the year under reivew, the audit committee
held four meetings to review, among other things, the
Company’'s interim report for the six months ended
30 September 2015, annual report for the year ended
31 March 2015 and amendments to the terms of
reference of the audit committee in accordance with the
amendments to the Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules
with effect from 1 January 2016. The audit committee
has also reviewed the financial reporting and compliance
procedures, report on the Company’'s internal control
and risk management review and processes as well as
the re-appointment of the external auditor. There is no
material uncertainty relating to events and conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern. There is no disagreement
between the Board and the audit committee regarding
the selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of
external auditor.

The accounts for the year were audited by BDO Limited,
whose term of office will expire upon the forthcoming
annual general meeting. The audit committee has
recommended to the Board that BDO Limited be
nominated for appointment as the auditor of the
Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (Continued)

The company secretary keeps full minutes of all audit
committee meetings. In line with practices consistent
with Board meetings and other committee meetings,
draft and final version of audit committee meeting
minutes are circulated to all members of the audit
committee for comments, approval and record as soon
as practicable after each meeting.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy setting
out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. The
Company considered diversity of board members can be
achieved through consideration of a number of aspects,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills
and knowledge. All Board appointments will be based on
meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of
diversified perspectives, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length
of service. The ultimate decision will be made upon the
merits of the selected candidates and their contribution
to the Board. The Board considered the measurable
objectives, including but not limited to skills, knowledge,
professional experience and cultural and educational
background, and agreed that these measurable objectives
were achieved for the diversity of the Board which
contributed to the corporate strategy and the business
development of the Company.

AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2016, the remuneration
in respect of audit services provided by the auditors,
BDO Limited, amounted to HK$1,788,000 (2015:
HK$2,090,000). For non-audit services in respect of the
review of the interim results of the Group for the six
months ended 30 September 2015, the fees amounted
to HK$320,000 (2015: HK$358,000).
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COMPLIANCE WITH MODEL CODE

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of the Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code"”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules as its own code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transactions. Specific enquiries have been
made with all Directors, who have confirmed that,
during the year ended 31 March 2016, each of them has
complied with the required standards as set out in the
Model Code.

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF
DIRECTORS AND AUDITOR

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of
financial statements, which give a true and fair view
of the financial position of the Group. The auditor is
responsible to form an independent opinion on the
audited financial statements and report the same to the
shareholders of the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

No corporate governance committee has been
established and the Board is responsible for performing
the corporate governance functions including but not
limited to developing and reviewing the Company’'s
policies and practices on corporate governance,
reviewing and monitoring training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board and the audit committee are responsible for
maintaining sound and effective internal control systems
to safeguard the assets of the Company, shareholders’
interests, as well as for reviewing the effectiveness of
such systems from time to time. The Board has reviewed
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control system,
covering financial, operational and compliance controls
and risk management functions during the year under

review.
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INTERNAL CONTROL (Continued)

In such review, the Board has considered factors
such as changes since the last review, incidence of
significant control failings and weaknesses identified
and effectiveness relating to financial reporting and
compliance with the applicable laws and regulations
including the Listing Rules.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for decisions in relation to the
overall strategic development of the Group’s business.
All Directors have formal letters of appointment setting
out key terms and conditions of their appointment. Due
to the diversity and volume of the Group’s business,
responsibility in relation to the daily operations and
execution of the strategic business plans are delegated
to management of the Group.

All committees, namely the audit committee, the
remuneration committee and the nomination committee,
have specific terms of reference setting out the
authorities and responsibilities of the respective
committee. All committees are required by their terms
of reference to report to the Board in relation to their
decisions, findings or recommendations, and in certain
specific situations, to seek the Board’s approval before
taking any actions.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board will review, on a yearly basis, all delegations
by the Board to different committees to ensure that such
delegations are appropriate and continue to be beneficial
to the Company as a whole.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITY
INSURANCE

Insurance cover has been taken out for Directors’
and Officers’ Liability to provide adequate cover, as
determined by the Board, in respect of the Board
members and senior management of the Company.
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SHAREHOLDERS RELATIONS

The Company is committed to maintaining a high level
of transparency and employs a policy of open and timely
disclosure of relevant information to its shareholders.
The commitment to fair disclosure and comprehensive
and transparent reporting of the Company’s activities can
be reflected in various aspects.

To maintain an on-going dialogue with shareholders,
the annual general meeting provides an opportunity for
shareholders to exchange views with the Board.

The chairman and the chief executive officer attended
the annual general meeting in 2015 (the “2015 Annual
General Meeting”) so as to ensure that shareholders’
views were communicated to the Board. A separate
resolution was proposed by the chairman in respect of
each separate issue at the annual general meeting.

The proceedings of the annual general meeting are
reviewed from time to time to ensure that the Company
conforms to the best corporate governance practices.
The circular in relation to the arrangement of annual
general meeting will be circulated to all shareholders at
least 20 clear business days prior to the holding of the
annual general meeting, in which it sets out the details of
each resolution proposed and other relevant information.
At the 2015 Annual General Meeting, all resolutions
were put to vote by poll. Tricor Secretaries Limited, the
Company's Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar, was
engaged as scrutineer to ensure votes were properly
counted. The rights of shareholders and the procedures
for demanding a poll on resolutions at general meeting
are contained in the Bye-laws. An explanation of the
detailed procedures for conducting a poll is provided to
the shareholders at the commencement of the meeting.
The chairman would respond to queries raised by the
shareholders regarding the voting procedures. The poll
results are published in accordance with the relevant
provisions of the Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS RELATIONS (Continued)

Pursuant to the Bye-laws, shareholder(s) holding at the
date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth
of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right
of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all
times have the right, by written requisition to the Board
or the company secretary of the Company, to require a
special general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition
and such meeting shall be held within two months after
the deposit of such requisition.

If within twenty one days of such deposit the Board fails
to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionists
themselves may do so in accordance with the relevant
provisions in the Companies Act of Bermuda.

The Company also communicates to its shareholders
through its annual and interim reports. The Directors,
company secretary or other appropriate members of
senior management also respond promptly to inquiries
from shareholders and investors.

Shareholders may at any time serve their enquiries to the
Board in writing for the attention of company secretary
at Rooms 2501-05, 25th Floor, China Resources Building,
No. 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD
PROPOSALS AT SHAREHOLDERS'
MEETINGS

Under Bermuda law, in addition to the right to requisition
a special general meeting, any number of shareholders
representing not less than one-twentieth (1/20) of
the total voting rights of all the shareholders having
at the date of the requisition a right to vote at the
general meeting; or not less than one hundred (100)
shareholders, shall (unless otherwise resolved by the
Company) at their own expense have the right by written
requisition:

(a) to require notice of any resolution which may
properly be moved and is intended to be moved
at the next annual general meeting to be given to
shareholders; and/or

(b) to request for circulation to shareholders any
statement of not more than one thousand (1000)
words with respect to the matter referred to in any
proposed resolution or the business to be dealt
with at any general meeting.

A requisition referred to above must be signed by
the requisitionists in a single document or in separate
copies prepared for the purpose. A copy of the signed
requisition, accompanied by a sum reasonably sufficient
to meet the Company’ s expenses, must be deposited at
the Company’ s registered office in Bermuda:

(@) in the case of a requisition requiring notice of a
resolution, not less than six (6) weeks before the
annual general meeting unless an annual general
meeting is called for a date six (6) weeks or less
after the copy has been deposited, in which case

the copy shall be deemed to have been properly

deposited though not deposited within the time

required; and

(b) in the case of any other requisition, not less than
one (1) week before the general meeting.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company is committed to a policy of open and
timely disclosure of corporate information to shareholders
and investors. The Company updates shareholders
on its latest business developments and financial
performance through its annual and interim reports and
notices, announcements and circulars. The Company's
website (http://www.tricor.com.hk/WebService/000674/)
provides a communication platform to the public and the
shareholders.

With a view to bringing the Bye-laws in line with certain
amendments to the Listing Rules and the Companies
Act 1981 of Bermuda between 2012 and 2015 and to
modernising and updating the Bye-laws, the amendments
to the Bye-laws were approved by the shareholders of
the Company in September 2015. Details of which are
set out in the circular of the Company dated 21 August
2015.

The Bye-law is available on both the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

CONCLUSION

The Company believes that good corporate governance
is significant in strengthening investor confidence and
attracting investment. The management will devote
considerable effort to strengthening and improving the
standards of the corporate governance of the Group. Any
views and suggestions from the shareholders to promote
and improve our transparency are also welcome.

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

|IBDO

EEE 1 +852 2218 8288
{88 : +852 2815 2239

Tel : +852 2218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

25t Floor Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central

Hong Kong
EETHEER11155
FKZ2548

www.bdo.com.hk

TO THE MEMBERS OF
CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED
(XL BRIREFRQE)

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Culture Landmark Investment Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) set out on pages 62 to 207, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 March 2016, and the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the Directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audit.
This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981
of Bermuda (as amended), and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free
from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by the Directors, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group
as at 31 March 2016 and of its financial performance
and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BDO Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Chan Wing Fai
Practising Certificate no. P05443

Hong Kong, 27 June 2016
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RETEWHER

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
HE_T—R"F=ZA=T—HILFE

For the year ended 31 March 2016

2016 2015
—E-RE —E—Ah%F
Notes HK$ HK$
it B BT
Revenue Wezs 7 111,977,069 141,378,969
Other income and gains E At A B i as 8 20,925,310 7,321,418
Costs of inventories FEMRAR (1,938,038) (9,152,937)
Depreciation on property, VI - BRE R E
plant and equipment ZITE (15,969,512) (13,298,088)
Amortisation By 9 (443,892) (23,994,665)
Impairment losses VEREN S 9 (62,576,817) (336,346,196)
Operating lease payments AL FRIA (41,615,998) (45,917,744)
Staff costs BTIA 10 (47,065,372) (52,682,825)
Other operating expenses H g Er sz (92,800,467) (135,588,290)
Share of (losses)/profits of DIREE R R (ER),/
associates gl (167,356) 616,346
Finance costs AR 12 (3,371,646) (4,313,268)
Loss before income tax BRETER (AR,
(expense)/credit HERIEE 9 (133,046,719) (471,977,280)
Income tax (expense)/credit FIER (AR e 13 (765,325) 21,417,725
Loss for the year TEEEE (133,812,044) (450,559,555)

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED b iIE R E B IR



REETEWEHER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
BE-Z—R"F=A=+—HILFE
For the year ended 31 March 2016

2016 2015
—B-RF —E—0F
Notes HK$ HK$
it B T
Other comprehensive income H 2L
Items that will not be TEEHSEZESR
reclassified to profit or loss <ZIEHE
Gain on revaluation of EXEY)E Sl
properties 16 575,037 654,096
Tax expense related to changes B ELMELE 2
on revaluation of properties HERY 31 (94,881) (107,925)
Items that may be HETRKEHFIESE
reclassified subsequently to £ ZEE
profit or loss
Exchange differences arising on #EEINERLEE 2
translating foreign operations &N, =% (5,054,461) (6,203,495)
Available-for-sale investments, A[#tHERE - AF(EE
change in fair value & 21 11,089,281 (177,984,369)
Available-for-sale investments, AIfEHERE - BiEzE
reclassify from equity to NEEER
profit or loss 21 — 147,964,021
Release of foreign exchange k=1 oy =R/NCIRE 3 A EEYN
reserve upon disposal of b (15
subsidiaries 35(a), (c) (231,378) (471,831)
Release of foreign exchange RA B ERERE
reserve upon impairment &5 15 A5 8¢ [0 N e
loss on available-for-sale B
investments - (4,775,996)
Reclassification adjustment for A H & 7] HE R &
realisation upon disposal of FIRMEL 2 E
available-for-sale investments 7 EFH% (14,266,465) 2,681,793
Other comprehensive income ZAFEEHME2HEUZE
for the year, net of tax (EHRHIE) (7,982,867) (38,243,706)
Total comprehensive income ZAFEEZHEINEALE
for the year (141,794,911) (488,803,261)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
BE-Z—R"F=R=1T—HILFE

For the year ended 31 March 2016

2016 2015
—B-RF —E—hF
Notes HK$ HK$
it B BT
Loss for the year attributable FE{SAREEEE :
to:
Owners of the Company KRBHEE A 15 (131,334,493) (445,229,478)
Non-controlling interests FEIEAR (2,477,551) (5,330,077)
(133,812,044) (450,559,555)
Total comprehensive income ERAFEEZHEGE
for the year attributable to:  #%F :
Owners of the Company RAREAA (139,472,414) (481,783,516)
Non-controlling interests AR (2,322,497) (7,019,745)
(141,794,911) (488,803,261)
Loss per share BREE 15
Basic (HK cents) EARGEA) (18.28) (70.06)
Diluted (HK cents) g OBI) (18.28) (70.06)

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED

N BEREERA A



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
RZE—ARFE=A=+—8H
As at 31 March 2016

31 March 31 March
2016 2015
—E-RE —ET—RF
=A=+-—H =A=+—H
Notes HK$ HK$
Kz BT BT
Assets EE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment 1% - BE M & & 16 100,521,045 127,346,754
Investment properties TEYHE 17 6,246,653 6,326,550
Intangible assets EREE 19 905,845 1,022,728
Interests in associates Nl o ey 20 38,754,055 —
Available-for-sale investments AHEERE 21 43,087,358 21,268,209
Deferred tax assets BELEHIREE 31 - 1,640,340
Total non-current assets  JFm#&EMEE 189,614,956 157,604,581
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 23 32,556,941 31,450,492
Trade and other receivables ﬂELlﬁzi%m&ﬁmm 24 73,317,428 197,466,828
Amounts due from non- JFE LT FE 42 PR A B R
controlling shareholders 25 14,049 4,049
Amounts due from related JE U B A 5K
parties 25 3,707,915 261,828
Amount due from an associate & UgH &N B FRIE 25 5,320,302 e
Cash and bank balances e MIRTTAS 26 103,035,471 109,558,313
Total currentassets  m@&EME 217,952,106 338,741,510
Total assets ~ #E®@E 407,467,062 496,346,091
Liabilities =R
Current liabilities REaE
Trade, bills and other payables JEft&EZ - T%F&ﬁ@m 27 128,606,060 92,253,338
Amounts due to non- JEAS FEIZE IR AR B R
controlling shareholders 25 53,594,160 53,594,160
Amounts due to related parties [E{NEIE A L 7IE 25 27,051,879 43,894,302
Bank borrowings HRITEE 28 50,702,070 33,922,913
Deferred income EFEW A 480,048 504,993
Current tax liabilities RITHIBEE 2,808,177 2,278,096
Total current liabilities mBAEEE 263,242,394 226,447,802
ANNUAL REPORT 2016 E N EE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
R-F—AF=A=+—~
As at 31 March 2016

66

31 March 31 March
2016 2015
—E—REF —E-TE
=ZA=+-—H =A=+—H
Notes HK$ HK$
Brat BT BT
Net current (liabilities)/ hE(EERE)BE
assets FE (45,290,288) 112,293,708
Total assets less current EEHAERARBERS
liabilities 144,224,668 269,898,289
Non-current liabilities FRBERE
Bank borrowings RITEE 28 18,001,800 26,385,890
Provision for long service RS EE
payments 30 42,373 42,373
Deferred income EFEWA 3,063,101 3,727,265
Deferred tax liabilities BELEHIHAR 31 6,645,278 =
Total non-current liabilities B A ERE 27,752,552 30,155,528
Total liabilities EEHE 290,994,946 256,603,330
NET ASSETS BEEFE 116,472,116 239,742,761
Capital and reserves EARBEEAEMLZ
attributable to owners of R R S
the Company
Share capital fi& A 32 35,925,952 35,925,952
Reserves e 82,505,179 221,977,593
118,431,131 257,903,545
Non-controlling interests FERER (1,959,015) (18,160,784)
TOTAL EQUITY fEREEE 116,472,116 239,742,761
On behalf of the Directors RERES
Cheng Yang Lei Lei
25 =E
Chairman Deputy Chief Executive Officer
Ex BI7TEAEE
CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED XL ERBEERA A
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

BHE-_T-—R"F=-A=1T—HILFE
For the year ended 31 March 2016

Equity
Employee Other attributable
share-based ~ properties Foreign  Investment to owners Non-
Share Share Other ~ Contributed compensation  revaluation exchange  revaluation ~Accumulated ofthe  controlling Total
capital premium Teserve surplus reserve reserve reserve Teserve losses ~ Company interests equity
R 2 Atz KLTERA
it RitEE Bk g\B% EEEMEE EftRE HERE RREMRE 2iEEE ElEs  #EREE g
note 32) note 33 note 33) {note 33) note 33) note 33) note 33) (note 33) (note 33)
W) EB) WEw) (KEw) Wiz (R WEB) BEx) (BEw)
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
AT A A A A A A A A BT AT A
AT Aprl 2015 HE-1EmA-A B052 2076251307  (99,144717) 28784000 9376692 6893294 25425281 — (1825608284 257903545  (18,160,784) 239,742,761
Loss for the year REREE - - - - - - - - (131.330498) (131334493 (ATIEN)  (13381204)
Gain on revaluation of propertes note 161 EfEIE Zh&/ R s) - - - - - 575,037 - - - 575,037 - 575,037
Exchange differences aisng on translang ~ AEBNERELE B EE
foreign opertions - - - - - - (5209515 - - [5209515) 165,054 (5,054,461)
Avalableorsel investments, change nfar~ TEEERE - ATEEEY
valug (note 21) Wz - - - - - - - 11,089,281 - 11,089,281 - 11,089,281
Reclasification acjustment for realisation upon ~ T
disposal of available-for-sale investments #
(note 8] - - - - - - - [14,266,465) - (14,266465) - (14,266,465)
Tax expense related to changes on revaluation
of propertis (note 31) / - - - - - 94,881) - - - 94,881) - 94,881)
Release of foreign exchange reserve upon DARENERR
disposal of subsidiares (note 35(s) 354)) - - - - - - (231,378) - - (231,378) - (231,378)
Total comprehensive income AENEEE o - - - - 40,15 (5440893 (3177184 (131334493) (139472414  (2322.497) (141794911
Aoquistion of subsidaries (note 36/ WENER - - - - - - - - - - 18524266 1852466
Share option apsed (note 34 BBz RE ) - - - - (347,285) - - - 347,285 - - -
At31 March 2016 RoR-7EZA=1-8 BIBH2 207651327 (99.044717) 28784000 9029407 TI3450 19984388 (3177,184) (1.956,595492) 118431031 (1,959,015 116472116
At 1 Aprl 2014 29938362 204217103 (95,365,361 28,784,000 9,376,692 6347123 35186935 27338555 (1,380378806) 685444593 (2843771 682,600,822

Loss for the year S S = & S S = — (5209478 (445229478)  [5,330,077)  (450,559,555)
(ain on revaluation of properties (note 16] - - - - - 654,09 - - - 654,096 - 654,09
Exchange differences arising on translating

foreign aperations - - - - - - ws3em - - (4513827) (1689668  (6,2034%)
Avalable-forsale investments, change in far

value fnote 21) S o S = S - — (177,984,369 - (177,984,369) - (177,984369)
Avalable-for-sale investments, reclassiy from

equty to profit orloss fnote 21) - - - - - - — 7940 — 147964021 — 47940
Tax expense related to changes on revaluation

of properties (note 31) S S S - - 107,926 S S - 107,926) S (107,926
Release of foreign exchenge resenve upon REiERE

disposal of subsidiares (note 35/ K si) - - - - - - (471,831) - - (47,831 - {#m.831)
Release offoregn exchange reserve wpon - RTREERZHEERKRR

mpaiment loss on avalable-forsales HERE

nvestment - - - - - - 477599%) = - (47759%) - 477599%)
Reclasifications adjustment for realisaion vpon R ET it EREBEER

disposal of valabledorsdle ivestments — {EE 2 B AESE - - - - - - - 26817 — 288 — 1818
Totel comprehensive income - - - - - 56171 (9761654 (27338555 (445,209478) [481783516) (7,019,745 (488,803,261
Issuance of ordinary shares (note 32/ 5987600 53888400 - - - - - - — 59,876,000 — 59,876,000
Shere ssue expenses | - [1.854.178) - = S S S S - [185417) - [1.854176)
Acquisttion of additionalinterest n a subsidiary

(note 37) - - [3,779.3%) = S = = = - [B793%6) 1963149 (1816207
Disposal of subsidaries (note 35(c) - - - - - - - - - — (10260417 (10,260417)
At 31 March 2015 35925962 2076251327 (99,144.717) 28,784,000 9,376,692 6893204 2542581 — (1825608284 257903545 (18,160,784 239,742,761
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
BE-Z—R"F=R=1T—HILFE

For the year ended 31 March 2016

2016 2015
—E—XRE —ZE—RF
Notes HK$ HK$
Kzt BT BT
Cash flows from operating REEBEIHERE
activities
Net cash used in operations REXBMAZRE R 40 (48,770,762) (54,197,927)
Interest received BUF B 1,363,929 1,272,737
Tax refund/(paid) BiRE () FIE 1,235,193 (213,009)
Net cash used in operating EEEEFAZHESTE
activities (46,171,640) (53,138,199)
Cash flows from investing RETHZHESRE
activities
Acquisition of subsidiaries, KM B AR (B
net of cash acquired Fr5z3Be) 36 (34,225,700) —
Refund of deposit for WEEMB A ARIEe 2 RIE
acquisition of subsidiaries 24 110,000,000 S
Disposal of subsidiaries, net & B A R (2 HBR AT
of cash disposed HEZRS®) 35 (2,970,756) (31,378,912)
Purchase of available-for-sale B Z At H&ERE
investments (46,396,600) —
Increase of pledged bank B RERITIF K38 00
deposits (44,790,629) (9,243,655)
Release of pledged bank fEBR B I ERITIER
deposits 6,767,815 —
Increase in amounts due JE WS FEEE AR AR 3R SR IR
from non-controlling 0
shareholders (10,000) (85,495)
(Increase)/decrease in FEUR B A L HIE
amounts due from related (&), m
parties (3,227,935) 1,360,844
Purchases of property, plant BEEWE  BERRE
and equipment (4,406,514) (66,787,464)
Proceeds from disposal HEWE - r%&?&ﬁz
of property, plant and FFr iS00
equipment 57,038 97,998
Proceeds from disposal of HEBE QR (E Mk
associate, net of cash FIBEZRE)Z
disposed FriSskIE - 55,904,267
Proceeds from disposal of HETRRERERZ
convertible loan notes FriSsk1E - 3,413,000
Proceeds from disposal of Hj’ﬁﬁz{’ﬁqfﬁ%z
films in progress R ¢! — 22,444,074
Proceeds from disposal o ] Hj’i&;é,\z
of available-for-sale FriSsk18
investments 33,962,754 999,680
Net cash generated from/ REFHELE (FTA) 2
(used in) investing HEFHE
activities 14,759,473 (23,275,663)

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED VIR REER AR



GEBRERER

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HE-T—"F=A=+—HILFE
For the year ended 31 March 2016

2016 2015
—EB—AF —FE-RF
Notes HK$ HK$
Bzt B BT
Cash flows from financing MELIHZHERE
activities
Increase in bank borrowings RITIEEE N 52,764,468 72,132,430
Repayment of bank BRRITEE
borrowings (41,862,010) (41,393,011)
Interest paid XSRS (3,371,646) (4,313,268)
Proceed from issue of BITE B Z TS RIE
ordinary shares - 59,876,000
Expenses paid for TRERG 2
subscription of shares — (1,854,176)
(Decrease)/increase in FERTRAE A 5B
amounts due to related (R A), /1 m
parties (16,033,789) 8,871,251
Decrease in amounts FEA FEIEAR AR R
due to non-controlling SRIER D
shareholders — (7,119,606)
Repayment in other BEHEMEE
borrowings - (26,640,500)
Net cash (used in)/generated BEZFE(FTH) EEZ
from financing activities REFHE (8,502,977) 59,559,120
Net decrease in cash and ReRBESEEEARD
cash equivalents Pk (39,915,144) (16,854,742)
Cash and cash equivalents at RENZHERREEE
beginning of year HE 100,314,658 118,241,763
Effect of exchange rate EXEGEHHINS MRS EE
changes on cash and HBE 2 &
cash equivalents (3,348,411) (1,072,363)
Cash and cash equivalents at RFRCHERBEESESE
end of year HH 57,051,103 100,314,658
Analysis of the balances of RE&NBSEEER 2&EH
cash and cash equivalents Akl
Cash and cash equivalents STARSRIRITHEB R
included in cash and bank e RBEeEEEE
balances 26 57,051,103 100,314,658
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GENERAL

Culture Landmark Investment Limited (the
“Company”) is a public limited company
incorporated in Bermuda. Its shares are listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”). Its registered office and
principal place of business are at Clarendon House,
2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda and
Rooms 2501-2505, 25th Floor, China Resources
Building, 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong,
respectively.

The Company is engaged in investment holding.
The principal activities of the subsidiaries are set
out in note 46. The Company and its subsidiaries
are collectively referred to as the “"Group”.

ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) AND
AMENDED THE RULES GOVERNING
THE LISTING OF SECURITIES (THE
“LISTING RULES”)

(a) Adoption of revised HKFRSs — first
effective on 1 April 2015

HKFRSs (Amendments) Annual Improvements 2010-
2012 Cycle

HKFRSs (Amendments) Annual Improvements 2011-
2013 Cycle

The adoption of these revised HKFRSs has
no material impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) AND
AMENDED THE RULES GOVERNING
THE LISTING OF SECURITIES (THE
“LISTING RULES") (continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective

The following new/revised HKFRSs, potentially
relevant to the Group’s financial statements
have been issued, but are not yet effective for
the financial year beginning on 1 April 2015 and
have not yet been early adopted by the Group.

HKFRSs (Amendments) ~ Annual Improvements 2012-2014
Cycle'

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure Initiative'

Amendments to HKAS 16  Clarification of Acceptable Methods of
and HKAS 38 Depreciation and Amortisation'

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between
and HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or

Joint Venture'

HKFRS 9 (2014) Financial Instruments’

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers’
HKFRS 16 Lease’

Effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2016

Effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2018

Effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2019

Effective for annual periods beginning on or
after a date to be determined
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2. ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED 2.
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) AND
AMENDED THE RULES GOVERNING
THE LISTING OF SECURITIES (THE

RAFEI SR RIET 2 BB
HEA([EBHMKEREE
Al NRFESHEHHRB(T EHR

Bl NIERT A& (2)
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“LISTING RULES")Continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 - Disclosure
Initiative

The amendments are designed to encourage
entities to use judgement in the application
of HKAS 1 when considering the layout and
content of their financial statements.

(b)

BB RERZHETRIEFT
BRMBHELER(E)
BEBETERAE 1 H2EET — K
EiE

SEE S HEBREREEEAM

BRERZHBRERARHERETLES
FHERISE 1 SRR Z A -

An entity's share of other comprehensive REBRBERFIREERNRIZE
income from equity accounted interests in AE=ZJNEBEGEEMZEK
associates and joint ventures will be split A BoeeklteEHsERA
between those items that will and will not be wm2IER - WHZEMEHAR R
reclassified to profit or loss, and presented in FBEARE—IEE 2% -

aggregate as a single line item within those
two groups.

Amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 38
— Clarification of Acceptable Methods of

EBEIEREI6EREEE
ERFEISHZIEE — BENE

Depreciation and Amortisation REBHZ oW 5=
The amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit the BRI ERFEI6H ZEITEL
use of a revenue-based depreciation method HYZE - WERE ﬁlﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁuuﬁz

for items of property, plant and equipment.
The amendments to HKAS 38 introduce a
rebuttable presumption that amortisation
based on revenue is not appropriate for
intangible assets. This presumption can be

ABHREZINER X - HEGFE
A 3858 2 &R 5l A — A A #E
B2 RER - AR AREE 7 #H
TERNELEE - WEVEET
N AGTHE > AR EEE

rebutted if either the intangible asset is LR XM FE R MR - RIS
expressed as a measure of revenue or revenue A HEHERD o

and the consumption of the economic benefits

of the intangible asset are highly correlated.

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED TR EERART
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) AND
AMENDED THE RULES GOVERNING
THE LISTING OF SECURITIES (THE
“LISTING RULES") (continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 —
Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments clarify the extent of gains
or losses to be recognised when an entity
sells or contributes assets to its associate or
joint venture. When the transaction involves
a business the gain or loss is recognised in
full, conversely when the transaction involves
assets that do not constitute a business the
gain or loss is recognised only to the extent of
the unrelated investors’ interests in the joint
venture or associate.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 March 2016

2. ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) AND
AMENDED THE RULES GOVERNING
THE LISTING OF SECURITIES (THE
“LISTING RULES") (continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 9 (2014) — Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the
classification and measurement of financial
assets. Debt instruments that are held within
a business model whose objective is to hold
assets in order to collect contractual cash
flows (the business model test) and that have
contractual terms that give rise to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding
(the contractual cash flow characteristics test)
are generally measured at amortised cost.
Debt instruments that meet the contractual
cash flow characteristics test are measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income
("FVTOCI") if the objective of the entity's
business model is both to hold and collect the
contractual cash flows and to sell the financial
assets. Entities may make an irrevocable
election at initial recognition to measure equity
instruments that are not held for trading at
FVTOCI. All other debt and equity instruments
are measured at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVTPL").

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) AND
AMENDED THE RULES GOVERNING
THE LISTING OF SECURITIES (THE
“LISTING RULES") (continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 9 (2014) — Financial Instruments
(Continued)

HKFRS 9 includes a new expected loss
impairment model for all financial assets not
measured at FVTPL replacing the incurred loss
model in HKAS 39 and new general hedge
accounting requirements to allow entities to
better reflect their risk management activities
in financial statements.

HKFRS 9 carries forward the recognition,
classification and measurement requirements
for financial liabilities from HKAS 39, except
for financial liabilities designated at FVTPL,
where the amount of change in fair value
attributable to change in credit risk of the
liability is recognised in other comprehensive
income unless that would create or enlarge
an accounting mismatch. In addition, HKFRS
9 retains the requirements in HKAS 39 for
derecognition of financial assets and financial
liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 March 2016

2. ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) AND
AMENDED THE RULES GOVERNING
THE LISTING OF SECURITIES (THE
“LISTING RULES") (continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 15 — Revenue from Contracts with
Customers

The new standard establishes a single revenue
recognition framework. The core principle
of the framework is that an entity should
recognise revenue to depict the transfer of
promised goods or services to customers
in an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the entity expects to be entitled
in exchange for those goods and services.
HKFRS 15 supersedes existing revenue
recognition guidance including HKAS 18
Revenue, HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and
related interpretations.

HKFRS 15 requires the application of a 5 steps
approach to revenue recognition:

° Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a
customer

° Step 2: ldentify the performance
obligations in the contract

° Step 3: Determine the transaction price

° Step 4. Allocate the transaction price to
each performance obligation

° Step 5: Recognise revenue when
each performance obligation is
satisfied

HKFRS 15 includes specific guidance on
particular revenue related topics that may
change the current approach taken under
HKFRS. The standard also significantly
enhances the qualitative and quantitative
disclosures related to revenue.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) AND
AMENDED THE RULES GOVERNING
THE LISTING OF SECURITIES (THE
“LISTING RULES") (continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 16 — Leases

HKFRS 16, which upon the effective date
will supersede HKAS 17 "“Leases” and
related interpretations, introduces a single
lessee accounting model and requires a
lessee to recognise assets and liabilities
for all leases with a term of more than 12
months, unless the underlying asset is of
low value. Specifically, under HKFRS 16, a
lessee is required to recognise a right-of-
use asset representing its right to use the
underlying leased asset and a lease liability
representing its obligation to make lease
payments. Accordingly, a lessee should
recognise depreciation of the right-of-use
asset and interest on the lease liability, and
also classifies cash repayments of the lease
liability into a principal portion and an interest
portion and presents them in the statement
of cash flows. Also, the right-of-use asset
and the lease liability are initially measured
on a present value basis. The measurement
includes non-cancellable lease payments and
also includes payments to be made in optional
periods if the lessee is reasonably certain to
exercise an option to extend the lease, or not
to exercise an option to terminate the lease.
This accounting treatment is significantly
different from the lessee accounting for leases
that are classified as operating leases under
the predecessor standard, HKAS 17.

In respect of the lessor accounting, HKFRS
16 substantially carries forward the lessor
accounting requirements in HKAS 17.
Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its
leases as operating leases or finance leases,
and to account for those two types of leases
differently.
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2. ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED 2.
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) AND
AMENDED THE RULES GOVERNING
THE LISTING OF SECURITIES (THE
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“LISTING RULES") (continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued (b) TEMENRERZHTEEET
but are not yet effective (Continued) BB BREER(E)
HKFRS 16 — Leases (Continued) BB BHEERE 165 — HE

(&)

The Directors will assess the impact of the EHE oL ERE AV EREL
application of HKFRS 16. For the moment, BIZ165 2. 3t BRIME
it is not practicable to provide a reasonable EAEEETHMSS A HER
estimate of the effect of the application of EBUBRELEANFT 16/ EE
HKFRS 16 until the Group performs a detailed EEABEH L ARA4T o
review.
The Group is in the process of making an NEBMB IR ZEHIT KB
assessment of the potential impact of these new/ EAMEMEER B BT
revised HKFRSs and the Directors so far concluded Sk o BE YR AR EHE
that the application of these new/revised HKFRSs SIS E T SIS RS KR e
will have no material impact on the Group's financial WARERE Y SAVBEREEBREXN
statements. =/,

(c) Disclosures of possible impacts on financial (c) WEEHREMLETRIZIETYE

statements on initial adoption of the
amended Listing Rules

The amended Listing Rules in relation to
the presentation and disclosures in financial
statements, including the amendments with
reference to the new Companies Ordinance,
Cap. 622 (the New Ordinance), will first apply
to the Company in this financial year. The
Directors consider that there is no impact on
the Group's financial position or performance.
However the amendments to Listing Rules
would have impacts on the presentation
and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a)

(c)

Statement of compliance

The financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable HKFRSs,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs")
and Interpretations (hereinafter collectively
referred to as the “HKFRS") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements
of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. In
addition, the financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Listing
Rules on the Stock Exchange.

Basis of measurement

The financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost basis except for
certain properties and available-for-sale
investments, which are measured at revalued
amount or fair value as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

Functional and presentation currency

The financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is the same
as the functional currency of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-XRF=ZA=1+—H
31 March 2016

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

Business combination and basis of
consolidation

The consolidated financial statements
comprise the financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries. Inter-company
transactions and balances between group
companies together with unrealised profits are
eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of impairment on the
asset transferred, in which case the loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income from the effective dates of acquisition
or up to the effective dates of disposal, as
appropriate. Where necessary, adjustments
are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with those used by other members of
the Group.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(a)

Business combination and basis of
consolidation (Continued)

Acquisition of subsidiaries or businesses is
accounted for using the acquisition method.
The cost of an acquisition is measured at the
aggregate of the acquisition-date fair value
of assets transferred, liabilities incurred and
equity interests issued by the Group, as the
acquirer. The identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed are principally measured
at acquisition-date fair value. The Group's
previously held equity interest in the acquiree
is re-measured at acquisition-date fair
value and the resulting gains or losses are
recognised in profit or loss. The Group may
elect, on a transaction-by-transaction basis,
to measure the non-controlling interests
that represent present ownership interests
in the subsidiary either at fair value or at
the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other non-controlling
interests are measured at fair value unless
another measurement basis is required by
HKFRSs. Acquisition-related costs incurred are
expensed unless they are incurred in issuing
equity instruments in which case the costs are
deducted from equity.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred
by the acquirer is recognised at acquisition-
date fair value. Subsequent adjustments to
consideration are recognised against goodwill
only to the extent that they arise from new
information obtained within the measurement
period (a maximum of 12 months from the
acquisition date) about the fair value at
the acquisition date. All other subsequent
adjustments to contingent consideration
classified as an asset or a liability are
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-XRF=ZA=1+—H
31 March 2016

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(a)

Business combination and basis of
consolidation (Continued)

Contingent consideration balances arising
from business combinations whose acquisition
dates preceded 1 April 2010 (i.e. the date the
Group first applied HKFRS 3 (2008)) have been
accounted for in accordance with the transition
requirements in the standard. Such balances
are not adjusted upon first application of the
standard. Subsequent revisions to estimates of
such consideration are treated as adjustments
to the cost of these business combinations
and are recognised as part of goodwill.

Changes in the Group's interests in
subsidiaries that do not result in a loss
of control are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amounts of the
Group's interest and the non-controlling
interest are adjusted to reflect the changes in
their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any
difference between the amount by which the
non-controlling interest is adjusted and the fair
value of the consideration paid or received is
recognised directly in equity and attributed to
owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary,
the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as
the difference between (i) the aggregate of
the fair value of the consideration received
and the fair value of any retained interest
and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the
assets (including goodwill), and liabilities
of the subsidiary and any non-controlling
interest. Amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to
the subsidiary are accounted for in the same
manner as would be required if the relevant
assets or liabilities were disposed of.
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Bt % R MY A

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Business combination and basis of
consolidation (Continued)

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount
of non-controlling interests that represent
present ownership interests in the subsidiary
is the amount of those interests at initial
recognition plus such non-controlling interest’s
share of subsequent changes in equity. Total
comprehensive income is attributed to such
non-controlling interests even if this results in
those non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the
Company is able to exercise control. The
Company controls an investee if all three of
the following elements are present: (1) power
over the investee, (2) exposure, or rights, to
variable returns from the investee, and (3) the
ability to use its power to affect those variable
returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts
and circumstances indicate that there may be
a change in any of these elements of control.

In the Company's statement of financial
position, investments in subsidiaries are stated
at cost less impairment loss. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company
on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 March 2016

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(c)

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group
has significant influence and that is neither a
subsidiary nor a joint arrangement. Significant
influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the
investee but not control or joint control over
those policies. Associates are accounted for
using the equity method whereby they are
initially recognised at cost and thereafter,
their carrying amount are adjusted for the
Group's share of the post-acquisition change
in the associates’ net assets except that
losses in excess of the Group's interest in the
associate are not recognised unless there is
an obligation to make good those losses.

Profits and losses arising on transactions
between the Group and its associates are
recognised only to the extent of unrelated
investors’ interests in the associate. The
investor's share in the associate's profits
and losses resulting from these transactions
is eliminated against the carrying value of
the associate. Where unrealised losses
provide evidence of impairment of the asset
transferred they are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

Any premium paid for an associate above
the fair value of the Group's share of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities acquired is capitalised and included
in the carrying amount of the associate.
Where there is objective evidence that the
investment in an associate has been impaired,
the carrying amount of the investment is
tested for impairment in the same may as
other non-financial assets.

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED

4.

FESTTHERE)

(c) H&AT
BSNRNAEBUEREEAY
EHEUFEMBATRS LR
TEE - EAYEHET2REIE

BRAIZMBREERRRTE 2
5 (B3 FEFR I B KRR HIZ F I
R BERRAREEIHAANR
ERUERC ARG TR - MABREE
HEMAKEDEBREAREEF
ENEBR 2 ZBIELRE R
BHEOARERBEARERZE
BATHER  REAEEERTR
MzEEE -

REBEEBERNRZB RS
EEZRE NWEHIREER
fE DR 2R RR T ARER © 1
BESEBMERNAERERIESE
ZEE - TSR R R 2 BRE(ES
o WARSRBREEREELR
BB - RIARERERAE R IBaE

=7
PO

LB R RN B AR E DG
BMAZHBRHEE BERIRA
BREZAHEBEZEEED T A
BEAME - SR AZBE AR ZRE
B - HEBREBRZAMLARERE
BRE - AREZREEREMIF
T RVEE AR AR o

b 008 A R
EREABRAR



Bt % R MY A

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d)

Goodwill and gain on a bargain purchase

Goodwill is initially recognised at cost being
the excess of the aggregate of a consideration
transferred and the amount recognised for
non-controlling interests over the fair value
of identifiable assets acquired, liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed.

Where the fair value of identifiable assets and
liabilities exceed the aggregated of fair value
of consideration paid and the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree, the
excess is recognised in profit or loss on the
acquisition date, after re-assessment.

Goodwill is measured at cost less impairment
losses. For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill arising from an acquisition is allocated
to each of the relevant cash-generating
units that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the acquisition. A cash-generating
unit is the smallest identifiable group of assets
that generates cash inflows that are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other
assets or groups of assets. A cash-generating
unit to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment annually, and whenever
there is an indication that the unit may be
impaired.

For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a
financial year, the cash-generating unit to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment before the end of that financial
year. When the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit is less than the carrying
amount of the unit, the impairment loss is
allocated to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the unit first, and then
to the other assets of the unit pro rata on the
basis of the carrying amount to each asset in
the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is
recognised in profit or loss and is not reversed
in subsequent periods.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-XRF=ZA=1+—H
31 March 2016

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(e)

Property, plant and equipment

Leasehold land and buildings are stated at
revalued amount, being the fair value at
the date of revaluation less any subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses. As the
fair value of the land cannot be measured
separately from the fair value of a building
situated thereon at the inception of the lease,
the land portion is accounted for as being held
under a finance lease. Fair value is determined
by the Directors of the Company based on
independent valuations which are performed
periodically. The valuations are on the basis
of open market value. The Directors of the
Company review the carrying value of the
leasehold land and buildings and adjustment
is made where they consider that there has
been a material change. Increases in value
arising on revaluation are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity under other properties revaluation
reserve. Decreases in value arising on
revaluation are first offset against increases
on earlier valuations in respect of the same
property and are thereafter recognised in
profit or loss. Any subsequent increases are
recognised in profit or loss up to the amount
previously charged and thereafter to the other
properties revaluation reserve.

Upon disposal of leasehold land and buildings,
the relevant portion of the other properties
revaluation reserve realised in respect of
previous valuations is released from the other
properties revaluation reserve to retained
earnings.
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Bt % R MY A

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(e)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment are stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses.

The cost of property, plant and equipment
includes its purchase price and the costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of the
items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's
carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated
with the item will flow to the Group and
the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced
part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance costs are recognised as an
expense in profit or loss during the financial
period in which they are incurred.
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‘ NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-R"F=A=+—H
31 March 2016

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(e) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated
so as to write off their cost net of expected
residual value over their estimated useful
lives on a straight-line basis. The useful lives,
residual value and depreciation method are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the
end of each reporting period. The useful lives
are as follows:

Leasehold land and 40 years
buildings

Leasehold Over lease terms
improvements of 2-16 years

Furniture, fixtures and 3-5 years

equipment
Plant and machinery 5 years
Motor vehicles 3-5 years
Yacht 10 years

An asset is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if its carrying amount is
higher than the asset’s estimated recoverable
amount.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of
property, plant and equipment is the difference
between the net sale proceeds and its carrying
amount, and is recognised in profit or loss on
disposal.
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Bt % R MY A

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(f)  Intangible assets

(i)

Acquired intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are
initially recognised at cost. The cost of
intangible assets acquired in a business
combination is fair value at the date of
acquisition. Subsequently, intangible
assets with finite useful lives are carried
at cost less accumulated amortisation
and accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation is provided on a straight-line
basis over their useful lives as follows:

Provision of copyright 8 years
licence fees settlement
and collection services

Provision of intellectual 11 years
property enforcement
services

Golf club memberships 12 years,

indefinite

Customer relationship and 10 years
customer contracts

Patent 5 years

Intangible assets with indefinite useful
lives are carried at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-XRF=ZA=1+—H
31 March 2016

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(f)

Intangible assets (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment

Intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives and intangible assets not
yet available for use are tested for
impairment annually by comparing their
carrying amounts with their recoverable
amounts, irrespective of whether there
is any indication that they may be
impaired. Intangible assets are tested for
impairment by comparing their carrying
amounts with their recoverable amounts
(see note 4(g)). If the recoverable amount
of an asset is estimated to be less than
its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset is reduced to its recoverable
amount.

An impairment loss is recognised as an
expense immediately.

When an impairment loss subsequently
reverses, the carrying amount of the
asset is increased to the revised estimate
of its recoverable amount, to the extent
that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years.

Intangible assets with finite lives are
tested for impairment when there is an
indication that an asset may be impaired
(note 4(q)).
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Bt % R MY A

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(g)

(h)

(i)

Investment properties

Investment property is property held either
to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or
for both, but not held for sale in the ordinary
course of business, use in the production
or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes. Investment property
is measured at cost on initial recognition and
subsequently at fair value with any change
therein recognised in profit or loss.

Payments for leasehold land held for own
use under operating leases

Payments for leasehold land held for own
use under operating leases represent up-
front payments to acquire long-term interests
in lessee-occupied properties in the People's
(the "PRC").
payments are stated at cost and are amortised

Republic of China These
over the period of the lease on a straight-line
basis as an expense.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases
whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the lessee. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and
arranging an operating lease are added to
the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised as an expense on straight-line
basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-XE=ZA=1+—8H

31 March 2016

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i)

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as lessee

The total rentals payable under the operating
leases are recognised in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease
incentives received are recognised as an
integrated part of the total rental expense,
over the term of the lease.

Financial instruments

(i)

Financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets
at initial recognition, depending on
the purpose for which the asset was
acquired. Financial assets at FVTPL
are initially measured at fair value and
all other financial assets are initially
measured at fair value plus transaction
costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition of the financial assets.
Regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis.
A regular way purchase or sale is a
purchase or sale of a financial asset
under a contract whose terms require
delivery of the asset within the time
frame established generally by regulation
or convention in the marketplace
concerned.

Loans and receivables

These assets are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active
market. They arise principally through
the provision of goods and services
to customers (trade debtors), and also
incorporate other types of contractual
monetary asset. Subsequent to initial
recognition, they are carried at amortised
cost using the effective interest method,
less any identified impairment losses.
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Bt % R MY A

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(j)  Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Financial assets (Continued)
Available-for-sale investments

These assets are non-derivative
financial assets that are designated as
available-for-sale or are not included
in other categories of financial assets.
Subsequent to initial recognition, these
assets are carried at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in
other comprehensive income, except
for impairment losses and foreign
exchange gains and losses on monetary
instruments, which are recognised in
profit or loss.

For available-for-sale equity investments
that do not have a quoted market price
in an active market and whose fair
value cannot be reliably measured and
derivatives that are linked to and must
be settled by delivery of such unguoted
equity instruments, they are measured
at cost less any identified impairment
losses.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-XE=ZA=1+—8H

31 March 2016

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(j)  Financial instruments (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group assesses, at the end of each
reporting period, whether there is any
objective evidence that financial asset is
impaired. Financial asset is impaired if
there is objective evidence of impairment
as a result of one or more events that
has occurred after the initial recognition
of the asset and that event has an impact
on the estimated future cash flows of
the financial asset that can be reliably
estimated. Evidence of impairment may
include:

o significant financial difficulty of the
debtor;

° a breach of contract, such as a
default or delinquency in interest or
principal payments;

° granting concession to a debtor
because of debtor's financial
difficulty; and

° it becoming probable that the
debtor will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(j)  Financial instruments (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment loss on financial assets
(Continued)

For loans and receivables

An impairment loss is recognised in profit
or loss when there is objective evidence
that the asset is impaired, and is
measured as the difference between the
asset's carrying amount and the present
value of the estimated future cash flows
discounted at the original effective
interest rate. The carrying amount of
financial asset is reduced through the
use of an allowance account. When any
part of financial asset is determined as
uncollectable, it is written off against
the allowance account for the relevant
financial asset.

Impairment losses are reversed in
subsequent periods when an increase in
the asset’s recoverable amount can be
related objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment was recognised,
subject to a restriction that the carrying
amount of the asset at the date the
impairment is reversed does not exceed
what the amortised cost would have
been had the impairment not been
recognised.
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Bt % R MY A

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-XRF=ZA=1+—H
31 March 2016

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment loss on financial assets
(Continued)

For available-for-sale investments

Where a decline in the fair value
constitutes objective evidence of
impairment, the amount of the loss is
removed from equity and recognised in
profit or loss.

An impairment losses on available-for-
sale debt investments are subsequently
reversed in profit or loss if an increase in
the fair value of the investment can be
objectively related to an event occurring
after the recognition of the impairment
loss.

For available-for-sale equity investment,
any increase in fair value subsequent to
an impairment loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income.

For available-for-sale equity investment
that is carried at cost, the amount of
impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the carrying amount
of the asset and the present value of
estimated future cash flows discounted
at the current market rate of return for a
similar financial asset. Such impairment
loss is not reversed.
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Bt % R MY A

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(j)  Financial instruments (Continued)

(iii) Financial liabilities

(iv)

(v)

Financial liabilities are initially recognised
at fair value, net of directly attributable
transaction costs incurred, and are
subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest
method. The related interest expense is
recognised within “finance costs” in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive

income.

Gains or losses recognised in the
profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the
amortisation process.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a
method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset or financial
liability and of allocating interest income
or interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts or payments through
the expected life of the financial asset or
liability, or where appropriate, a shorter
period.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recorded at the proceeds

received, net of direct issue costs.
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Bt % R MY A

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-XRF=ZA=1+—H
31 March 2016

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i)

(k)

Financial instruments (Continued)
(vi) Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset
when the contractual rights to the future
cash flows in relation to the financial
asset expire or when the financial asset
has been transferred and the transfer
meets the criteria for derecognition in
accordance with HKAS 39.

Financial liabilities are derecognised
when the obligation specified in the
relevant contract is discharged, cancelled
or expires.

Inventories

Inventories are initially recognised at cost,
and subsequently at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost comprises all costs of
purchase and other costs incurred in bringing
the inventories to their present location and
condition. Cost is calculated using the first-
in first-out method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale.
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Bt % R MY A

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(1)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from licence fee collection business
is recognised when services are performed.

Compensation for infringement of music
licence is recognised when the right to
receive the compensation is established and
it is probable that the Group will receive the
compensation.

Revenue from exhibition and related service is
recognised when the exhibition is completed
and related services are rendered.

Rental income from operating leases/facility
sharing income is recognised on a straight-
line basis over the term of the relevant lease/
agreement.

Revenue from entertainment services
including artist management is recognised
when services are rendered.

Revenue from musical works is recognised
when the Group's entitlement to such
payments has been established which is upon
the delivery of the master copy or materials to
the customers.

Revenue from restaurants is recognised when

food and beverages are sold and services are
provided.
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Bt % R MY A

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-XRF=ZA=1+—H
31 March 2016

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(1)

(m)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from sale of goods is recognised on
transfer of risks and rewards of ownership,
which is at the time of delivery and the title is
passed to customer.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis
on the principal outstanding at the applicable
interest rate.

Income taxes

Income taxes for the year comprise current
tax and deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from
ordinary activities adjusted for items that are
non-assessable or disallowable for income tax
purposes and is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted at
the end of reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of
temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the corresponding
amounts used for tax purposes. Except for
goodwill and recognised assets and liabilities
that affect neither accounting nor taxable
profits, deferred tax liabilities are recognised
for all temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Deferred tax is
measured at the tax rates appropriate to the
expected manner in which the carrying amount
of the asset or liability is realised or settled
and that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of reporting period.
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Bt % R MY A

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(m)

Income taxes (Continued)

An exception to the general requirement on
determining the appropriate tax rate used in
measuring deferred tax amount is when an
investment property is carried at fair value
under HKAS 40 “Investment Property”. Unless
the presumption is rebutted, the deferred
tax amounts on these investment properties
are measured using the tax rates that would
apply on sale of these investment properties
at their carrying amounts at the reporting
date. The presumption is rebutted when the
investment property is depreciable and is held
within a business model whose objective is
to consume substantially all the economic
benefits embodied in the property over time,
rather than through sale.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for
taxable temporary differences arising on
investments in subsidiaries and associates,
except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss
except when they relate to items recognised
in other comprehensive income in which
case the taxes are also recognised in other
comprehensive income.
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Bt % R MY A

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-R"F=A=+—H
31 March 2016

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(n)

Foreign currency

Transactions entered into by group entities
in currencies other than the currency of the
primary economic environment in which
they operate (the “functional currency”)
are recorded at the rates ruling when the
transactions occur. Foreign currency monetary
assets and liabilities are translated at the
rates ruling at the end of reporting period.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that
are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date
when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the
settlement of monetary items, and on the
translation of monetary items, are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise. Exchange differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items carried at
fair value are included in profit or loss for the
period except for differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items in respect
of which gains and losses are recognised in
other comprehensive income, in which cases,
the exchange differences are also recognised
in other comprehensive income.
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Bt % R MY A

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(n)

Foreign currency (Continued)

On consolidation, income and expense
items of foreign operations are translated
into the presentation currency of the Group
at the average exchange rates for the vyear,
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during the period, in which case, the rates
approximating, to those ruling when the
transactions took place are used. All assets
and liabilities of foreign operations are
translated at the rate ruling at the end of
reporting period. Exchange differences arising,
if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity as foreign
exchange reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate). Exchange differences
recognised in the profit or loss of group
entities’ separate financial statements on
the translation of long-term monetary items
forming part of the Group’s net investment
in the foreign operation concerned are
reclassified to other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity as foreign exchange
reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the
cumulative exchange differences recognised
in the foreign exchange reserve relating to
that operation up to the date of disposal are
reclassified to the profit or loss as part of the
profit or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on
identifiable assets acquired arising on an
acquisition of a foreign operation on or
after 1 January 2005 are treated as assets
and liabilities of that foreign operation and
translated at the rate of exchange prevailing
at the end of reporting period. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in the
foreign exchange reserve.

ANNUAL REPORT 2016

—ZET—R"F=A=+—H
31 March 2016

4, FEESTTHE#®)

(n)

SN (E)

RAERBE  BINEZ WA KRR
XEBRFATYEXRBESAE
B2 2B - EERRERKE
MEZIERT - AIIRAER HHETT
REEZER - 2B KRB ZE
ERBE  GEREHRZERHR
BoMELAZELRZR(AIRE
2 ER R - WREERE N2
SIEE o 1 R T8 CE B By st AJFIE R
i) o EEREE R B %R
RZBERTERARE BN AEE
KRB EBZREFE D
ZERBEBHREMEECELE
BAUeEHHREREMEENKE
WS T RIERINERE

hEBINERE - SMNERE RN IER
ERZEBEEHERYILZ 2T
[EXEBRERDBEED  1ER
& M k&I 2 —&F D ©

RZZFZRF-—A—BHZER 'R
WEBINRIBRES 2 BRAMIKE
AR EEZHERAFEERE
DERZEIEH 2 EERAER
2 WRBERRZBRITEXET
BE o PTEL 2B X ERIININE
fEmH R -

il
|
&
th
S

103



104

Bt % R MY A

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-XRF=ZA=1+—H
31 March 2016

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(o)

Employee benefits

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave
are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the
estimated liability for annual leave as a
result of services rendered by employees
up to the end of reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and
maternity leave are not recognised until
the time of leave.

Profit-sharing and bonus plans

The expected costs of profit-sharing and
bonus payments are recognised as a
liability when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result
of services rendered by employees and a
reliable estimate of the obligation can be
made.

Liabilities for profit-sharing and bonus
plans are expected to be settled within
12 months and are measured at the
amounts expected to be paid when they
are settled.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised
on the earlier of when the Group can
no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs involving the payment
of termination benefits.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ‘
—E—RE=A=+—H
31 March 2016

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. FEGSTBE#E)
(Continued)
(o) Employee benefits (Continued) (o) EEENE)

(iv) BEBEEF

(iv) Post-employment benefits

Retirement benefits to employees
are provided through several defined
contribution plans.

The Group adopts a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement
benefits scheme (the "MPF Scheme”)
under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance of Hong Kong
for all employees of its subsidiaries
operating in Hong Kong. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries but subject to
a cap in accordance with the statutory
requirement and are recognised in
profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme.

The Group has recorded provisions for
long service payments for employees
who had completed the required number
of years of service under Hong Kong's
Employment Ordinance for whom
the Group is obligated to pay long
service payment on termination of their
employment.

The employees of the Group's
subsidiaries that operate in the PRC are
required to participate in a government-
managed retirement benefit schemes.
These subsidiaries are required to
contribute a fixed cost per employee
to the government-managed retirement
benefit schemes. The contributions are
charged to profit or loss as they become
payable.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-XRF=ZA=1+—H
31 March 2016

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(p)

Share-based payments

Where share options are awarded to
employees, the fair value of the options at the
date of grant is recognised in profit or loss
over the vesting period with a corresponding
increase in the employee share-based
compensation reserve within equity. Non-
market vesting conditions are taken into
account by adjusting the number of equity
instruments expected to vest at the end of
each reporting period so that, ultimately,
the cumulative amount recognised over
the vesting period is based on the number
of options that eventually vest. Market
vesting conditions are factored into the fair
value of the options granted. As long as
all other vesting conditions are satisfied, a
charge is made irrespective of whether the
market vesting conditions are satisfied. The
cumulative expense is not adjusted for failure
to achieve a market vesting condition.

Where the terms and conditions of options
are modified before they vest, the increase
in the fair value of the options, measured
immediately before and after the modification,
is also recognised in profit or loss over the
remaining vesting period.

Where equity instruments are granted to
persons other than employees, the profit or
loss is charged with the fair value of goods
or services received unless the goods or
services qualify for recognition as assets. A
corresponding increase in equity is recognised.
For cash settled share based payments, a
liability is recognised at the fair value of the
goods or services received.
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Bt % R MY A

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(a)

Impairment of other assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of the following
assets to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss or an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or may
have decreased:

° property, plant and equipment;

° intangible assets;

° payments for leasehold land held for own
use under operating leases;

° interests in subsidiaries and associates;
and

° film rights and film in progress.

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater
of the fair value less costs to sell and value
in use) of an asset is estimated to be less
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised as
an expense immediately, unless the relevant
asset is carried at a revalued amount under
another HKFRS, in which case the impairment
loss is treated as a revaluation decrease under
that HKFRS.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-XRF=ZA=1+—H
31 March 2016

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(a)

(r)

Impairment of other assets (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently
reverses, the carrying amount of the asset
is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, to the extent that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
as income immediately, unless the relevant
asset is carried at a revalued amount under
another HKFRS, in which case the reversal of
the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation
decrease under that HKFRS.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of
uncertain timing or amount when the Group
has a legal or constructive obligation arising as
a result of a past event, which it is probably
will result in an outflow of economic benefits
that can be reasonably estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the
amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote. Possible obligations, the
existence of which will only be confirmed
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more future events, are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(s) Related parties

(a)

(b)

A person or a close member of that

person’s family is related to the Group if

that person:

(ii)

(iii)

An

has control or joint control of the
Group;

has significant influence over the
Group; or

is a member of key management
personnel of the Group or the

Company’s parent.

entity is related to the Group if any of

the following conditions apply:

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

The entity and the Group are
members of the same group (which
means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others);

One entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or
an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the
other entity is a member);

Both entities are joint ventures of
the same third party;
One entity is a joint venture of a

third entity and the other entity is
an associate of the third entity;
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a

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(s) Related parties (Continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if

any of the following conditions apply:
(Continued)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity is a post-employment
benefit plan for the benefit of the
employees of the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

The entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in
(a);

A person identified in (a)(i) has
significant influence over the entity
or is a member of key management
personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a
group of which it is a part, provides
key management personnel services
to the reporting entity or to the
parent of the reporting entity.

Close members of the family of a person are

those family members who may be expected

to influence, or be influenced by, that person

in their dealings with the entity and include:

(i)  that

person’s children and spouse or

domestic partner;

(i) children of that person’s spouse or

domestic partner; and

(i) dependents of that person or that

person’s spouse or domestic partner.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(t)

(u)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs attributable directly to the
acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assets which require a substantial
period of time to be ready for their intended
use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost
of those assets. Income earned on temporary
investments of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on those assets is deducted
from borrowing costs capitalised. All other
borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised when
there is reasonable assurance that they will be
received and that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them. Grants that
compensate the Group for expenses incurred
are recognised as revenue in profit or loss
on a systematic basis in the same periods
in which the expenses are incurred. Grants
that compensate the Group for the cost of an
asset are recognised as deferred income in
consolidated statement of financial position
and consequently are effectively recognised in
profit or loss over the useful life of the asset.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(v)

Financial Guarantee

A financial guarantee contract is a contract
that requires the issuer to make specified
payments to reimburse the holder for a loss
it incurs because a specified debtor fails
to make payment when due in accordance
with the original or modified terms of a debt
instrument. A financial guarantee contract
issued by the Group and not designated as
at FVTPL is recognised initially at its fair
value less transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the issue of the financial
guarantee contract. Subsequent to initial
recognition, the Group measures the financial
guarantee contact at the higher of: (i) the
amount determined in accordance with HKAS
37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets; and (ii) the amount initially
recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative
amortisation recognised in accordance with
HKAS 18 Revenue.

The contracted fee of the financial guarantee
recognised as other income in profit or loss
over the term of the guarantee as income
from financial guarantee issued. In addition,
provisions are recognised if and when it
becomes probable that the holder of the
guarantee will call upon the Group under the
guarantee and the amount of that claim on
the Group is expected to exceed the current
carrying amount i.e. the amount initially
recognised less accumulated amortisation,
where appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

Estimates are evaluated and are based on historical

experience and other factors, including expectations

of future events that are believed to be reasonable

under the circumstances. The key assumptions

that have a significant risk of causing a material

adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets

and liabilities within the next financial year are

discussed below:

(a)

(b)

Fair value of investment properties and
leasehold land and buildings

The fair value of the investment properties and
leasehold land and buildings are determined
by independent valuers on an open market
value for existing use basis. In making their
judgment, consideration has been given to
assumptions that are mainly based on market
conditions existing at the end of reporting
period, by reference to recent market
transactions and appropriate capitalisation
rates based on an estimation of the rental
income. These estimates are regularly
compared to actual market data and actual

transactions entered into by the Group.

Useful
equipment

lives of property, plant and

Management determines the estimated useful
lives of the property, plant and equipment and
will revise depreciation charges when useful
lives differ from previous estimates.
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

(c)

(e)

Impairment test of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is
impaired at least on an annual basis. This
requires an estimation of the value in use
of the cash-generating units to which the
goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in
use requires the Group to make an estimate of
the expected future cash flows from the cash-
generating units and also to choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows.

Impairment loss on intangible assets

Determining whether an intangible asset is
impaired requires an estimation of the future
cash flow and a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value. Where
the actual future cash flows are less than
expected, a material impairment loss may
arise.

Impairment of interests in associates

The Group’'s management assesses
impairment of interests in associates at each
reporting date by evaluating conditions specific
to the Group that may lead to impairment of
assets. Where an impairment trigger exists,
the recoverable amounts of the assets are
determined.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

(e)

(f)

Impairment of interests in associates
(Continued)

Value in use calculations performed in
assessing recoverable amounts incorporate
a number of key estimates and assumptions
about future events, which are subject to
uncertainty and might materially differ from
the actual results. In making these key
estimates and judgements, the management
takes into consideration assumptions that are
mainly based on market condition existing at
the reporting date, appropriate market and
discount rates and what information it can
obtain from the associates. These estimates
are regularly compared to actual market data
and actual transactions entered into by the
Group.

Impairment loss on loans and receivables

The policy for impairment of loans and
receivables of the Group is based on the
evaluation of collectability and ageing
analysis of the loans and receivables and
on management’'s judgment. A considerable
amount of judgment is required in assessing
the ultimate realisation of these loans
and receivables, including the current
creditworthiness of each customer. If the
financial conditions of customers of the Group
were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment
of their ability to make payments, additional
impairment may be required.
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116

SEGMENT REPORTING

Management determines operating segments based
on the reports regularly reviewed by the chief
operating decision maker, which is the Board, in
assessing performance and allocating resources.
The chief operating decision maker considers
the business primarily on the basis of the types
of services supplied by the Group. The Group is
currently organised into seven operating divisions
— licence fee collection and provision of intellectual
property enforcement services business, exhibition-
related business, property sub-leasing business,
property development and investment, sludge and
sewage treatment, entertainment business and
food and beverages.

Principal activities are as follows:

Licence fee collection —  operation of the business of the
and provision of licences of copyright to karaoke
intellectual property music products and provision of
enforcement intellectual property enforcement
services business services in the PRC as managed
by China Music Video Collective
Management Association*
(FESBEFEERERERS)

(the “MVCM Association”)

Exhibition-related — organising all kinds of exhibition
business events and meeting events

Property sub-leasing —  sub-leasing of properties in the PRC
business

Property development —  development of real estates and
and investment leasing of investment properties

Sludge and sewage —  operation of sludge and sewage
treatment treatment plants in the PRC

Entertainment —  provision of talent management
business and entertainment and travelling

related services
Food and beverages —  sale of food and beverages and
restaurant operations
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6. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 6. DEHmEH)

Segment information is presented below: SEERZINWOT :

(a) Information about reportable segment (a) BEBEAUHREIEWE  BHHE
revenue, profit or loss, assets and liabilities E-EENEBZERREMESR
and other information

216
ZE-AE
License fee
collection and
provision of
intellectual
property Property
enforcement  Exhibition- Property ~ development  Sludge and Inter-
services related  sub-leasing and sewage  Entertainment Food and segment
business business business  investment treatment business ~ beverages elimination Total
BHEER
WERRH ] -
HEERER 78 i %8R Bk 258
EvEs) iEED AEER it FREE i3 & 43 i)
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS$
A A A V-4 V-4 .13 A 33 i3
Reportable segment revenue TREAENE
External sales e 12,810,708 54,602,737 44243143 - - 297,885 22,59 - 111.977,069
Inter-segment sales ARREE - - - - - = = = =
12,810,708 54,602,737 44243143 - - 297,885 22,59 - 111977,009
Reportable segment (loss)/profit before ~ BAERBZATRE
income tax expense A5(58) /& (36519.775)  (2500457) 4422428 (855,906)  (27.283,120) (1711788 (3,142,087 - [67590674)
Other segment information RfAEER
Interest income HaMA 51,466 107,018 5,114 i 5512 610 1 - 20409
Interest expenses HER - - 3,055,994 - - - - - 3,065,994
Depreciation of property, plant and % BERSENE
equipment 1,703,623 434,870 8,791,865 721,503 1,019,554 178,667 205,031 - 13175119
Amortisation of intangible assets BREE/RS - - - - 327,009 - - - 327,009
Gain on disposal of property, plantand ~~~ £E% - BERFEL
equipment Wiz - - 662913 - - - - - 662913
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6. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

6. PEHRE®)

(a) Information about reportable segment (a) EBUHREIEWRE  BHAHE
revenue, profit or loss, assets and liabilities B -EERABEZENRAEMER
and other information (Continued) (&

2016
ZE-AE
License fee
collection and
provision of
intellectual
property Property
enforcement  Exhibition- Property ~ development  Sludge and Inter-
services related  sub-leasing and sewage  Entertainment Food and segment
business business busingss ~ investment treatment business beverages  elimination Total
BHEER
WEREH
HEERER BB L WEER AR 7EE
i EEE FEEE R&E 2,941 s £ H¥ b3
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HK$
V-3 .13 A i3 A i3 A A A
Impaitment loss on trade and other EHERRERE,
receivables HEEE 37,139,942 - 2,670,019 - 821,061 - - - 41,231,022
Impairment loss on property, plant 0% BEREEL
and equipment HERE - - - - 993,162 - - - 993,162
Witen down of inventores to WRFEETERRE
net reglisable valug - - - - 193,260 - - - 193,260
Impairment loss on goodiwl EEINEEE - - - - 20023466 - - - 0023466
Impairment loss on intangible assets BYEELNERE - - - - 285,882 - - - 285,882
Share of losses of associates ABERTEE - - - - 167,356 - - - 167,356
{Lossgain on disposal of subsidiaries HERBAR(BR)/ i - - (34.217) - - 6375 (2699519) - [265361)
Reportable segment assets TRENEEE 40974167 2630011 115810367 8527520 45740393 12519736 35,495,382 - 288697576
Expenditure for reportable TREAEETDEE
segment non-current assets LB O 6,706 2,788,108 - 4,011,949 - - - 6,806,763
Reportable segment liabilties TREAERE 81,981,713 9,206,635 143,059,811 5010 15,640,470 5,120,336 605,927 - 256,225,962
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6. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 6. DERE A
(a) Information about reportable segment (a) EBUHREIEWRSE  BHNHES
revenue, profit or loss, assets and liabilities B -EERABEZENRAEMER
and other information (Continued) (&
215
Z%-1f
License fee
collection and
provision of
intellectual
property Property
enforcement ~ Exhibition- Property ~ development  Sludge and Inter-
services related  sub-leasing and sewage  Entertainment Food and segment
business business business  investment treatment business beverages elimination Total
BHEER
WEREH
HEERER i1 LE e AR b
EvE ) B FEER RRE 2,431 gz & i g
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS$
2 2 2 2 A 2L 2 2 2
Reportable segment revenue TREAENE
Extemal seles b 9740199 66712740 33586207 - - 604,164 735,659 - 10378969
Inter-segment sales ARREE - - - - - - - - -
39,740,199 66,712,740 33,586,207 - - 604,164 735,659 - 141,378,969
Reportable segment loss before income ~ BAERERATHE
tax credit AEEE (182,424,883 (25,735,652  (122,261,776) (665,213) = (4996663)  (5,444,091) - (518208
Other segment information EhAEEN
Interest income s kA 335,822 102,500 12119 189 - 1401 36 - 452,121
Interest expenses HERx - - 3,805,261 - - - - - 3,805,261
Depreciation of property, plant and 0% RERRENE
equipment 1,686,785 612215 6,966,567 630,022 - 40,932 629,962 - 10,566,483
Amortisation of intangble assets BYREIRYE 12066716 3178240 - - = = = - 15204956
Amortisation of deferred expenditure e i 8,632,826 - - - - - - - 868
(Gain on disposal of property, plant and LENE  BERREL
equipment e 74,083 - - - - - - - 74,083
Reversal of impaitment loss on other EbEIGEZ A
receivables EEED - - 1,212,716 - - - - - 1212716
Impairment loss on goodwil EELhERE 79,421,363 - 16591728 - - - - - 96,019,091
Impairment loss on intangible assets SRAEIRERE 68494242 18,864,005 - - - - s - e
Impaiment loss on deferred expendite  ERFXZREEE 2,268,500 - - - - - - - 2268500
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6. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

6. PEHRE®)

(a) Information about reportable segment (a) EBUHREIEWRE  BHAHE
revenue, profit or loss, assets and liabilities B -EERABEZENRAEMER
and other information (Continued) (&

215
ZE-3E
License fee
collection and
provision of
intellectual
property Property
enforcement  Exhibition- Property  development  Sludge and
sevices related  sub-leasing and sewage  Entertainment Foodand  Inter-segment
business business business  investment treatment business beverages  elimination Total
BHEER
WERRH
HEERER 78 L WERR HRR 258
fvEs e AR RRE FREE i3 H i 43 2
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HK$
AT AT AT AT AT ¥-24 A7 A7 A7
Impairment loss on avaiible-for-sale THHERR RERR
investments - - 98,747,593 - - - - - 98,747,593
Impairment loss on other receivables ARYEE RESE 252,083 - 1,484,254 - - - - - 1,736,337
Share of profits of associates AemEATER - - - - - 616,346 - - 616,346
Loss on disposal of subsidiares HENBARZER 16,030,080 - - - - - - - 16,030,080
Loss on disposal o associates HERENH EE - - - - - 2912809 - - 2912809
Gain on deemed disposal of interestin ~ Efet ENBEAT 2784
associates, net i 8 - - - - - 116,241 - - 1,162,241
Loss on disposal of convertie loan notes ~ KETAREHER2EE - - - - - 108147 - - 106148
Reportable segment assets TRENERE 56,944,443 34620005 122,685,084 119,361,973 - 2,119,783 35,332,807 - 371,664,185
Expenditure for reportable TREARSRDAE
segment non-current assets b5 7,685,784 - 57,204,652 2,668,714 - 619,304 - - 68,198,454
Reporabe seqment abts TYE0EER BT BEHLB 1B - - 10858 - mENM
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SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(b) Reconciliation of reportable segme

or loss, assets and liabilities

Loss before income tax (expense)/credit

Bt %% 3 3k MY &=
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31 March 2016

6. DEHBE®)

THREDBENREE EERE
Bz 8k

BRETE% (B5) B RATEE

nt profit (b)

2016 2015
—EB-AE —E-nF
HK$ HK$
BT B
Reportable segment loss before income  BFTEF (BIsL), /LAl
tax (expense)/credit ARENEEE (67,590,674) (341,518,278)
Unallocated gain/(loss) on disposal HEJHEEREZRDE
of available-for-sale investments Wi/ (Ei18) 14,266,465 (1,630,320
Unallocated gain on disposal RAOBHENBAR 2 Wz
of subsidiaries 83,164 —
Unallocated interest income and RO EF BWA R E KA
other income 3,129,265 3,362,898
Unallocated impairment loss on AOBEAHEERE A
available-for-sale investments g —  (49,216,428)
Unallocated amortisation RAOBEVEE 2 #H
of intangible assets (116,883) (116,883)
Unallocated impairment loss on trade APEERERREMREBEZ
and other receivables REEE (43,285) —
Unallocated finance costs AOBREKE (315,652) (508,007)
Unallocated staff costs RABE LKA (31,897,390)  (27,389,866)
Unallocated rent, rates and AAEHEE  EMRERE
management fee (21,194,904) (22,875,8817)
Unallocated depreciation of property, KOEYE  BEMREZ
plant and equipment e (2,794,393) (2,731,605)
Unallocated head office and corporate  RAFEHER R A TS
expenses (note) (K1:) (26,572,432)  (29,352,910)
Loss before income tax (expense)/credit KR (FI%) 1K EAIER (133,046,719) (471,977,280)

Note:

Mzt -

Unallocated head office and corporate expenses
mainly include professional and consultancy fees,
administrative expenses and business development
expenses.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZE-RE=ZA=+—H

31 March 2016

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 6. DHEHEE)
(b) Reconciliation of reportable segment profit (b) HWHREDPFEEFHBEE - EERE
or loss, assets and liabilities (Continued) BEZYHER(E)
Assets BE
2016 2015
—E-RF —T—hF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Reportable segment assets AMEDBREE 288,697,576 371,664,185
Property, plant and equipment %% R R 3% 5,279,167 6,652,302
Available-for-sale investments HHERE 43,087,358 21,268,209
Trade and other receivables FMTE?}\&E%?’XE 10,967,782 10,915,755
Loan receivables FEE R 28,369,700 27,722,772
Cash and cash equivalents fﬁé&fﬁ £EEE 29,960,034 56,898,668
Unallocated head office and corporate RO EEMER NN FIEE
assets 1,105,445 1,224,200
Total assets BELE 407,467,062 496,346,091
Liabilities aBE
2016 2015
—E-RE —T—hF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Reportable segment liabilities AmEDBEEE 256,225,962 252,570,019
Bank borrowings RITEE 30,000,000 ==
Unallocated head office ANEBHERRAREE
and corporate liabilities 4,768,984 4,033,311
Total liabilities BfEQE 290,994,946 256,603,330
CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED Tl IEREER AT
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ‘
—E—RE=A=+—H
31 March 2016

SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 6. DEHmEH)

(c) Geographical information (c) HEER
The Group's operations are mainly located in REBZEBEEMRES - FE
Hong Kong, the PRC and Korea. KEEE o
An analysis of the Group's geographical AEBME Bz oTHINOT ¢

segments is set out as follows:

2016
—E—RE
Hong Kong The PRC Korea Total
i) HEY B2l BE
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
B BT B B
Revenue (note) Wz (Hfat) 150,702 111,656,588 169,779 111,977,069
Non-current assets other FERBEE (SR
than financial instruments T B RiEERIE
and deferred tax assets BERIN) 14,896,200 122,629,353 8,902,045 146,427,598
2015
—E—FF
Hong Kong The PRC Korea Total
BB B SRR HBEE
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Revenue (note) Wz () 691,188 140,157,155 530,626 141,378,969
Non-current assets other  JEREIEE(SF
than financial instruments T E RIELEFIE
and deferred tax assets BERIN) 15,950,804 108,852,524 9,892,704 134,696,032
Note: Bt -
Revenue is attributed to countries on the basis of W AIZR P E| D 2R -
the customers’ location.
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‘} NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ET—RF=ZA=+—H
31 March 2016

7. REVENUE 7. W
Analysis of the Group's revenue for the year is as REBZARFEWZHRSMTAT ¢
follows:
2016 2015
—E—-REF —ET—HF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Revenue from licence fee collection Frar e & RS AR AN zs
and provision of intellectual property EREERGER < W
enforcement services business 12,810,708 39,740,199
Revenue from exhibition-related business REEHBER 2 Kk 54,602,737 66,712,740
Gross rental income from property sub-  #IESHEERAEHS A
leasing business 1azE 44,243,143 33,586,207
Revenue from talent management and WEIBANEIE RIRGE L
entertainment and travelling related K i 42 48 8 AR 7% 22 75
services business 2 Was 297,885 604,164
Sale of food and beverages BEIHE 22,596 735,659

111,977,069 141,378,969
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OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

Bt % R MY A

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—ZET—R"F=A=+—H
31 March 2016

8. HARKE

2016 2015
=E-ARE —T—1nfF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Bank interest income RITHEUWA 514,085 530,243
Loan interest income EHFBRA 849,844 742,494
Income from financial guarantee issued TE B BT BEREA
(note (i) (B1aZ (i) 153,814 .
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEME - WFE REE W=
equipment 662,913 74,083
Gain on deemed disposal of interest in BIEHEBE RN ZERZ
associates, net Wz FEE - 1,162,241
Government grants IR 46 B
— relating to unconditional subsidies — B GEER 1,543,288 =
— for leasehold improvements (note (ii) — TREWMEEBE (A i) 492,205 504,687
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale HERHEERE 2 WS
investments 14,266,465 —
Fair value gain on investment properties WEYE 7 NFBE WG
(note 17) (Bfat17) - 127,279
Reversal of impairment loss on other H e R IE 2 R BB 18 el
receivables — 1,212,716
Others Hith 2,442,696 2,967,675
20,925,310 7,321,418
Notes: s

(i) The amount represents income from financial (i)
guarantee issued for an independent third party in
which to indemnify the bank any loss in case of
any default in repayment in respect of a loan facility
for the principal amount of up to RMB35,000,000

(equivalent to HK$42,004,200) drawn by that party.

(i) The amount represents government subsidy
received in advance in relation to leasehold
improvement on a property sub-leasing project. The

amount will be recognised in profit or loss over the

lease term of the property being leased.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-XRF=ZA=1+—H
31 March 2016

9. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX
(EXPENSE)/CREDIT

Loss before income tax (expense)/credit is arrived

9. BRATEBL(BIX) HERAEE

BRETS B (RS2 ) 45 2 A1 &5 18 B F0RR A

at after charging: T&IF -
2016 2015
—E-AE C—T-AfF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Amortisation on: ey
— intangible assets (note 19) — BEEENF19) 443,892 15,361,839
— deferred expenditure (note 22) — BERZ(KiF22) — 8,632,826
e ...........%43,892 23,994,665
Fair value loss on investment properties  REMEZ AN FEEEE
fnote 17) W17) ] 79897  —
Losses on disposal of subsidiaries, net HEWB QR 2 EEFE
_fnote 35) (Mjzt3s)  2574,197 16,030,080
Loss on disposal of associates  HEBEAFZES = 2912809
Loss on disposal of convertible loan HEMBRBEERZEZEE
oS = 1081473
Loss on disposal of available-for-sale HEMHREERE ZEE
amveStmeNtS — 1,630,320
Impairment losses on: MIERAE :
— available-for-sale investments — AEHERE — 147,964,021
— trade and other receivables — BB R EAEIE
(note 24) (Hiat24) 41,274,307 1,736,337
— goodwill (note 18) — EE(Mi7E18) 20,023,466 96,019,091
— intangible assets (note 19) — EmIEENZ19) 285,882 88,358,247
— deferred expenditure (note 22) — BERXZ (HiF22) = 2,268,500
— property, plant and equipment — W - BERHZE
(note 16) (Kizt16) 993,162 —
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 62,576,817 336,346,196
Written down of inventories to WREEZ R FE
__het realisable value fnote 23) | (WiEzs) ] 193260 =
Auditor’s remuneration  BEHME 1788000 2,090,000
CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED b= 4 A A R
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E—RE=A=+—H

31 March 2016

10. STAFF COSTS 10. BT KA
2016 2015
—E-RE —T—hF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Staff costs (including Directors) comprise: E T A(BFEES)BIE :
Salaries e 42,308,989 45,091,820
Contribution to defined contribution AERFURIKRET B 2 HER 2,892,764 3,856,922
pension plans
Other short-term monetary benefits HEmE ez 1,863,619 3,734,083
47,065,372 52,682,825
11. DIRECTORS’" AND SENIOR 1. EEREREEEMNS
MANAGEMENT’'S EMOLUMENTS
Directors’ emoluments BEEMS
The aggregate amounts of the Directors’ EEMSRBHT -
emoluments are as follows:
Salaries Retirement
and other scheme Benefits in
Fees benefits  contributions kind Total
#eR B
s Hi g7 SR BNRG g
2016 HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
ZE-RE BT BT BT BT BT
Executive directors ~ H{TES
Cheng Yang 5 - 3,720,600 18,000 - 3,738,600
Tsoi Tung (i ZW0) - 3,620,400 18,000 - 3,638,400
Lei Lei EE - 1,950,000 18,000 186,000 2,154,000
Huang Ranfei (i) EIRIE (i) - 1,939,500 18,000 - 1,957,500
Li Weipeng {iil) FRUE (i) 1,440,000 - - - 1,440,000
Independent BUFHTES
non-executive
directors
Tong Jingguo KREE 120,000 = = = 120,000
Yang Rusheng Bing 120,000 - - - 120,000
So Tat Keung BiER 120,000 - - - 120,000
1,800,000 11,230,500 72,000 186,000 13,288,500
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Bt 7% 2R & MY &=
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-XE=ZA=1+—8H

31 March 2016

1. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR 1. EEREREEEME @)
MANAGEMENT’'S EMOLUMENTS
(Continued)
Directors’ emoluments (Continued) BEEMe(E)
Salaries Retirement
and other scheme Benefits in
Fees benefits contributions kind Total
HeR AR

e Ethigd HEEES ENFla ek
2015 HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
—E-If AT AT A AT AT
Executive directors ~ HTEZ
Cheng Yang E15 - 3,720,600 17,500 - 3,738,100
Tsoi Tung (i 280 - 596,129 4,500 = 600,629
Lei Lei B - 1,950,000 17,500 184,500 2,152,000
Huang Ranfei (ii) BT (i) - 319,355 3,968 = 323,323
Li Weipeng (iii) B (i) 1,440,000 - - - 1,440,000
Independent BUFBITES

non-executive
directors
Tong Jingguo KREE 120,000 = = = 120,000
Yang Rusheng BinE 120,000 - - = 120,000
So Tat Keung BiER 120,000 - - - 120,000
1,800,000 6,586,084 43,468 184,500 8,614,052

No Directors waived their emoluments in respect of

the year ended 31 March 2016 (2015: nil).

Discretionary bonuses were granted based on
the performance of individual Directors and
were approved by the Company’s remuneration

committee.

Notes:

(i) The Director was appointed on 18 December 2014.

(ii) The Director was appointed on 28 January 2015.

(iii)  The Director was resigned with effect from 8 April

2016.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

11. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’'S EMOLUMENTS
(Continued)

Five highest paid individuals

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments
in the Group, four (2015: three) were Directors of
the Company whose emoluments are included in
the above.

The emoluments of the remaining one (2015: two)
highest paid individual in 2016 are as follows:

11.

Bt % R MY A

—ZET—R"F=A=+—H
31 March 2016

EELEHREEEMES 2

it

TERSHMAL
AEBRAARRSFMALH  mIR(Z
T—HF: ZRIRARAESE - HM
EEHEREX -

—E-AFER-R(CE-RF MW
H)RRFMALTZHMESMT

2016 2015
—E-XF ZZ—hF
HKS$ HK$
BT BT

Basic salaries, housing allowances, other EZ&R#H4 - EERAL - Hib
allowances and benefits in kind AR EYF = 1,780,000 3,220,000
Retirement scheme contributions RIRETEIH R 18,000 17,500
1,798,000 3,237,500

The emoluments are within the following band: EEL TEHEZA -

2016 2015
=EB-R"E —T-0F
Number of Number of
Employees  Employees
ESZH ES&H

HK$1,000,000 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,000,&7C 2 1,500,000
BT — 1

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 & 7T = 2,000,000
BT 1 1

ANNUAL REPORT 2016
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-XRF=ZA=1+—H
31 March 2016

11. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR

1. EENEREEEME »)

12.

MANAGEMENT'S EMOLUMENTS

(Continued)

Remuneration of senior management

Remuneration of senior management of the
Group, including amounts paid to the highest paid

B R EEE S M

AEEBEREEBFHM(BIE LXHAT
BENTEEUIIZESFMERZS

employees other than Directors as disclosed above, BEUTEHEZA -
are within the following bands:
2016 2015
—E-RXE —ZT—hF
Number of  Number of
Employees  Employees
ES&8H ESZH
HK$1,000,000 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,000/ L= 1,500,000
BT 1 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 &2 2,000,000
BT 1 1
FINANCE COSTS 12. MERA
2016 2015
=E-RF —T—nfF
HK$ HK$
BT =
Interest on bank borrowings IRITREZF A 3,371,646 3,805,261
Interest on other borrowings HEMEEZFIE = 508,007
3,371,646 4,313,268
CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED XA E R A AR A
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ‘»
—E—RE=A=1+—H
31 March 2016

13. INCOME TAX (EXPENSE)/CREDIT 13. FIB%H(BExR) &
The amount of income tax (expense)/credit in the EHEE2EWRERNZEH (X)),
consolidated statement of comprehensive income HPLEEIE
represents:
2016 2015
—B-XRF =—T—AF
HK$ HK$
ET BT
Current tax — Hong Kong profits tax WITHIE — BBMNEN
— tax for the year — AFEIE — o
— over/(under)-provision — BEFEZBERE
in respect of prior years (BBETZE) 768 (192,035)
768 (192,035)

Current tax — PRC Enterprise Income Tax IR{THIIE — REMDEMEH

— tax for the year — RNEERHIAE (60,981) (29,098)
— over-provision in — BAEFE 2 BERE
respect of prior years - 411,471

(60,981) 382,373

(765,325) 21,417,725

No Hong Kong profits tax has been provided within HREE_ZT-RFERZTE—AF=H
the Group as there is no estimated assessable T —HULEFEIEGHFERBRA -
profits for the year ended 31 March 2016 and 2015. AR EEN MR E B ETRE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZE-RE=ZA=+—H

31 March 2016

3. INCOME TAX (EXPENSE)/CREDIT 13.
(Continued)

The PRC subsidiaries are subject to PRC Enterprise
Income Tax at 25% (2015: 25%).

The income tax (expense)/credit for the year
can be reconciled to the loss before income tax
(expense)/credit per the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income as follows:

FRER(BEX) BRw)

hEMEARAKR25% (ZF—R%F:
25% ) Z TRE GBI BRI/ -

AEERBR(FAX) EeEFE2MH
WRRPHAER(FEX) ERrER
RIS

2016 2015

—E—XRE —E—FF

HK$ HK$

}gi /#E

Loss before income tax (expense)/credit BETEH (FX), B RaEE (133,046,719) (471,977,280)

Tax calculated at Hong Kong profits tax rate & BFIEHHE16.5%

of 16.5% (2015: 16.5%) (ZT—HF : 165%)5TEZ
IR 21,952,708 77,876,251

Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries REMBEZEEREEZHMBA
operating in other jurisdictions ANETRCEE 3,946,197 13,930,341

Tax effect of share of (losses)/profits of associates A 1EEEE AR (E1E),/S&H 2

MBTE (27,614) 101,697
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses AP 2 g2 (9,727,241)  (50,388,500)
Tax effect of non-taxable revenue BARTIM G 2 B2 2,648,713 12,644,644
Tax effect of deductible temporary differences RHER AN LB 2= 58 7 B
not recognised v (55,201) (76,742)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AR EEB 2R E (19,503,655)  (32,789,402)
Over-provision in respect of prior years BIEEFEBRERE 768 219,436
Income tax (expense)/credit IR (FX) e (765,325) 21,417,725

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED
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14.

15.

Bt % R MY A

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or proposed in respect of the
year ended 31 March 2016, nor has any dividend
been proposed since the end of reporting period
(2015: nil).

LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per
share attributable to the ordinary equity holders of
the Company is based on the following data:

—ZET—R"F=A=+—H
31 March 2016

14. RE
BE_ZT-—RF=A=+—HILFEY
EIRMNREZBRTEE - BREHRE

NEEZZRNEARE(ZE -2
;) o

15. BREE

ARREBABRESRHEARBZSRE
AREEEBIRBIATRIEAE -

2016 2015
—E—RE —E—RF
HK$ HK$

BT BT

Loss for the purpose of basic and diluted AEGESREARBESRY

loss per share BB

Loss for the year attributable to owners of RAREE NELAFEZ

the Company [E518

(131,334,493) (445,229,478)

Number of shares B&HEE

Weighted average number of ordinary shares  F{EstE G EREE
for the purpose of basic loss per share 2R NAE T 718,519,047 635,512,866

There are no dilutive effects on the share options
granted, as they are anti-dilutive.

ANNUAL REPORT 2016

i
EE
N
£
&5
W
X
e
dalt
=
=
H

133



V(B AS R OK M
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-R"F=A=+—H
31 March 2016

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. ¥ - BER®RE

Leasehold Furniture,
land and Leasehold fixtures and Plant and Motor
buildings improvements  equipment machinery vehicles Yacht Total
HELH EEN
REF HEYEEE RERRE  BEERER RE B #E
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT BT BT BT
Cost or valuation RAGHE
At 1 April 2014 RZE-NEMA—A 8,200,000 92,053,502 10,825,654 — 17,390,174 6,800,000 135,269,330
Surplus on revaluation BEARK 400,000 — — — — — 400,000
Additions 0 — 60,528,522 5,216,117 — 1,042,825 — 66,787,464
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHBAR
(note 35(c)) (His#35(c) = (9,743,918)  (5,462,709) (8,364,725) —  (23,571,352)
Disposals HE = (1,738,606)  (2,039,330) = (210,624) = (3,988,560)
Exchange differences EXER — 105,479 (5,826) — (23,256) — 76,397

At 31 March 2015 and RZZF—1F

1 April 2015 ZAZt-AR
—Z 8,600,000 141,204,979 8,533,906 9,834,394 6,800,000 174,973,279
Surplus on revaluation EhAH% 300,000 — — — — - 300,000
Additions 0 — 2,861,433 103,776 — 1,441,305 — 4,406,514
Acquisition of subsidiaries  WEEK B A7)

(note 36) (K1:£36) — 812,079 109,902 18,129 2,312,680 — 3,252,790
Disposal of subsidiaries ~ HEHBAA]

(note 35(a)) (Hiz£35(a)) —  (2,525,182) (984,605) - = —  (3,509,787)
Disposals HE —  (13,580,250) (625,752) = (1,344,392) —  (15,550,394)
Exchange differences EHZERE — (7,575,397) 304,887 (728) (697,485) — (7,968,723)
At 31 March 2016 RZF—RF

=A=1+—-H 8,900,000 121,197,662 7,442,114 17,401 11,546,502 6,800,000 155,903,679

Accumulated depreciation 2ETERRAE
and impairment

At 1 April 2014 RZZ—mEMA—A — 39,675,156 9,555,873 — 8,105,046 3,173,333 60,409,408
Charge for the year REFTH 254,006  7,448904 2,007,060 — 2,908,028 680,000 13,298,088
Eliminated on revaluation ~ EftE L34 (254,096) — — — = = (254,096)
Eliminated on disposals  H/EEE% —  (1,738606)  (2,015,755) = (210,284) —  (3,964,645)
Disposal of subsidiaries ~ HEMBAF

(note 35(c)) (Hiz#35(c)) —  (9743,918)  (4,038,063) —  (8,026,845) —  (21,808,826)
Exchange differences ELEE — (25,858) (3,127) - (24,419) S (53,404)

At 31 March 2015 and RZE—HF

1 April 2015 ZRA=+-8k
—Z-RFEMA-A — 35,515,678 5,505,988 = 2,751,526 3,853,333 47,626,525
Charge for the year AFEELH 275,037 9,605,824 1,807,118 6,915 3,594,618 680,000 15,969,512
Impartment loss RESE = 202,549 156,211 10,851 623,551 = 993,162
Eliminated on revaluation ~ BffE %4 (275,037) = = — — — (275,037)
Eliminated on disposals HERHH —  (1,539,016) (658,245) — — (2,197,261
Disposal of subsidiaries ~ HEKBAR
(note 35(a)) (Wit 35(a) —  (2,525,182) (984,605) — — — (3,509,787
Exchange differences BHZEE —  (2,318,302) (437,785) (365) (468,028) —  (3,224,480)
At 31 March 2016 RZF—RE
=A=+-H — 38,941,551 5,388,682 17,401 6,501,667 4,533,333 55,382,634
Net book value REFE
At 31 March 2016 RZE—RE
Zf=t-8 8,900,000 82,256,111 2,053,432 = 5,044,835 2,266,667 100,521,045
At 31 March 2015 RZF—8F
=A=+-H 8,600,000 105,689,301 3,027,918 = 7,082,868 2,946,667 127,346,754
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ‘»
—E—RE=A=+—H
31 March 2016

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. ¥1%¥ - MERZE#)

(Continued)
The analysis of the net book value or valuation of UNEBER-_T—RF=ZA=+—RH2
the above assets at 31 March 2016 is as follows: REFESHEI>TOT
Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures
land and Leasehold and Plant and Motor
buildings improvements  equipment machinery vehicles Yacht Total
HELH g &
kEF NEEE  HERRE  HERES RE i fag
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
AT AT A7 AT AT AT AT
At cost A - 82,256,111 2,053,432 - 5,044,835 2,266,667 91,621,045
At 2016 professional  E-F-~EZ
valuation E2fE 8,900,000 - - - - - 8,900,000
8,900,000 82,256,111 2,053,432 - 5,044,835 2,266,667 100,521,045
The analysis of the net book value or valuation of NEEER-_ZTE—RAFE=ZA=1+—HZ
the above assets at 31 March 2015 is as follows: BREFESEEI AT
Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures
land and Leasehold and Plant and Motor
buildings improvements  equipment machinery vehicles Yacht Total
HELH g &
kEF NEEE  KERRE  BERES RE i} an
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
AT AT AT AT AT AT AT
At cost AR - 105,689,301 3,027,918 - 7,082,868 2,946,667 118,746,754
At 2015 professional  E-F-R%Z
valuation X 8,600,000 - - - - - 8,600,000

8,600,000 105,689,301 3,027,918 1,082,868 2,946,667 127,346,754
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‘ NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ET—RF=ZA=+—H
31 March 2016

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. ¥1% - BMERZE#)

136

(Continued)

The Group's leasehold land and building is located
in Hong Kong and the carrying value is as follows:

AEBZHELHEEFUREBRE
HEWT :

2016 2015
—E-XFE ZT—AF
HK$ HKS$
Er BT

Properties located in Hong Kong NREBZYME
Lease between 10 to 50 years NF10E 50 FHEL 8,900,000 8,600,000

Leasehold land and buildings were revalued at 31
March 2016 and 2015 on the open market value
basis by APAC Asset Valuation and Consulting
Limited (“APAC"). The valuation was mainly arrived
at by reference to comparable market transactions.
A net revaluation surplus of HK$480,156 (2015:
HK$546,171) was credited to other properties
revaluation reserve, after netting off applicable
deferred tax expense of HK$94,881 (2015:
HK$107,925).

The fair value of the leasehold land and buildings in
Hong Kong of HK$8,900,000 as at 31 March 2016
(2015: HK$8,600,000) is a Level 2 recurring fair
value measurement.

The carrying amount of leasehold land and building
of the Group would have been HK$664,027
(2015: HK$688,298) had they been stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses.

At 31 March 2016 and 2015, the Group did not
pledge any property, plant and equipment.

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED

HETMREFERTAEETHRE
MAERAR(TEARDEARMEREER
—E-XER_ZE—RHF=ZA=+—H
i HEZE2ENELBRTERS
S - BEHABRFE480,156 8L (ZF
—HF : 546,171 8 L) EFF AR
BhEE - WEHNBRERZEERER
94,881 o(— T — F 4 : 107,925
BIL) °

MRZZT—XRNEZA=+—8 REBZ
HE T REF 2 A FE(E8,900,000
Bt(ZZT—FHF :8,600,000/87T) A
BA2EEEANFEETSE -

HARER MBS+ REFIHKAR
EBRFERERBEREBBIE  HE
H A& 56640278 L(ZF —HF:
688,298 87T) °

R-E—RER_E—RHF=ZA=+—
C AEBWEBBETMADE  BEM
& o

% m
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17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 17. BEWHE

2016 2015

—E-XE ZT—AF

HK$ HK$

BT BT

At 1 April REA—H 6,326,550 6,199,271
Change in fair value NI EEE (79,897) 127,279

At 31 March R=A=+—H 6,246,653 6,326,550

(a) Investment properties were revalued at 31 (a) BREWER-_Z—REER=ZT—TF

March 2016 and 2015 on the open market
value basis by an independent valuer, Daeil
Appraisal Board. The valuation was mainly
arrived at by reference to comparable market
data. There were no changes to the valuation
technique during the year.

At 31 March 2016 and 2015, the Group did not (b)
pledge any investment property.

At 31 March 2016, the fair value of the (c)
investment properties in Korea of approximately
HK$6,247,000 (2015: HK$6,327,000) is level 2

recurring fair value measurement. The fair value
measurement is based on the above properties’

highest and best use, which does not differ

from their actual use.

The Group's investment properties are (d)
analysed at their carrying values as follows:

FZAZ-Z+ - BHBILGEARM
Daeil Appraisal Board {2 A5
BEELSEME HEXZELEZAE
HETSEIEER - RAFE - &
BRI EEAES -

R-ZB-—AR"ER-F—HF=A
=t+—H  AEETEERTAR
ek

RZE—-RNE=ZA=+—H8 R
BRCREMEZLAFEED
6,247,000% (= & — A F:
6,327,000 8 T0) BEHK 2L E R
FEENE - AFEEAETIER
FimEZzEa k&ERR - B
EEHEERAREER -

AEB 2 REMEREREED T
W

2016 2015
—B-x"f ZTRF
HK$ HK$
BT T

Investment properties located NREEZIREYE
in Korea
Freehold KAERE

6,246,653 6,326,550
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18. GOODWILL AND IMPAIRMENT

18. BERREE

Provision of
intellectual Sludge
property Property and sewage
enforcement sub-leasing treatment
services business business Total
21t
MBERE MESE ERRkEK
HRERE £ BEFEL k)
(note (a)) (note (b)) (note (c))
(Wit (a) (Hizt b)) (Wit (c)
HKS HK$ HK$ HKS
BT BT BT BT
Cost B
At 1 April 2014, RZE-MEMA—A -
31 March 2015 and —E-RFE=A=1—H
1 April 2015 k—E-RFMA—H 79,427,363 16,591,728 = 96,019,091
Acquisition (note 36) WeBE (H1236) — = 20,023,466 20,023,466
At 31 March 2016 RZE-"F=ZA=+—H 79,427,363 16,591,728 20,023,466 116,042,557
Impairment RE
At 1 April 2014 RZE—EmA—R — — — —
Impairment loss REEE (79,427,363) (16,591,728) — (96,019,091)
At 31 March 2015 and R-Z-RF=A=1—-8Bk
1 April 2015 “Z-hFMA—AH (79,427,363) (16,591,728) — (96,019,091)
Impairment loss (note 36) REEHE(A752 36) — — (20,023,466) (20,023,466)
At 31 March 2016 RZE-RF=ZA=+—A (79,427,363) (16,591,728) (20,023,466) (116,042,557
Carrying value IREE
At 31 March 2016 RZE-—R"E=A=1+—H == == == =
At 31 March 2015 RZE-A%=ZA=1+—H _ = = =
CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED X2k EER A A
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

18. GOODWILL AND IMPAIRMENT
(Continued)

In accordance with HKAS 36
assets”,

“Impairment of
management of the Group performed

impairment test for goodwill allocated to the

Group's various cash generating units (“CGUs")

by comparing their recoverable amounts to their

carrying amounts at the end of the reporting period.

The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined

based on value-in-use calculation.

(a)

The recoverable amount of the CGU in
relation to provision of intellectual property
enforcement services was zero and
determined from value-in-use calculation
based on cash flow projections covering from
2015 to 2022, which is the period whereby
an exclusive right has been granted to the
Group by the MVCM Association to provide
intellectual property enforcement services.
Discount rate of 15.5% per annum is used
in the calculation which was provided by
APAC for the year ended 31 March 2015.
The key assumption have been determined
by the Group’s management based on
past performance and its expectations
for the industry development.
year ended 31 March 2015, the goodwill
of HK$79,427,363 was fully impaired and
impairment loss on intangible assets of
HK$68,494,242 were provided (note 19(b)). It
was because the revenue generated from the

During the

CGU has dropped. The Directors considered
that the customer, the karaoke venue
operators, were affected by the reduction in
expenditures in entertainment and recreation
activities in the PRC and the industry would

experience no growth in future.

ANNUAL REPORT 2016
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18. BERBEE)

ERAELEES
'l

R E 365 & & 2
FEEEEERAKERREE

HEBM([CGUDRIEMRZ AT EE

FREAREELE

MARERCGUZ

BEEETRERNR - CGUZAIE £
TREREBEAEEETE -

EHREBENBEEERRS 2
CGUZRAIKEI £ AT « THiR
BT RFET_FrRe
MEBATIZEREBTEEE
T ZAEEREEERRER
BERAEEE D BRENARMH
MBEEEERS 2HME - REZE
—AHAFE=A=+—HLEFE "
ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁi¢w5%z
BRIRE « TERBIVALREEE
ME#LEEE&Eﬁﬁiﬁf
JIEHmMEE REBEE-_Z—1
FZA=Z+—BHLEFER BE
79,427,363 LB & EUR B & &
A E 2R EE1E68,494,242 7%
TLERTIRBE (M FE19(0) - Ty
MR CGUEL Z IR A TERATEL -
BEEZRE BP - FHOKSHLE
ERXPRERERKMEBHAXT
WO E - WITERRGEER -
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—E-XRF=ZA=1+—H
31 March 2016

18. GOODWILL AND IMPAIRMENT
(Continued)

(b)

On 8 July 2011, the Group acquired the
entire issued share capital of BoRen Cultural
Development Limited (“BoRen”) which is
engaged in sub-leasing of properties and
facilities in Nanjing, the PRC. The estimated
recoverable amount was HK$103,015,144
and determined from value-in-use calculation.
These calculations use pre-tax cash flow
projections based on financial budgets
approved by management covering a five-
year period. Cash flows beyond the five-year
period are extrapolated using a 5% revenue
growth rate per annum. Discount rate of 10%
per annum was used in the calculation which
was provided by APAC in 2015 with reference
to similar companies. The key assumptions
have been determined by the Group's
management based on past performance and
its expectations for the industry development.
During the year ended 31 March 2015, the
goodwill of HK$16,591,728 was fully impaired,
it was mainly due to keen competition in
property market and adverse economic
environment in the PRC, and significant
investments in renovation of leasehold
improvements for sustaining the growth in
future.

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED

18. BERBEZ)

(b)

RZZBE——FEANR - REE
88 BoRen Cultural Development
Limited - XL BERER D F
(MECHza2H2BTRA
BCRPEEREEMERR
Mo Me EAKERER
103,015,144 %70 - WiREREME
SHEAET c ZEHERAREE
EEMERETFHACYBESR
E 2 BAER e mETEA - AFH
MEsCRERENKAETFEL% 2
WaitREER - R —HF -
FTERADA2ERE R AEIEH
BF10% 2R E - FB/BETY
BASEEEEREATREAERLA
HITRERBHMEE - BHEZ
TR =-RA=1+—HULFE &
216,691,728 L E 2 BURE -
T E Z RN T 5 5 R
RURAFIGEIRE - UERRHEEYD
EREVEE ERIRE MR R KIE
RFTEL

L EREERA R
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

18. GOODWILL AND IMPAIRMENT
(Continued)

(c)

On 5 August 2015, the Group completed
the acquisition of 51% equity interest of
Suzhou Great Research & Industrialization
Co., Ltd* (BAMBHHFRRAMBREXERAR
AR)) (“Great Research”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Great Group”) at an aggregated
consideration of RMB31,435,514 (equivalent
to HK$39,303,823).
principally engaged in the operation of sludge

The Great Group is

and sewage treatment plants in the PRC. The
estimated recoverable amount was zero and
determined from value-in-use calculation based
on cash flow projections covering a five-year
period. Discount rate of 17.6% per annum is
used in the calculation which was provided
by Vigers Appraisal & Consulting Limited
("Vigers"”) for the year ended 31 March 2016.
The key assumption is have been determined
by the Group’s management based on past
performance and its expectations for the
industry development.

During the year ended 31 March 2016, the
goodwill of HK$20,023,466 was fully impaired
(2015: nil) and impairment loss on intangible
assets of HK$285,882 (2015: nil) were made
(note 19(f)) as certain potential projects were
suspended due to expiration and are pending
for re-negotiation and financing. As a result,
as at 31 March 2016, the directors expect the
future profit generated by the Great Group will
be minimal.

All the discount rates used above are pre-tax

and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant

segments.
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18. BERBEE)

(c)

RZZ—RAFNARA  AEE®
PR B R NS IR R IR R B E %
BRERAR(BIHRFERARRE]D
&EW%@*UV%%%ID
Z51% M BREABARE
31,435,51471($ETTEé39,303,823
BIL) - BIGFEBEZRENS
&858 KI5 /KRIERR © fh5Ta]
WEl&EAT - W IREREMER
BEABBERESFHMZESRE
TEEU?XIE b_/\@:l:fé /\i:ﬂ
=T—HIEFE  HERXRAEE
HEEFHBEBBRLQB(EHE
HDIREESF17.6% ZBHIH K -
FTERRIBASEEEERER
ARBREHITERR 2 TEHMmME

=)

IE °

BEe_E—X"&F=ZA=+—HIt
FE 20,023,466 L (—E—H
F:-H|ICHEBERHYRE K
2858828 (T —HF: &)
(PFFE19(f) 2 BB EC KETIR
WERE HTECHNEERA
B EEREERREREM
%ﬁolﬁ'% _AE*H
=+—HB EESTHHRHEEERE
RIRAGE AR FIERERK o

N EFRBZ 28R EG/BA - WK
RSB ERR -
.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 March 2016

19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 19. BLEE
Provision of
copyright ~ Provision of
licence fees intellectual Customer
settlement property relationship
and collection  enforcement Golf club  and customer Films
services services  memberships contracts in progress Patent Total
Rl Rt BRAR
BHELER HAER E&3  ZPFBER
&R Rk gk ¥Faf Bf9EY & 5
(note (a)) (note (b) (note (c) (note (d) [note () (note (f)
(Wit (Wit ) (Wit ) (Witie) (W)
HK$ HKS HKS HKS HKS HK$ HKS
B B B # s o B
At 1 April 2014 HAZ5-MERA-R 2494119 118,986,397 2,325,914 38.410,000 20,430,490 — 184,646,920
Disposal of subsicaries (note 35(c) HEMBATAZ50)  (2458580) - (824,563) - - - 2369
Disposal ik S S - — (244074 - (40m
Exchange differences EXZE (35,534) 145712 [1,331) - 13564 = 122431
At 31 March 2016 and 1 April 2015 R-F-2%=A=1-A
R=5-15MA-H — 119,132,109 1,500,000 38,410,000 - — 159,042,109
Acquisiton of subsidiaries (ote 36 KEMBAR Hi235) = = = = = 627,109 627,109
Exchange differences EXZE - - - - - (27,049) (27,049)
At 31 March 2016 AZF-nEZAz1-A - 119132109 1,500,000 38,410,000 - 600,060 159,642,169
Accumulated amortisation ERAENAE
and impairment
At 1 April 2014 HoF-MERA-A 587,404 38,677,292 360,389 1,367,758 - - 54,992,840
Amortisation for th year 1ERRE 180719 11,905,897 1688 317820 - - 1361839
Impairment loss ERE — 884 - 19,864,006 - - 883
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 35(c)  EMBLH Wi aan) (747,185) = = = = = (747,185)
Exchange differences EiZE (938) B4.578 - - - - 53,640
At31 March 2015 and 1 Aprl 2015 H-F-TE=A=1-R
R-F-nEMA-H - 119132109 amnm 38,410,000 - — 158019381
Amortisation for the year KRR - - 116,883 - - 327,009 14389
Impaiment loss EBE - - - = = 285,882 285,882
Exchange differences EXZE - - - - - (12.831) (12.831)
At 31 March 2016 AF-REZA=T-R — 119132109 594,155 38410,000 - 600,060 158,736,324
Net book value BEFE
At 31 March 2016 AZF-nEZ A=A - - 905,845 - - - 905,845
At 31 March 2015 H-5-RF=Az1-A - - 1,022,728 - - - 1,022,728
CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED X ELEERA A



Bt % R MY A

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(a)

Provision of copyright licence fees settlement
and collection services represents the
exclusive right in respect of the karaoke
copyright in the PRC managed and
administered by the China Audio-Video
Copyright Association for a period of 10
years from 27 December 2007. During the
year ended 31 March 2015, intangible asset
in relation to provision of copyright licence
fees settlement and collection services was
disposed through disposal of subsidiaries (see
note 35(c)).

The recoverable amount of the CGU of
provision of intellectual property enforcement
services to which the intellectual property
enforcement services right is allocated
has been determined by the value-in-
use calculation, the details of which are
disclosed in note 18(a). As at 31 March 2015,
impairment loss of HK$68,494,242 was
recognised due to the reason as described in
note 18(a).

For the purpose of impairment testing on
the golf club memberships, the recoverable
amount has been determined based on fair
value less costs to sell. The fair value less
costs to sell is referenced to the second-hand
market price of the golf club memberships
less estimated costs of disposal. During
the years ended 31 March 2016 and 2015,
no impairment loss was recognised since
the recoverable amount of the golf club
memberships exceeded its carrying amount.

Customer relationship and customer contracts
represent the long established relationship
China Resources Advertising & Exhibition
Company Limited, the Company’s subsidiary,
and its subsidiaries (the “CRA Group”), which
acts as an organiser and contractor for all
kinds of exhibition events and meeting events
mainly in Hong Kong, with the Hong Kong
Trade Development Council (“HKTDC") and
various sub-councils of the China Council for
the Promotion of International Trade in the
PRC for large-scale trade fairs, which are
mostly organised by HKTDC. The CRA Group
has been consistently appointed by HKTDC as
the sole agent of China Pavilion for the Hong
Kong Fashion Week.

ANNUAL REPORT 2016

—ZET—R"F=A=+—H
31 March 2016

19. BEEE (&)

(a)

IR RE R T B A E LN ERE
FHETEEGEFEERERW
2EENREE R BE R OKMRIE
ZIEBRERN A -EZTZ+F+ A
“t+EtREBFABIOF - HEZ
T—HF=ZA=+—HIFE A
FIRMRESTEEE RIS RS
ZEFEESBLENBARLS
(R MI5E35(C)) °

BEDOMMBEEEERTE ZIE
MEABEREEERBCCU 2T I
O &R FEREENEEETE
HFBERME18@EFEE - N T
—HF=ZA=1+—8 "  ERXWHF
18(@) it 232 EHERRERE
868,494,242 47T ©

BRI S 2 IRERR
ms AIRESEEEAFEEBE
I EKRABE - AFEBERBEES
RARTI2E S BRI 5E
“FMERGTHERAMES -
BE_Z—"FER-ZZET—HF=HA
Z+t—BILFE  BRERAERE
GmesE o bl Ee RN EERMA
B M EERREEIE -

EPBAEREPEMNEARRZH
BRATBEEEREARARRE

MEBAR(TEESEE] A%
BUTERNEEENCRE
B ERARACE)EAEE
RERSEZERR(BEESR
BOETEERESREZS S
ZEADGRAAREL 2 BB -
BRAMDEBTBEERIMW -+
BESSEE -HEEEERRRIME
REAFRKATEBEREZBRA
e
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—E-XRF=ZA=1+—H
31 March 2016

19.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(d)

()

(Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2015, the
estimated recoverable amounts of the above
CGU were zero and determined based on
the value-in-use approach. These calculations
use pre-tax cash flow projections based on
financial budgets approved by management
covering a six-year period with reference
to the remaining useful life of customer
relationship and customer contracts. Discount
rate of 15% is used in the calculation which
was provided by APAC for the year ended 31
March 2015. The key assumptions have been
determined by the Group’s management based
on past performance and its expectations for
the industry development. As at 31 March
2015, impairment loss of HK$19,864,005
was recognised in respect of the customer
relationship and customer contracts as the
Directors consider the clients of the CRA
Group are primarily the PRC based textile
manufacturers which are recently facing the
industry downturn, and in addition, the drop in
the client base of the CRA Group due to the
exhibitions held in the PRC attract a significant
number of the existing clients of the CRA
Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2015, films in
progress were fully disposed.

Patent represents the technologies for
sludge and sewage treatment. Patent with
carrying amount of HK$285,882 is attributable
to the same CGU with which the goodwill
amount is recognised for the sludge and
sewage treatment business. As at 31 March
2016, impairment loss of HK$285,882 was
recognised due to the reason as described
in note 18(c). Details of the impairment
assessment of that CGU are set out in note
18(c).

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED

BEEEH)

(d)

(%)

HE-Z—RAF=A=+—A8H1
FE - i CGU Z T i e &
HATNERFEREEELIET - %E
TERARBEEREBIERE T
HEZMBREE  K2EEFEE
REFEH 2T A{EAFEED
Z@éﬁﬁfﬁiumgfé Bl e AHZZZ
—hAF=ZA=+—HILFE  F&
HA15% 2R XK Ty KR
e FERBITAAEBEEER
BRARREESITERR 2 B
MEE -R-_E—RAF=ZA=+—
A BEFEAREFANERA
B 5518 219,864,005 7T ° Itk )b
AREERE  FEESSECE
EEZAUFREAZEMZ KK
BUERg - B EAMEETTERIR - 1t
N AREREER Z RER | F
BESEBAERAESL WPH
BEEBEPEMRBD -

BE_Z-RF=-A=+—HL*F
B HEREFCE2BHE -

FERIEERRTKEIE 2 il - Bk
E{E /5 285,882 /8 702 BRI YT
TERSTIKBRIRETSFTER < BB K
BERACGU ° W—%—ﬁ¢*
A=+—8 ZER EXH:E18(c
Frift 2 J]RA - wa%z%mzm@
B AER - CGURIERTEZ
FEBEHAEE 18(c) ©
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20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

—ZET—R"F=A=+—H
31 March 2016

20. BE QT 2B

2016 2015
ZE-XE Z—T—hfF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Share of net assets of associates DB E REEEFE 8,811,556 —
Goodwill Bl 29,942,499 —
38,754,055 o
Percentage of Percentage of
Particulars of equity interests ownership
issued Place of Place of Principal indirectly held interests directly
Name of associate shares held incorporation operation activities by the Group held by the Group
FisRegT AEEmE AEBEERE
BENRER B 215 TMRIEYE  SEE TEER EERAERAANL BRERERAIN
2016 2016
ZT-RF —E-RF
BBEATRAREAER  RMB15,000,000 The PRC The PRC Sludge and sewage 40% 20.4%
AR('EBAE)  ARE15000,000 +E Ll treatment
(note (a)) (32 (a) BRRAKER
HEEZRERNE RMB10,000,000 The PRC The PRC Environmental 16.5%* 8.4%
BRARE(C HERZR") ARE10,000,0007 +E Ll engineering
(note (b)) (Hiz# (b)) RETRE

J Although the Group’s ownership interest in /G2
is less than 20%, E/&#Z s article of association
allow the Group to appoint one out of six directors
of the board. The Directors of the Company
therefore consider they have the power to exercise
significant influence and have treated the interest in
/822 as an associate.
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31 March 2016

20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 20. BERNTR 2= (#)

On 5 August 2015, the Group acquired 51% equity
interests of Great Group, after completion of the
acquisition, the Group is indirectly held 40% equity
interest of EXE and 16.5% equity interest of
B#E2 . The carrying amount of the interests in
associates held by Great Group was remeasured at
fair value at acquisition date.

For the purpose of impairment testing on the
interests in associates, the recoverable amount has
been determined by the value-in-use calculation

R-ZE—FFNAABE  NEFRER
IR E 51% IR - RIRBBEAE - &N
SEMEREEBRT40% BRAERE R
EBER165% BRAEZ - BERITS
EFERBE QR R REEDRK
BRBZEATEEEHNNE -

R E AR R ETRENRARE
BmE - TR IERREREE
AEEREEFEZRERTFHRRMER

EREF176%METE - REEHK
AEBERERTE  ARREERT]
Bmz A O eESRNEREE - &R
B RERY BRE -

based on cash flow forecast projections covering
a five-year period at a discount rate of 17.6%
per annum. At the end of the reporting period,
management of the Group determines that there
was no impairment of the interests in associates
as the recoverable amount of the interests in
associates exceeds their carrying amount.

(a)  Summarised financial information of &KX, (a) FEBRE(EABERR) Z2HFE
the material associate, adjusted for any RBEE RS BER 2T EEE
LI BT

differences in accounting policies, are
disclosed below:

As at

31 March 2016
R=FB—~%F
=R=+-—-H
HK$

BT

Current assets REEE 1,015,848
Non-current assets EREEE 37,596,855
Current liabilities ViEIR=RE (20,916,201)

Net assets BEFE 17,696,502
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ‘}
—E-RF=A=+—H
31 March 2016

20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 20. BERNTR 2R (#)

(a) (Continued) (a) (#&)

Period from

5 August 2015
(date of
acquisition) to
31 March 2016
—E—HEF
NA&H
(WEBEH)E

S
=A=+—BH#H
HK$

BT

Revenue Wz 523,579
Loss from operations and total LEBEREER Y A%
comprehensive expenses (299,258)

(b)  Summarised financial information of immaterial (b) FEEREERRZHBERBEDN
associate is as follows: N

Period from

5 August 2015
(date of
acquisition) to
31 March 2016
—E-8F
NAAH
(RERE) =
—E-REF
ZA=+—BHHB
HK$

BT

Loss from operations and total KEBHEREERAS R85
comprehensive expenses (288,803)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZE-RE=ZA=+—H

31 March 2016

21. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS 21.

AHEERE

2016 2015
HK$ HK$
—E-RE —T—HF
BT BT
Listed securities in Hong Kong, at fair BEZ LTHES
value (note (a)) BRAFEEN T (@) 12,791,336 21,268,209
Unlisted equity securities in the PRC, at ~ FEIE FIRANES -
cost (note (b)) WA ([ 52 (b)) 30,296,022 =
Contingent consideration in related to EHEKERBARZ
acquisition of subsidiary (note (c)) HARRE (M aE () — =
43,087,358 21,268,209
Notes: Bist -

(a) As at 31 March 2016, the listed securities in Hong
Kong represented mainly the equity interests in
Brockman Mining Limited and Leyou Technologies
Holdings Limited (2015: Cosmopolitan International
Holdings Limited) which are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange.

During the year ended 31 March 2016, net fair value
gain on the available-for-sale investments of the
Group amounted to HK$11,089,281 (2015: net fair
value loss of HK$79,066,044) was recognised in
other comprehensive income. During the year ended
31 March 2015, HK$49,216,428 was reclassified
to profit or loss as the Directors considered the
decline in fair value constituted objective evidence
of impairment.

The fair values of listed equity investments are
based on quoted market prices.

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

21. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

On 8 June 2015, Shenzhen Wendi Multimedia
Technology Company Limited* (& 3l 7 X i % %
B2 R 1T B BR 2 7 ) (“Shenzhen Wendi”), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a sale and purchase agreement with
Guangwei Technology Group Limited* (& % & £
£ E AR 2 7 )("Guangwei”), pursuant to which
Shenzhen Wendi conditionally agreed to purchase
and Guangwei conditionally agreed to sell the
9.5% of the subscribed capital contribution of
Chongging Lianshun Hegi Venture Investment
Fund Partnership* (EEBIEA RAEIEREEZSEK
%) (“Lianshun”) at a consideration equivalent to
HK$32,000,000 in RMB.

Lianshun is an investment fund principally engaged
in unconventional oil/gas industry in the PRC.

As at 31 March 2016, the unlisted equity securities
with a carrying amount of HK$30,296,022 (2015: nil)
were stated at cost less impairment.

The contingent consideration in relation to
acquisition of subsidiaries was secured by 40%
equity interests of Elite-China Cultural Development
Limited (“Elite-China”), an indirect non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, which was held
by FeiFan Cultural Development Limited, a non-
controlling shareholder of Elite-China.

The contingent consideration of approximately
RMB82,000,000 (equivalent to HK$103,523,589)
as at 31 March 2015 related to acquisition of
subsidiaries was valued at 31 March 2015 on option
pricing model basis by APAC, an independent
professional valuer. During the year ended 31
March 2015, the Group recognised impairment
loss on the contingent consideration based on the
accounting policy stated in note 4(j)(ii) amounted
to HK$98,747,593 in other comprehensive income
and HK$98,747,593 was reclassified to profit or loss
as there are indications that the vendor may have
potential financial difficulty as at 31 March 2015.

ANNUAL REPORT 2016

(b)

—ZET—R"F=A=+—H
31 March 2016

21. JHEERE®)

Biet - (&)

R-Z—RFENANB - FIIH
ZEEEMAER AT (CRIITH M)
(ARRzEEE2ENBRR ) EEY
BEsEEaRAREMDIVES
Wk F RV CO B G R
EHEREMAERTHRAELEEE
BIEARAIEREES AN E(H
JEDN B REHEREZ295%  REA
32,000,0008TC 2 ARIEZEE o

BIEA—EREES  TENPTEK
EHRFHBRITE -

R-B-—XE=A=+—08 " BKEE
30,296,022 T (ZE—HFE - |) 2
IE_E TR ANEE & Th A AN R R B Y
EE °

ERANEIERR 2 ARBUAARR
AlHEF2EMBRARIREST RN
bERAERAR(REFTE]) ZIFE
%% % FeiFan Cultural Development
Limited 5 B 2 REE H40% B HEF
A -

FRUWBHNBARZHARER =
T—hAF=-A=Z=+—HHAREK
82,000,000t (#H % 7 103,523,589
BR)IR-_Z—RHF=ZA=+—H
RRBVEEGEMEAZHEEE
EXEEETHE HE-_Z—A2F
“A=+—HLFE BHRBETRE
REAAER-_E—RAE=A=+—
AEEBEGERESE  WAEEER
BHFEAG) )Tl 2 € 5T BUR R H A
PEBEFERIAREZHRERSE
98,747,593,8 7T ' 198,747,593 T
BEEHMOEEEE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-XRF=ZA=1+—H
31 March 2016

22. DEFERRED EXPENDITURE 22. EERMX
HK$
BT
Cost 2%
At 1 April 2014 RZZE—MFMNA—H 244,902,404
Additions #Ehn 6,971,639
At 31 March 2015, 1 April 2015 and R-E—RFE=ZA=+—8 -

31 March 2016 ZE-AFMA-—HBRZZE—RF
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, =A=t—8 251874043
Accumulated amortisation and impairment ZBE#&HKREE
At 1 April 2014 RZFE—EOFEOH—H 240,972,717
Amortisation for the year AR EHE 8,632,826
Impairment loss BIEFE 2,268,500
At 31 March 2015, 1 April 2015 and RZE—RF=A=+—8"

31 March 2016 ZE-AFMA—BRZZE—RF

=A=+—H 251,874,043
Carrying amount REE
At 31 March 2015 and 31 March 2016 RZE—RHF=A=1+—HK
—E-XE=ZA=+—H ==
CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED TR EHRA A
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22. DEFERRED EXPENDITURE (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2015, the Group
entered into cooperation agreements with various
copyright holders for the business of collecting
license fees from karaoke operators in the PRC for
their use of licensed audio-visual works on behalf of
the copyright holders.

As a condition of the agreements, the Group
advanced the sum of HK$6,971,639 during the year
ended 31 March 2015 to the copyright holders as
their guaranteed share of the expected profit on
license fees that will be earned.

The recoverable amount of the deferred expenditure
has been determined by the value-in-use calculation,
which was also used for the impairment testing of
goodwill in connection with the CGU of provision of
intellectual property enforcement services. Details
of the calculation are disclosed in note 18(a).
For the year ended 31 March 2015, the deferred
expenditure of HK$2,268,500 was fully impaired
due to the reason as described in note 18(a).

ANNUAL REPORT 2016
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22. IR (#)

RBE-_Z-—AF=A=+—HL*F
B AEBEESAREREAFLAE
Wik REEBRKRREREARTH
ZRAOKZERMEREBRIRLY
BEmAEBRGFRER IR -

ERZEHE 2 —BEY  AEERE
E-T-FF-A=+—HALEEAR
BB NS 3E6,971,6398 L 0 1E
AEEERIETRERA ZERRF
REBDHE -

BERY 2 BB RERBER
HEAEBT st EETNAEGRREMN
BEEEERE ZCCUZEERED
R FTEEAHIBRME18()EE - B
E-ZT—RAFE-ZA=+—HBHIFE"
ERKE18@ iz EH  ETEHX
2,268,500 TE 2 8URE -
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—ET—RF=ZA=+—H
31 March 2016

23. INVENTORIES 23. &
2016 2015
—E-RE ZT—hF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Food and beverages B 23,916,372 24,790,667
Artwork 21753 8,640,569 6,659,825
32,556,941 31,450,492
For the year ended 31 March 2016, write-down of HE_Z—ARF=-A=+—HBLFE"
inventories to net realisable value of approximately FEMBZE & FE4%193,2608 7T
HK$193,260 was made. B -
24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 24. BB R R EMFRIE
2016 2015
___g_/\ﬂE :g—ﬁﬁ
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Trade debtors (note (a)) FEWE K (HT4E (a) 12,641,943 37,466,143
Deposits, prepayments and other e BN FIEREMEKFIR
receivables (note (b)) (K17 (b)) 32,305,785 22,277,913
Loan receivables (note (c)) EWE K (HTEE (c) 28,369,700 27,722,772
Deposits for acquisition of subsidiaries
(note (d)) U B A Rl 2 =& (M3 (a)) — 110,000,000

73,317,428 197,466,828
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

Notes:

(a)

The ageing analysis of trade receivables based on
invoice date after impairment loss is as follows:

—ZET—R"F=A=+—H
31 March 2016

24. BWERRHMKRE E)

(a) RUEFRMBREBRERZERA
HEHZREIMOT

2016 2015

—EB-RF —E-RF

HK$ HK$

BT T

Within 90 days 90 HA 12,116,796 18,710,907
91 days to 365 days 91 H&E365H 18,088 11,002,411
More than 365 days 8@ 365 H 507,059 7,752,825

12,641,943 37,466,143

The below table reconciles the impairment loss of

EWE RN AFE 2 REBEE R

trade receivables for the year: BIRTE -
2016 2015
—E-XREF —T—0F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
At 1 April REA—H - 10,496,203
Impairment loss recognised BEERREEE 40,409,960 —
Bad debts written off AR M EH - (10,496,203)
At 31 March R=A=+—8H 40,409,960 —

The Group recognised impairment loss on individual
assessment based on the accounting policy stated
in note 4(j)(ii).

The Group generally grants no credit period to its
customers, except for transactions with customers
in exhibition-related services, in which credit period
ranging from 30 to 60 days is granted.

ANNUAL REPORT 2016
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZE-RE=ZA=+—H

31 March 2016

24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)  The below table reconciles the impairment loss of
deposits, prepayment and other receivables for the

24. BWERRHMRE #)

Hiat (&)

b)) e BNFEREMEEFKERA
FEZREERERAIINTE

year:
2016 2015

—®-XF —T-HF

HK$ HK$

BT BT

At 1 April REA—H — —
Impairment loss recognised BERBERSE 864,347 1,736,337
Bad debts written off AR - (1,736,337)
At 31 March R=A=+—H 864,347 —

The Group recognised impairment loss based on the
accounting policy stated in note 4(j)(ii).

(c) Loan receivables presented:

AR BAR IR B RE 4() (i) Bt 2 & FTERER
TERRERERE -

(0 FEUWEIE

2016 2015

—E-RE —T—RF

HK$ HK$

BT BT

— Loan to independent third parties — ABMNE=ZFEX 28,369,700 27,722,772

It represented advances to four (2015: two)
independent third parties. The Group and the
independent third parties entered into the loan
agreements in which the Group agreed to advance
loans to the independent third parties in the
aggregate principal amount of HK$28,369,700 (2015:
HK$27,722,772). The loans are unsecured and bear
an effective interest rate ranging from 4% to 10%
per annum (2015: 4%) and shall be repayable in 3
months from the date of advance.

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED

HigmW&(ZE—R1F: MAB)BL
EZFRER  AEERBIE=FF]
VERHE Bt ARERERAS
BB = B AR $ 4858 28,369,700
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24, TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(d)

On 14 June 2013, the Company entered into a
memorandum of understanding (as amended and
supplemented by supplemental memorandums of
understanding dated 8 August 2013, 11 October
2013, 27 November 2013 and 10 April 2014)
(collectively referred to as the "“MOU") with Estate
Fortune Limited (“EFL") regarding the proposed
acquisitions of the entire issued share capital of a
company which directly or indirectly holds interests
in the Yixing project and Lianyungang project.

On 31 March 2015, the Company entered into a
termination agreement with EFL (the “Termination
Agreement”), pursuant to which the parties agreed
to terminate the MOU with immediate effect
from 31 March 2015. Pursuant to the Termination
Agreement, the total payment amounting to
HK$30,000,000 was fully refunded during the year
ended 31 March 2016.

Details of the Termination Agreement were more
particularly set out in the Company's announcement
dated 31 March 2015.

On 1 August 2013, the Company entered into
an acquisition agreement (as amended and
supplemented by supplemental agreements dated
30 July 2014 and 28 October 2014) (collectively
referred to as the "“Acquisition Agreement”)
with Bliss Zone Limited (“BZL") to acquire the
entire issued share capital of Longisland Tourism
Investment & Development Limited (§E & J& #%
&% EAER DA ) for a total consideration of
HK$400,000,000. The transaction was approved by
the Company’s shareholders on 7 November 2013.

ANNUAL REPORT 2016

24. FEW

(d)

—ZET—R"F=A=+—H
31 March 2016

ERRHMREE)

Hit - (&)

RZZE—=FA+HEA ' A AH
Estate Fortune Limited ([EFL )]sz
FRECR(EERA_ZT—=ZFNA
NAZE—=%+A+—H =%
—=Ff+—AZt+tBR-ZZE-NF
MA+BZHARBEREMETR
W) (HB mRERE])  REEH
EaWE-—MREEER REEBE
BEESHEREERZARZEE
BT o

R-ZE-—AF=A=+—RH A2
A BEEFLRET 32 #% 1 % (4 1k %
@) B AT RBREREE
i BZE-—RF=A=t+—HiE
BIE A2 - IRIBR L AE - SRR
30,000,000 B L ERBEBE T —RF
ZA=T—HIEFERAZERE -

RIEBEZFBEENARFTARS=
E-RF=A=+—HZAMRA -

RZE—=FN\A—B8 ' KXAQrFH
Bliss Zone Limited ([BZLJ)&Tz U k&
BEEEPA-_T—NELA=1H
M_E-NE+A-+NBZHTER
BIERT R (FBIRERE]) - A
I8 Longisland Tourism Investment
& Development Limited & B Hk # 1%
BERARAAI22MHEBITRA -
# (X fZ /400,000,000 7T » AR
SR _ZE—=F+—AtAELXRQF
RRERHEAE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZE-RE=ZA=+—H

31 March 2016

24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)
(d)  (Continued)

Pursuant to the terms of the Acquisition Agreement,
the completion of the Acquisition Agreement is
conditional upon fulfilment and/or waiver (as the
case maybe) of the conditions precedent set out
in the Acquisition Agreement on or before 30 April
2015. On 30 April 2015, the conditions precedent to
the Acquisition Agreement were not fulfilled and/or
waived (as the case maybe) and no extension of the
time was agreed by the parties to the Acquisition
Agreement, the Acquisition Agreement had lapsed
and ceased to have any effect and neither party
thereto had any rights or obligations towards
each other thereunder, save for liabilities for any
antecedent breaches thereof and BZL was required
to rebate the earnest money, the partial payment
and any settled residual payment to the Company.
The total payment amounting to HK$80,000,000 was
fully refunded during the year ended 31 March 2016.

Details of lapse of the Acquisition Agreement
were more particularly set out in the Company's
announcement dated 30 April 2015.

25. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO NON-
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS,
RELATED PARTIES AND AN ASSOCIATE

At 31 March 2016 and 2015, all amounts due from/
to non-controlling shareholders, related parties and
an associate were unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand, except for the followings:

— Amounts due to non-controlling shareholders
of HK$1,330,000 which borne interest at 5%
per annum was repaid during the year ended
31 March 2015;

— The amount due from an associate is

unsecured, interest-free and repayable on 31
December 2016.

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

26. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

—ZET—R"F=A=+—H
31 March 2016

26. BERBITEER

2016 2015

—E-RE —ZT—hF

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Cash and cash equivalents RekBeEHEER 57,051,103 100,314,658
Pledged bank deposits (note (a)) BEIRRITIE R (A 2E (a) 45,984,368 9,243,655
103,035,471 109,558,313

Notes:

(a)

(b)

Pledged bank deposits of HK$7,680,768 (2015:
HK$6,943,655) represent deposits pledged to
bank to secure certain bills payables (note 27).
HK$38,303,600 (2015: HK$2,300,000) represented
securities for the Group’s credit and banking
facilities. The pledged bank deposits carried
interests from 0.01% to 3.12% per annum (2015:
0.01% to 2.8%).

At 31 March 2016, cash and bank balances of
the Group denominated in RMB amounted to
HK$51,115,325 (2015: HK$30,145,486). RMB is not
freely convertible into other currencies. However,
under the PRC’'s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations,
the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other
currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.
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—ET—RF=ZA=+—H
31 March 2016

27. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER PAYABLES 27.

BAER REREMKIE

2016 2015

—E-RE —ZT—HF

HKS$ HK$

BT BT

Trade creditors FERTER 24,664,778 15,380,803
Bills payables EREE 7,680,768 12,624,828
Other payables and accruals EmEAIERERE A 82,454,386 46,638,581
Other deposits received BB wizse 13,806,128 17,609,126
128,606,060 92,253,338

Included in trade, bills and other payables are trade
and bills payables with the following ageing analysis

ENER REREMFTABRENE
REENRE  ERHmERRZIKRED

as of the end of reporting period: T
2016 2015
—E-RE ZT—hEF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Current or within 30 days BNEF sk 30 BN 1,752,040 15,037,117
31 to 60 days 312 60H 618,069 1,783,923
61 to 90 days 61%90H 585,981 935,796
Over 90 days 90 B 29,389,456 10,248,795
32,345,546 28,005,631

Trade and bills payables are expected to be settled
within one year.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E—RE=A=+—H
31 March 2016

28. BANK BORROWINGS 28. IRITHEE
2016 2015
—E-RE —ZT—hF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Secured: BER
Bank borrowings (note) RITEE (M) 68,703,870 60,308,803
Note: Biat -
At the end of reporting period, the bank borrowings were RMEER - RITEEAEROT ¢
repayable as follows:
2016 2015
—E—RE —ZE—hF
HK$ HK$
Borrowings repayable: ZERAT BHEBEE -
Within one year —FR 50,702,070 33,922,913
More than one vyear, BR—F  BETHBBRE
but not exceeding two years 18,001,800 6,312,414
More than two years, BAME - ETHBBRARTF
but not exceeding five years - 20,073,476
68,703,870 60,308,803
Less: Amount due within one year A R —ERER
included in current liabilities ZHIE - StARBEE (50,702,070)  (33,922,913)
Amount due after one year R—F & ENZKE 18,001,800 26,385,890
Personal and corporate guarantees were given to banks BEAERRRETHEBRARZES) -
for certain bank loans by Mr. Yang Lei, a director of HERBER XA ELERELBERES
certain subsidiaries of the Company, his spouse, and a ZBAEQARERE TRITERARITIREE
related company, which is beneficially owned by Mr. Yang ARDRIER - N H5F A - ERB -
Lei and his spouse. Further, certain assets of Mr. Yang BEFRBERABEATEELD R 5t
Lei, his spouse, a related party and the related company WITERBREER - FAERENF281%
have been pledged to secure the bank loans. The interest £700%(ZF — " F: N F720%%
rates are ranged from 2.81% to 7.00% (2015: 7.20% to 17.64%) ©

17.64%) per annum.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-XRF=ZA=1+—H
31 March 2016

29. OTHER BORROWINGS

(a)

In 2013, the Company issued promissory
notes with an aggregate principal amount
of HK$37,190,500 and fair value of
HK$33,510,000 as part of the consideration
for the acquisition of Media Sound Technology
Limited (“Media Sound”). The promissory
notes were unsecured, non-interest bearing
and due on 29 January 2014.

On 14 February 2014, the Company entered
into an variation agreement (“Variation
Agreement”) with Miss Lau Wang Tai, Wendy,
a vendor of the acquisition of Media Sound
("Miss Lau”), pursuant to which the Company,
upon signing of Variation Agreement, repaid
the sum of HK$10,550,000 to Miss Lau under
a promissory note in the principal amount of
HK$16,742,300 (“Promissory Note A") and
issued to Miss Lau a new promissory note
(“Promissory Note C"”) for the outstanding
sum of HK$6,192,300 under Promissory Note
A with 30 June 2014 as the last date for
payment under Promissory Note C.

On the same date, the Company entered into
a payment extension agreement (“Payment
Extension Agreement”) with Mr. Tsang Yat
Loi, another vendor of the acquisition of Media
Sound (“Mr. Tsang”),
Company and Mr. Tsang agreed to extend

pursuant to which the

the last date of payment of a promissory note
in the principal amount of HK$20,448,200
("Promissory Note B”) to 30 June 2014. Save
for the extension, the terms and conditions
of Promissory Note B remain intact and
unchanged.

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

29. OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)

(a)

(b)

(Continued)

Other details of the Variation Agreement and
Payment Extension Agreement were disclosed
in the Company’s announcement dated 14
February 2014.

The promissory notes were repaid in full
during the year ended 31 March 2015. Details
of the repayment of promissory notes were
more particularly set out in the announcement
of the Company dated 26 August 2014.

Movement of promissory notes is as follows:

—ZET—R"F=A=+—H
31 March 2016

29. HtifE & &)

(a)

(%)

5 Bk tn M N SRR H p ek 2 EL AR
BRAARE_T—NE_A+X
BT AP EE -

EREBREREBE-_TE—AF=A
T HIEFEREBEREE - B8
ERBBRZHBINEARRIEZE
—MENAZHNBFIEZ QM -

ERRE BT

2016 2015

=E-ARE —T—1nfF

HK$ HK$

BT BT

At 1 April RmA—A — 26,640,500
Imputed interest expenses BEtERBRY - —
Redemption HE o —  (26,640,500)
At 31 March R=A=+—H = -

On 26 March 2014, the Group entered into an
agreement with an independent third party to
borrow a loan of HK$13,000,000. The loan was
matured on 26 September 2014. The effective
interest rate is 8% per annum.

The loan was secured by a deposit of
RMB11,000,000 (equivalent to HK$13,870,500)
(note 24).

The loan was fully set-off by the pledged

deposit of RMB11,000,000 on 27 September
2014.
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RZIZB-—WF=RA=+RB &
BB IE=FRI L - A

f& A 13,000,000/8 T 2 B3 » %
BERER-_Z—NEALA=-+/<H

A BERFMNEREY °

ZEZUAFEZ AR 11,000,000
(713,870,500 7T ) {EHE
R(HIzE24) »

ZEFR-_ET—NFNA=-++H
LAB #1575 A K ¥ 11,000,000
TR SR Y -
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30. PROVISION FOR LONG SERVICE 30. RERBEEEE

162

PAYMENTS

The Group has recorded provision for long service
payment obligations for employees. Under the
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance, the Group is
obliged to make lump sum payments on cessation
of employment in certain circumstances to certain
employees who have completed at least five years
of service with the Group. The amount payable
is dependent on the employees’ final salary and
year of service, and is reduced by entitlements
accrued under the Group’'s retirement plans that
are attributable to contributions made by the Group.
The Group does not set aside any assets to fund
any remaining obligations.

Movement in provision for long service payments is
as follows:

AEERREBEHRMRE S 2B ER
REH - REEERKEL) MR
AEBEETHERATELRAEASE
RBELRAFZETREE  BIANEBE
REZEAREZNRE S - BNEH
BEBZERHFSIRBEHRFE - XL
R REEANKERING P REE D
FERAREHRKEE 2D o  AEEY
BERBEMNEEAXNEMESKEES
B o

RHRGeBREZESHOT

2016 2015

—E-RE —ZT—hF

HK$ HK$

BT BT

At 1 April and 31 March REA—BR=ZA=+—8H 42,373 42,373
CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED T IEREERA A
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—ZET—R"F=A=+—H
31 March 2016

31. DEFERRED TAXATION 31. EERE
The movements on the net deferred tax (liabilities)/ ELEHRB(AE) BEFENERNZE
assets during the year are as follows: BT -
2016 2015
—E—-RE —ET—HF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
At 1 April RmUA—A 1,640,340 (12,561,503
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 36) Ue BE B B A B (A5 36) (7,485,625) -
(Charged)/credited to profit or loss (8), Az
(note 13) (K1a#13) (705,112) 21,227,387
Disposal of subsidiaries & B AR
(note 35(c)) (Hiat 35(c)) — (6,917,619
Charged to other comprehensive income  #1 8 &b 2 W=
(note 16) (Kiat 16) (94,881) (107,925)
At 31 March R=A=+—~ (6,645,278) 1,640,340

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for
tax losses carried forward to the extent that
realisation of the related tax benefit through future
taxable profits is probable. As at 31 March 2016,
no deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of the unused tax losses (2015: nil) due to
unpredictability of future profit streams. Tax losses
of HK$101,281,858 (2015: HK$85,029,605) can
be carried forward indefinitely and the tax losses
of HK$72,453,144 (2015: HK$49,938,043) will be
expired in five years.
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BEMBHEEIREE 2 FHIBEIBRE
R MEAB I REE R B &2 ERB R
BREBATEMNRAR R ZT—XF
ZA=+—H8 - BHREATERRE )
e BUS R AREB AR BB ERER
BLEMEEE(ZS—RTF : &) - B1E
E518101,281,858 B o(=—F — A F ¢
85,029,605/ T ) Al E R EAAA & - M
JEE 872,453,144 8B T(ZE— R F :
49,938,043 % 7T) R A F R fEw °
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—E-XRF=ZA=1+—H
31 March 2016

31. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued) 31. EERIE®)
In addition to the amount charged to the profit BRERMGZomENN  BFRNEG[AK
or loss, deferred tax relating to the revaluation of EEETHELIWREFERAZELER
the Group's certain leasehold land and buildings JHE R EMEEREAER
during the year has been recognised in other
comprehensive income.
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities BEERBEERBE(EHR-—FERRE
(prior to offsetting of balances within the same BE 2 R IREHAT ) MR 2 ZET ¢
taxable entity) during the year are as follows:
Fair value adjustment
Deferred tax (iabiltiesl/  EEHE(EE)/ Decelerated arising from acquisition of
assets EE Property revaluation  accounting depreciation Tax losses Intangible assets subsidiaries Total
HEKELF
hEEH HREHITE HARR BEE LATEERE ]
2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 215
“E-3F CFRF ZE-xE CEIF CR-AF CE-RF CE-RF CRRF Z8-RE CR-IF CR-Rf CR-If
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HK$ HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HK$
A AT A AT AT AT A AT A AT A AT
At 1 Apil WEA-A (1,767,703 (1,659778) ~ 3,408,043 4,113,155 - 171099 - (2273979 - — 1640340 (12,561,503)
Disposal of subsidiaries  HEHELA - - - - - (7328668 e - - - (6917619
Acquistion of subsidiaries  WEKBAR
[note 36] ( - - - - - - - —  (7,485,625) — [7,485,625) -
(Chargedcredited to (ng)/#\Ea
profit or loss - - (105,112)  (705,112) - (392431) - 2390 - - (105112) 21,227,387
Charged to other FIEEGEST
comprefensive income (94,881)  (107,925) - - - - - - - — (94881) (107,925
At 31 March ®=A=1-H (1,862584) (1,767,703 2,702,031 3,408,043 - - - — (7,485,625 — (6,645,278) 1640340

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED
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—ZET—R"F=A=+—H
31 March 2016

DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued) 31. IEERIE(2)
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when BEEHIEEERBEERITNIEEEH
there is a legally enforceable right to set off RIORIBEEES EM R HNITENE
current tax assets against current tax liabilities IR EE B RE TS R R — R A B 1Al
and when the deferred income taxes relate to F—ERMERBUW e EEE -
income tax levied by same taxation authority on FAIEMREEE - U TAAEEZHGEY
the same taxable entity. The following amounts, BARRERIREHEE EREKEEEEZ
determined after appropriate offsetting, are shown S
in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position:
2016 2015
ZE-RE —ZT—hF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Deferred tax assets R IBEE E - 1,640,340
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIBEE (6,645,278) .
(6,645,278) 1,640,340

At the end of the reporting period, the aggregate
amount of temporary differences associated with
undistributed earnings of subsidiaries for which
deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised is
HK$1,361,876 (2015: HK$748,622). No liability has
been recognised in respect of these differences
because the Group is in a position to control the
timing of reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that such differences will not be
reversed in the foreseeable future.
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RERESR BBRARARDEAF
ERBERBERELEHEEB AL
Z% /1,361,876 T(ZF — A F -
748,622 8 7T) AR AL B AL E D
EREE o RBAEEEZEETRAUER
ARAERER  HBEREREERER
BfE-
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31 March 2016

32. SHARE CAPITAL 32. BAR
(a) Authorised and issued share capital EERBRITRA
2015
“E-nF “F-0F
Number of Number of
shares HK$ shares HK$
R 8E BT Ri&E AT
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each  SREE0.05/E T2
Liak
At 1 April and 31 March ROA—-BR
ZA=1-H 20,000,000,000  1,000,000,000 20,000,000,000  1,000,000,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITREE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each ~ EREAE0.05ET2
Lk
At 1 April RmA—-H 718,519,047 35,925,952 598,767,047 29,938,352
Placing of new shares (note) RREsmiin (Hiz) - - 119,752,000 5,987,600
At 31 March R=A=1+-H 718,519,047 35,925,952 718,519,047 35,925,952
Note: Wizt :

On 28 November 2014, the Company entered into
a placing agreement with a placing agent for the
placing of an aggregate 119,752,000 new ordinary
shares of the Company at a placing price of HK$0.5
per placing share. Accordingly, the Company issued
119,752,000 new ordinary shares at HK$0.5 per
share on 10 December 2014. As a result, there was
an increase in share capital and share premium of
approximately HK$5,987,600 and HK$53,888,400
respectively. Details of the placing are set out in
the Company’s announcements dated 28 November
2014 and 10 December 2014.

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED

RZTE—WFE+—A=Z+NB &K
ARHERERBIVEEHE &
REBEREESRMOLE TLEE
119,752,000 f& A8 A &) 3 & i Ak o
B ARAFRRZE—WOF+=A+H
EREESRESKMD0.5ETEIT
119,752,000 I ¥7 iM% o PR AN R AR 1%
B R R AN 495,987,600 4 7T &
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32. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued) 32. BA#)
(b) Capital management policy (b) EBEXREEBE

The capital structure of the Group consists of AEBZEARBREERK(BE
debts, which includes the bank borrowings R 28 WEZIRITIEER) K
disclosed in note 28, net of cash and bank RERBITHEBRRA AR HEE AFE
balances and equity attributable to owners of iR (BREEITRARMEE) -
the Company, comprising issued share capital AEECZRBREEBTFRTEANSE
and reserves. The Group's risk management o EANEERZ —2n B
reviews the capital structure on annual basis. EezEEAKANRSBEERNIERH
As part of this review, the management & o

considers the cost of capital and the risks
associated with each class of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital BB LABRERERE  NEEK
structure, the Group may adjust the amount of SRHBERBRNZEESEE [
dividends paid to shareholders, return capital RERIEBEAN « BITHMREEESR
to shareholders, issue new shares or sell ERIKETR -

assets to reduce debts.

The gearing ratio at the end of reporting period RIFEHR - EARBELEQAT ¢
was as follows:

2016 2015

—E—-RE —T—HF

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Bank borrowings RITEE 68,703,870 60,308,803

Less: Cash and bank balances i IRe MIRTTHE R (103,035,471) (109,558,313)

Net debt (EvvveE (34,331,601) (49,249,510)
Equity attributable to owners of the RATEER AR

Company 118,431,131 257,903,545

Net debt to equity ratio B FRER AL & N/A N/A

TEHR i@ A

ANNUAL REPORT 2016 T ANEFH
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—E-XRF=ZA=1+—H
31 March 2016

33. RESERVES 33. f#fE
Company FIN/NG|
Employee
share-based
Share  Contributed compensation  Accumulated
premium surplus reserve losses Total
PV UETPA
R EE BAES  EEHMEE B an
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
Er AT AT A1 A
At 1 April 2014 RZE-MENA—-A 2,024,217,103 28,784,000 9,376,692  (1,488,467,081) 573,910,714
Loss for the year AEEER - - —  [470,191527)  (470,191,527)
Issuance of ordinary shares (note 32)  BAEBRAE) 53,888,400 - - — 53888400
Share issue expenses OEGIST (1,854,176) - - - (1,854,176)
At 31 March 2015 and 1 April 2015 R-EF-REF=Zf=+-HER
“E-n4mA-A 2,076,251,327 28,784,000 9,376,692 (1,958,658,608) 155,753,411
Loss for the year REEBR - - —  [75640670)  (75,640,670)
Share option lapsed (note 34) BAMZARE M) - - (347,285) 347,285 =
At 31 March 2016 RZE-~E=f=1-H 2,076,251,327 28,784,000 9,029,407  (2,033,951,993) 80,112,741

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED
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33. RESERVES (continued)

The following describes the nature and purpose of
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E—RE=A=+—H

31 March 2016

33. f#E®)
AT AR B EER

each reserve within owners’ equity: ER:oRE

Reserve Description and purpose

A WK B

Company

bINNE|

Share premium Amount subscribed for share capital in excess of nominal value.
1D s E RERAEAMECSHE -

Contributed surplus

The difference between the consolidated shareholders’ funds of the
subsidiaries at the date when they were acquired by the Company
and the nominal amount of the Company’s shares issued for the
acquisition at the time of the group reorganisation prior to the listing
of the Company's shares in 1991. Under the Companies Act 1981
of Bermuda (as amended), the contributed surplus is available for
distribution to the shareholders provided that the Company is able to
meet its obligations after distribution and the net realisable value of
the Company’s assets would not be less than the aggregate of its
liabilities, issued share capital and share premium accounts.
MBAREARRIKENBARI Z AHZAERRESERAATRN RN
—NMN—FEMRETSESEARRKEMET 2 ARaRNEELE
B RBBE-NN\—FAREQRRDE(RER) BEHBAKAIHIIKRTRE
BUERRRAINRDIRKEERNBITEEE  MARBAEEZAIERFET
SENREEE DBETRAERMDGEER &FHER

Employee share-based Cumulative expenses recognised on the granting of share options to
compensation reserve

VAR D 32 5 2 18 B $r B e 18

the employees over the vesting period.
REBHMERESR TRRERER 2 REBEXH -
Accumulated losses Cumulative net losses recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income.

RIEEE N EE RS KR 2 RIEERIFE
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—E-XRF=ZA=1+—H
31 March 2016

33. RESERVES (continued)

Reserve

&
Group

A EH

Other reserve

Hibf#

Other properties revaluation
reserve

Hip R ER R

Foreign exchange reserve

NG {5 18

Investment revaluation
reserve

REEHFE

Accumulated losses

33. @#E®)

Description and purpose

R B #

The difference between the consideration and the carrying amount of
the net assets attributable to the additional and reduction of interests
in subsidiaries being acquired from and disposed to non-controlling
equity holders respectively.

REEMEEREEFBEAMBRHE TIHERERFEAZMB AR
RIEMIOR D D RIEE 2 FEERAE 58

Gains/losses arising on the revaluation of the Group’s leasehold land
and buildings (other than investment property) (see note 16). The
balance on this reserve is wholly undistributable.
EMAKEHET M REFREMERIN (R 16)EE2 NG B
B hREEZEEERH B TADIK

Gains/losses arising on retranslating the net assets of foreign
operations into Hong Kong dollars.

ENMESINEBEEFEEBIMEE 2 RS BB -

Gains/losses arising on recognising financial assets classified as
available for sale at fair value.

BADBRBATEEIHLEENBEEMEE W B8 -

Cumulative net losses recognised in the consolidated statement &
comprehensive income.

KA EHK R ERZ REERFHE -

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED bR R EERAR
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34. SHARE OPTIONS

On 30 August 2002, the Company adopted a share
option scheme (the “Old Share Option Scheme”)
for the purpose of attracting and retaining quality
personnel and other persons who may contribute
to the business and operation of the Group.
Options may be granted without any initial payment
to persons including Directors, employees or
consultants of the Group.

On 30 August 2012, the Company adopted a new
share option scheme (the “New Share Option
Scheme”) which was approved in the Company's
annual general meeting on 29 August 2012.
The New Share Option Scheme will remain in
force for a period of 10 years from 30 August
2012. A summary of the rules of the New Share
Option Scheme is set out in the appendix to the
Company’s circular dated 20 July 2012.

On 23 December 2013, options were granted to
Directors and employees of the Company and its
subsidiaries under the New Share Options Scheme
to subscribe for up to 32,333,421 ordinary shares
of the Company (“2013 Share Options”). The
estimated fair value of the options granted on that
date was approximately HK$9,376,692 and the
amount was recognised as staff cost expense for
the year ended 31 March 2014.

ANNUAL REPORT 2016
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E

RRSIWEBFTBFIAS REMAIEEH
AEBEEBRELBERZALT K
REIRZEZEZF)\A=1THHEMN—IB
R EI([ ERRERTE]) - REEHE
A HASZ MEMYZHIBEME T RER
EECEE EESEMERAZAL-

R-ZZT——FN\A=+H KQAEH
— BRI AERT B ([ RARERTE ) -
EERZZ—ZFN\AZ+NBEXR
AIREBFE RS HE o FRRAE BN
REZZE——FN\A=THEF10FH
M AN - FTRRET SR ZHE
HRARBRPAE-_T——FE+A -+
A 2 i 2 FERA o

R-_ZE—=F+-"A-+=H  KAQ7A
RIBFRRETE M AR REMNBE A
RAICEEREERLRRE URER
%3233 21 ARAIERAKRI=ZZ
—=FRBE]  RZBETH 2RKRE
ZAhET A (EEA /9,376,692 7T -
ZEeHEEREBEE T NF=A=+—
HIEFEBRBEIRARY -
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31 March 2016

34. SHARE OPTIONS (cContinued) 34.

The fair value of the 2013 Share Options was
calculated using Binominal Option Pricing Model.
The inputs into the model are as follows:

Grant date B A

Grant date share price BB RE
Exercise price 118
Expected life TEHASF HA
Expected volatility SR
Expected dividend yield TEHARR B &
Risk-free interest rate 42 3 P ) =

Expected volatility is determined by using the
historical volatility of the Company's share price
over the previous one year. The expected life
used in the model has been adjusted, based on
management’'s best estimate, for the effects
of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and
behavioral considerations.

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED

AREE)

TR ZATFEEE R
AHIREEEERAGFE  AREAMBA
Z28mT

2013
—E-=F
Share Options
RIRE

23 December 2013
—E—=

+t=ZA=+=H

HK$0.55 per share

K 0.558 T

HK$0.57 per share

B8R 0578

10 years

10 F

80%

Nil

E::d

2.26%

BHREIIERARBNBE—FRE
ZESLREMERE - RAPERZAH
FHCREEB Z&EMGMTEE
& RETTERITRREZZEFLA
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34. SHARE OPTIONS (Continued)
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—ZET—R"F=A=+—H
31 March 2016

34. RBRE )

2016 2015
—E-RF —ET-n0F
Weighted Weighted
Number average Number average
of share exercise of share exercise
options price options price
AR IREF1 R T
£ {E| HITHEE 2B HITHE
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Outstanding as at 1 April RUA—H
R AT T 32,333,421 0.570 32,333,421 0.570
Lapsed (note (a)) BRB (B (a) (1,197,534) 0.570 = =
Outstanding as at 31 March W=ZA=+—H
R AT T 31,135,887 0.570 32,333,421 0.570
Exercisable as at 31 March R=A=+—H
Al 31,135,887 0.570 32,333,421 0.570
(a)  During the year 31 March 2016, 1,197,534 share (a) MZZE—R"F=ZA=+—H B—%
options, which were held by one employee, were BEHH 21,197,534 RAMAED & Kk
lapsed. The value of these lapsed share options of Boo BRBRIRIE 2 B8 347,285
HK$347,285 was released directly to accumulated TLEEEBARGEE -
losses.
No option was granted, exercised or lapsed during BE_ZT—AF=ZA=Z=+—HL®HF
the year ended 31 March 2015. B SIERRERRL - 1TESER -
(b)  The options outstanding at 31 March 2016 had b) RZZE—ARFZA=+—AHEERTE
exercise prices of HK$0.57 (2015: HK$0.57) per ZRBREZZRITFEER0LTHEL(Z
share and weighted average remaining contractual T—ARF : 0.57%70) RINEFHFER
life of 7.73 years (2015: 8.73 years). AHFERETISF(ZZE—HF :8.73
F) e

ANNUAL REPORT 2016
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34. SHARE OPTIONS (Continued) 34. ABE )
The following table discloses the movements of TREBRRERFAZEE :

options during the year:

Year 2016 —E-RE
Number of
exercisable
Number of shares in respect of options granted options
BREDRBMIR ZRAHE ppiEtiviE
Evercise  Outstandingat  Granted during  Lapsed during  Outstanding at As at
Date of grant Exercisable period Vesting period price 1 April 2015 the year the year 31 March 2016 31 March 2016
W-E-1% W-E-AE
mA-B ZRZT-B HI3-AE
il fikH BEY kR AR ERERY ERBAN WATE  ZB=t-A
HKS
AT
Executive directors
y1rgs
Cheng Yang
5
23 December 2013 23 December 2013 - Fully vested on 057 5,987,670 - - 5,987,670 5,987,670
22 December 2023 date of grant
EF EIETIRITER RRhPBREERE
+zR=1=H ETETTHoAzToR
Lei Lei
BE
23 December 2013 23 December 2013 - Fully vested on 057 5,388,903 - - 5,388,903 5,388,903
22 December 2023 date of grant
5% “F-IRPCACER RRHRHREEE
t2h=1=A FIECZETCAZTIA
Li Weipeng
23 December 2013 23 December 2013 - Fully vested on 057 2,993,835 - - 2,993,835 2,993,835
22 December 2023 date of grant
%= SE-CRPCACTER RRMAS2EER
+ZAZ1ZH FIRCZETCACTIR
14,370,408 - - 14,370,408 14,370,408
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31 March 2016

34. SHARE OPTIONS (continued) 34. ABRER)
Year 2016 (Continued) —E-RE(E)
Number of
exercisable
Number of shares in respect of options granted options
BRLARERS R RAHE PiietiviE
Evercise  Outstandingat  Granted during  Lapsed during  Outstanding at As at
Date of grant Exercisable period Vesting period price 1 April 2015 the year theyear 31 March 2016 31 March 2016
H-g-1f RZE-rE
mA-B ZRZT-B HIE-AE
il fikH §ES fikE WAGE ERERY ERE&H WATE  ZAZT-A
HKS
AT
Independent non-executive directors
Buungs
Tong Jingguo
k2l
23 December 2013 23 December 2013 - Fully vested on 057 299,384 - - 299,384 299,384
22 December 2023 date of grant
5= Sl vt I 4 =F
t2h=1zR I St 2 =
Yang Rusheng
i
23 December 2013 23 December 2013 - Fully vested on 057 299,384 - - 299,384 299,384
22 December 2023 date of grant
o5z CE-IFEDACTER RRHRHREEE
tZA=tzR EIRITETIACTCR
So Tat Keung
&
23 Decemboer 2013 23 December 2013 - Fully vested on 0.57 299,384 - - 299,384 299,384
22 December 2023 date of grant
“Eck IETEPIRCTER ARLAHRYEE
TZAZT=R Fola k2l g
898,152 - - 898,152 898,152
Employees
fE8
23 December 2013 23 December 2013 - Fully vested on 057 17,064,861 - 1,197,534) 15,867,321 15,867,321
22 December 2023 date of grant
5% E-CETIRITER RRHPBREER
tZA=tzAR FElnt kS e
32,333.421 - (1,197,534) 31,135,887 31,135,887
ANNUAL REPORT 2016 TN FFY
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—E-XRF=ZA=1+—H
31 March 2016

34. SHARE OPTIONS (cContinued)

34. BRE®)

Year 2015 —E-HEF
Number of
exercisable
Number of shares in respect of options granted options
BREDRBMIR ZRAHE ppiEtiviE
Evercise  Outstandingat  Granted during  Lapsed during  Outstanding at As at
Date of grant Exercisable period Vesting period price 1 April 2014 the year the year 31 March 2015 31 March 2015
H-8-p% H-g-1%
mA-B ZRET-B M-
il fikH BEY kR AR ERERY ERBAN WATE  ZB=t-A
HKS
AT
Executive directors
y1rgs
Cheng Yang
5
23 December 2013 23 December 2013 - Fully vested on 0.57 5,987,670 - - 5,987,670 5,987,670
22 December 2023 date of grant
-5z E-CETCACIEA ARNPERHEE
TZA=tzAR ETETTHoAzToR
Lei Lei
BE
23 December 2013 23 December 2013 - Fully vested on 0.57 5,388,903 - - 5,388,903 5,388,903
2 December 2023 date of grant
5% ECEFCACTER MRHBHREEE
t2h=1=A FIECZETAZTIA
Li Weipeng
X
23 December 2013 23 December 2013 - Fully vested on 057 2,993,835 - - 2,993,835 2,993,835
22 December 2023 date of grant
%= TE-CRPCACTER RRMRS2EER
+ZAZ1ZH FIRCZETCACTIR
14370408 - - 14370408 14370408
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34.

SHARE OPTIONS (Continued)

oW E M )
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ‘}
—E—RE=A=+—H
31 March 2016

34. AREE)

Year 2015 (Continued) —E-RE(E)
Number of
exercisable
Number of shares in respect of options granted options
EREZRERS Rz RAHE phiEtiv i
Evercise  Outstandingat  Granted during  Lapsed during  Outstanding at As at
Date of grant Exercisable period Vesting period price 1 April 2014 the year theyear 31 March 2015 31 March 2015
H-%-0% H-g-1F
mA-B ZRZt-B MB-EF
il fikH BEY kR AR ERERY ERBAN WATE  ZA=T-R
HKS
A
Independent non-executive directors
g by E
Tong Jingguo
h5E
23 December 2013 23 December 2013 - Fully vested on 057 299,384 - - 299,384 299,384
22 December 2023 date of grant
3k E-CETCACTER ARNREREEE
tZAZtzAR BIETTHEIACTCR
Yang Rusheng
il
23 December 2013 23 December 2013 - Fully vested on 0.57 299,384 - - 299,384 299,384
22 December 2023 date of grant
5cF TE-IFtCACTER RREREREEE
t2h=f=R F-ECZETCACTIA
So Tat Keung
&
23 December 2013 23 December 2013 - Fully vested on 057 299,384 - - 299,384 299,384
22 December 2023 date of grant
F-= TETEIAITEE RRLRHREEE
tZAZ1ZH ECRCZETCRITIR
898,152 - - 898,152 898,152
Employees
8
23 December 2013 23 December 2013 - Fully vested on 057 17,064,861 - - 17,064,861 17,064,861
22 December 2023 date of grant
3= E-CEPIACTER AREAEREEE
+-A-1zR BIECSHETOACTCE
32,3421 - - 3 32,3421
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35. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 35. HEMBAT

(a On 12 January 2016, the Group entered (a) MR-ZE—NRNE—A+=-H K&£E
into a sale and purchase agreement with an M—EZ2B/IYE=ZFFIY—1HEE
independent third party to dispose the entire ek WS EMEHSIAES
issued share capital of BREMEMETBEEAR RAR([XREEFD)2BEEEITR
NAN"LEME") for a cash consideration of K -BReREAB1ET  HEER
HK$1. The disposal was completed in January ZE-RNFE- AT o REEFNE
2016. The net assets of K& at the date of ERMZEEFERNT

disposal were as follows:

HK$
BT
Net assets disposed of: FritE&EFE
Inventories FE 135,048
Other receivables and prepayments A B U R IE & TR 5RIE 157,111
Cash and cash equivalents HeMReEMEIAR 2,638,739
2,930,898
Reclassification of cumulative exchange differences ZI&E X = HIMNEREBES
from foreign exchange reserve to profit or loss NEEER (231,378)
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HEMB AR ZEER (2,699,519)
Total consideration satisfied by: T3 FREERRE -
Cash Re 1
Net cash outflow arising HEREMELEZRERH
on disposal: FEE
Cash received BUWRE 1
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of FrHERekREEFMEIEAEER (2,638,739)
(2,638,738)
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35. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(b)

During the year ended 31 March 2016, the
Group disposed of several subsidiaries to
independent third parties for total cash
considerations of HK$82,355. The net liabilities

B % 3§ % B {
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ‘}
—E—REFE=HA=+—H

35. HEMB AR (#)

31 March 2016

(b) BE_T-—RF=A=+—HILF
B AEENBYE=THEET
B AaE - #ReHER82355
BT ZEMBARNHERHZ

BEFENT :
of these subsidiaries at the date of disposal
were as follows:
HK$
BT
Net liabilities disposed of: FritEaE 58
Cash and cash equivalents HekBHeEEIER 414,373
Other payables E b fE I 5018 (457,340)
(42,967)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HERB AR ZWE 125,322
Total consideration satisfied by: LATF B EBARE -
Cash Re 82,355
Net cash outflow arising HEFEMEAZRESRT
on disposal: R
Cash received BUIRE 82,355
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of FAtEReRIBeEEEE (414,373)
(332,018)
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35. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(c) On 3 July 2014, the Company entered into (c)

a sale and purchase agreement with Great
Future Investment Limited, an independent
third party to dispose the entire issued share
capital of and shareholders’ loan due from Hua
Rong Sheng Shi Holding Limited (“Hua Rong”)
at the consideration of HK$30,000,001. The
transaction was completed on 8 August 2014.

35. HEKWB AR (&)

RZE—UFLA=H" ' AQF
MV E=—FELREEERAF
SN B EWE - UHEHua Rong
Sheng Shi Holding Limited ([Hua
Rongl) 2 2 EBE 1T A K FEUR
Hua RongZ R REHR - KE A
30,000,001 L XKHERZE
—mENANBTEK -

Hua Rong holds 70% equity interests in X& X
{bEBARAA) (“TianHe") which is principally
engaged in licence fee collection and provision
of intellectual property enforcement services

Hua Rong#FBRAEELEEBR
RE(TREDZ70% Kk X&
FEEFREREHFTEERARER
R REREERGERS

180

business in the PRC.

HK$
BT
Net liabilities disposed of: FribE v BEFE -
Property, plant and equipment Wz - BB REE 1,762,526
Intangible assets mEEE 2,535,983
Deferred tax assets RETIBEE 7,328,668
Cash and cash equivalents RekBeEEER 61,378,913
Restricted cash at banks ZRERITIRE 32,705,110
Other receivables b fE W SR8 6,281,817
Amount due from non-controlling shareholder FE U IEIE AR A% B F IR 554,152
Trade and other payables FERTE R R H At IR (18,116,744)
Amount due to non-controlling shareholder JE A e PR AR BR 5K IB (37,080,887)
Shareholder’s loan ES-EN (106,170,028)
Deferred tax liabilities BEERIEEE (411,049)
Tax payables FEfIFIIR (176,160)
Non-controlling interests FEfE RS (10,260,417)
(59,668,116)
Shareholder’s loan receivable disposed of Frib & < AR R B 5 106,170,028
Reclassification of cumulative exchange RIEME H TR IMNERE B
differences from foreign exchange reserve EFHEEER
to profit or loss (471,831)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEWB AR EE (16,030,080)
Total consideration satisfied by: AT AR EERRE
Cash Re 30,000,001
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEFEMEEZHSR
SRR
Cash received BElRE 30,000,001
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of FrtERe kRS EER (61,378,913)
(31,378,912)

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED



36. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 5 August 2015,

The Great Group is principally engaged in the
operation of sludge and sewage treatment plants in

the PRC.

The fair values of net assets acquired at the date of

the Group completed the
acquisition of 51% equity interests of the
Great Group at an aggregate consideration of
RMB31,435,514 (equivalent to HK$39,303,823).

Bt 7% 8RR M aE
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E-XE=ZA=+—8H

36. WHBKIB A A
P

/%E)

SEIKER IR o

RInHEBE T ERENPEEE

BEWEBEEFERNEBEAHRZA

1§

31 March 2016

—RAFENARAB - ﬁ%%ﬁzuﬁz
BRI EB 2 51% IRE -
R #31,435,514 T (B E R 39 303,823

BRE/A

VEDEYYe

FEE

acquisition are as follows: R
HK$
BT
Fair values of assets and liabilities acquired: BEWEEERBEZATEE
Intangible assets EBEREAE 627,109
Property, plant and equipment L/ES lﬂ;‘%&&ﬁ 3,252,790
Interests in associates L l/NE W £ 39,293,270
Inventories FE 197,217
Other receivables and prepayments EH b e zka M Fa N 2008 283,522
Amounts due from related parties VH&F@@/\i* biz] 250,060
Amounts due from associates JE W Bt 22 R B RIR 5,542,757
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBEE TEIEE 5,078,123
Trade payables FERE K (841,158)
Other payables and accruals HA R RIBE R EETE A (8,393,442)
Deferred tax liabilities EREIBEE (7,485,625)
37,804,623
Non-controlling interests eI i (18,524,266)
Net assets acquired EWEEETE 19,280,357
Goodwill 5 20,023,466
Total consideration satisfied by: LAT5) 5 FB EERE
Cash B& 39,303,823
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: WIS SEIRFTE A v RS 558
Cash consideration paid BNBRERE (39,303,823)
Cash and cash equivalents acquired FER e KRS EEER 5,078,123
(34,225,700)
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36. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

The goodwill arising on the acquisition is
attributable to broaden the revenue base of the
Group so as to enhance the overall competitive
ability of the Group.

The goodwill of approximately HK$20,023,466 was
impaired during the year ended 31 March 2016.
(note 18)

Since its acquisition, the Great Group had no
revenue contributed to the Group’s revenue and
incurred a loss of HK$5,923,889 for the year ended
31 March 2016. Had the above acquisition been
the combination taken place on 1 April 2015, the
revenue and loss before income tax expenses of
the Group for the year ended 31 March 2016 would
have been HK$114,755,340 and HK$138,719,298
respectively. The pro forma information is for
illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an
indication of revenue and results of operations of
the Group that actually would have been achieved
had the acquisition been completed on 1 April
2015, nor is it intended to be a projection of future
results.

The Group has engaged Vigers, an independent
valuer, to assess the fair value of the assets
and liabilities of the Great Group at the date of
acquisition.

The acquisition-related costs of HK$292,557 have

been expensed and are included in other operating
expenses.

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED

36.

WEEKI B AR (&)

WEMEEAZHEB TARNBHRASEZ
ERGFHEBEBRWSERMA R

o

ajn

HE2-_Z—XXF=ZA=+—HIFE
#720,023,466 8T 2 A D BEKFE
18) °

BEWER BREEERUEARER
U RWE  BREBEE_ZT— X
F=ZHA=+—HILFEEH5923,889
BILzEE BRELAKEERZZ
—hAFWNA—RH#ET AAEEHZE
TE-XRNFZA=Z=+-"BULEHFEZ
BREAEHRAZII k= REED KA
114,755,340 % 7T % 138,719,298 & T °
HEENERFAARALE  TIARER
BWEBEHEER_ZE—AFHEA—AR
B - BXIEMARARNEEERASIER
Wes RACEEE - AL TEHERBERK
EIEMTER -

ZRER (B R BS 8 37 % 18 B B AR T FF B 1R 3
HEBZEERBBERKBEREMZ QY
BfE -

W B AR R A A 292,557 B T X+ - I
SFAEMEERY -

L EREERA R
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

37.

(Continued)

The Group has elected to measure the non-
controlling interests in the Great Group the
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets.

The fair value of trade and other receivables,
equivalent to its gross contractual amount as shown
above, is considered as fully recoverable.

ACQUISITION OF ADDITIONAL
INTEREST IN A SUBSIDIARY

On 17 October 2013, Witty Idea Finance
Company Limited (“Witty Idea”) and Rich Success
International Holdings Limited (“Rich Success”),
a non-controlling shareholder of Well Allied
Investments Limited (“Well Allied”) entered into
a loan agreement in which Witty ldea agreed
to advance to Rich Success a loan in the total
principal amount of HK$11,300,000. The loan was
secured by 7.978 ordinary shares of Well Allied,
owned by Rich Success and loan receivables of
HK$10,600,039 due from Well Allied. The loan
bears an effective interest rate of 10% per annum
and shall be repayable on the last working date of
thirteen month from 17 October 2013.

ANNUAL REPORT 2016
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36. BB AR (&)

74 85 B £ 32 4 S A ARG 05 T s B
B2 Bl AH B R M 2 3
Rt 2% -

HERLEXHAR  BEHNERZIEKRE
RN EMRBAZ A FEEKAR/AEHR
Yem o

37. WE—RMHB AR ZEIMER

RZE—Z=ZF+A+tB BYEFE
AR AR(EY])EWell Allied
Investments Limited & E HR A
A((EEE D s EERBRREZRAERE
BEERAB(IEFEDITCERBZ
Bt BYREBEMEARNASEER
11,300,000 B L2 ER - ZER=EFHFT
WA 2 7.978 IR Bk B i IR K B B 4
Z EUWE 10,600,039 78 TR I © 3%
ERAEBREMER10% 8 WER -
T-ZF+A+tRABHTZEAZE
“IEREE -
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37. ACQUISITION OF ADDITIONAL 37. WEE—HEKE LR 2 EIMER

INTEREST IN A SUBSIDIARY (Continued) (%)

On 17 November 2014, Rich Success gave a written RZE—N&E+—A++EH EFRAXN
notice to the Group that Rich Success had no ability ﬁl%*ﬁiﬁLﬂ BB ?ﬁjﬂaﬁi
to repay the aforesaid loan and corresponding L%f?/’(&*ﬁﬁfﬂ%/m\/ﬁ\12,416,2465’§
interest in total of HK$12,416,246 and agreed to P BB AN K B 65 5k 7.978 e R B
transfer the 7.978 ordinary shares of Well Allied and ELHX&FEJ%Z?T?KW 600,039 /8 T LAE
the loan receivables of HK$10,600,039 to the Group EREEERRFE -

to settle the outstanding loan and interest.

Following the transfer of the 7.978 ordinary shares REBE7978REM T ARE - A% H
of Well Allied, the Group holds an aggregate FBES 114585 R BEH fo b B
of 114.585 shares in Well Allied, representing ZEEEBITRALT1.81% °

approximately 71.81% of the total issued share
capital of Well Allied.

Details of the acquisition of additional interests in REBEE_ZE—RF=-A=+—BLFE
Well Allied during the year ended 31 March 2015 W B BR B 2 SEOME S 2 FIEHL AN T -

are summarised as follows:

HK$

T

Total aggregate consideration BRE 12,416,246

Shareholders’ loan RERE R (10,600,039)

1,816,207

5% equity interests in Well Allied RERES 2 5% IRHE 1,963,149
Excess of recorded in equity attributable s AKXQATEEAEGEERZ

to owners of the Company e 3,779,356

Satisfied by: R3S EA -
Set off with loan receivables el g =E Eiig | 12,416,246
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Elite-China, a 60% owned subsidiary of the
Company, has material non-controlling interests
("“"NCI"). Summarised financial information in
relation to the NCI of Elite-China before intra-group

38.

—E-XE=ZA=+—8H
31 March 2016

FFER S

KRG HEBOO% w2 B ARRE
ERBEBENFERES(IEERE
wml)  BRETEFTRNEEREHENZ
SEFE R MR 2 A E R ERL N T ¢

eliminations, is presented below:

2016 2015
—E—-XEF —E—RF
HK$ HK$
BT =
For the year ended 31 March BE=A=+—HALEE
Revenue Wz 44,243,143 33,586,207
Profit/(loss) for the year REEHRF,(EE) 1,550,005 (9,316,636)
Other comprehensive loss HizmEE (370,271) (13,774)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) REE2EUZE(EBE)
for the year 4% 1,179,734 (9,330,410)
Profit/(loss) for the year allocated DEREIFERER ZFA
to NCI wmA, (E8) 620,002 (3,726,654)
For the year ended 31 March BE=A=1+t—HLEE
Cash flows from operating activities REEBZHEERE 40,442,438 23,491,214
Cash flows from investing activities KEEBZEERE (2,171,562) (57,224,705)
Cash flows from financing activities MEEFHCReRE (43,028,949) 34,150,371
Net cash (outflows)/inflows Be& Rl RAFE (4,758,073) 416,880
2016 2015
—E-XRE —E-TE
HK$ HK$
BT BT
As at 31 March R=A=+—H
Current assets MBNEEE 34,577,005 19,473,321
Non-current assets FERBEE 81,371,995 106,607,282
Current liabilities nRBBE (124,713,092) (126,976,176)
Non-current liabilities ERBIEE (14,327,616)  (23,375,870)
Net liabilities BfEFHE (23,091,708)  (24,271,443)
Accumulated non-controlling interests ~ ZRi&IEIRIREZ (10,258,377)  (10,878,379)
ANNUAL REPORT 2016 T 5 F 4
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38. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

38. FIERERE)

(Continued)

Great Research, a 51% owned subsidiary of the RABHEE D1 % w2 B A BRI

Company, has material NCI. Summarised financial RRBHE A EREERER - BB

information in relation to the NCI of Great Research I 45 BR (R B A £ (B R 4K 68 A 2 FEE AR

before intra-group eliminations, is presented below: Bm EEREERMnT
2016

—E-XKF

HK$
ET

For the period from 5 August 2015 BE-ZE—HEFEN\AEA(KEAH)

(date of acquisition) to 31 March ZE=RA=+—HLHEH

Loss for the period A HAfE 1R (5,923,889)

Other comprehensive loss Hi2mEEE (440,884)

Total comprehensive loss for the period NEE R EE AR (6,364,773)

Loss for the period allocated to NCI HELEIFIERR R 2 BINEE (2,902,706)

For the period from 5 August 2015 B-Z-HEENARERA(KWEAH)

(date of acquisition) to 31 March ZE=ZA=+—HLHEHE

Cash flows from operating activities KEEBZHRENE (4,532,415)

Cash flows from investing activities KB EHIRERE 10,036

Net cash outflows RE M F5E (4,522,379)
2016

ZE-RF

HK$
BT

As at 31 March R=A=+-—H

Current assets MEVEE 6,986,337

Non-current assets EREEE 8,811,556

Current liabilities mENBE (8,154,845)

Net assets BEFE 7,643,048

Accumulated non-controlling interests REFFIE RS 3,745,094

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as those disclosed elsewhere in the financial
statements, significant related party transactions
during the year are as follows:

(a) Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of Directors and other

members of key management personnel
during the year were as follows:

—ZET—R"F=A=+—H
31 March 2016

39. BEALRS

BUBHRREMEHZEREEN  F
WNETZERNFEALLZSIT ¢

(a) EBEEABFM

FR BEREMETBEEEARLZ

MemT
2016 2015
—E-RE —ZT—hF
HK$ HK$
BT BT

Short-term benefits SRR
Post-employment benefits BEEL 2 1R A

16,434,500 13,090,584
108,000 78,468

16,542,500 13,169,052

(b) On 8 June 2015, the Group entered into a
sale and purchase agreement with Guangwei
to acquire 9.5% of the subscribed capital
contribution of Lianshun at a consideration
equivalent to HK$32,000,000 in RMB (note
21(b)).

Guangwei is an associate of Ms. Wang Ming,
a substantial shareholder of the Company,
holding approximately 12.25% of the issued
shares of the Company and the spouse of Mr.
Tsoi Tung who is an executive Director and
the chief executive officer of the Company.

ANNUAL REPORT 2016

b) RZE—RAFXANA A&EH
BN ET LB B ek DA UK BE B
IERBMEEREZ295%  REA
32,000,000 L2 ARBZE(H
#Z21(b)) °

EMBARAETERRERETE L
THBEARARABBITIRAY
12.25% « AREFEE 2B - 5
HERERRNARNITERRITERE
HIZHEA -
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40. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED 40. GrEBEESRERMHEE
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Reconciliation of loss before income tax (expense)/ MPATER(FIsL ) /R Rl E B R AR & %
credit to net cash used in operations is as follows: TR IR FREERNT ¢
2016 2015
—EB-AF —E-AfF
HK$ HK$
B BT
Loss before income tax (expense)/credit BRETER (%) /BRAEE (133,046,719) (471,977,280
Interest income MEKA (1,363,929) (1,272,737)
Interest expenses FBMZ 3,371,646 4,313,268
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment WE BEREEINE 15,969,512 13,298,088
Amortisation of intangible assets BREE 2 EH 443,892 15,361,839
Amortisation of deferred expenditure EIER S 2 B - 8,632,826
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant and HENE BRREEZESR/
equipment, net (W) %8 696,645 (74,083)
Reversal of impairment loss on other receivables E U I8 7 Fi{EE 1 R - (1,212,716)
Gain on deemed disposal of interests in BIEHERBERR 2R
associates, net e - F5E - (1,162,241)
Loss on disposal of associates HEBE AR ZER - 2,912,809
Loss in disposal of convertible loan notes HETRREFZE BB - 1,051,473
Impairment loss on goodwill mE 2 REESR 20,023,466 96,019,091
Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment % - BE KR E 2 AEEE 993,162 =
Impairment loss on available-for-sale AR EREZREBE
investments - 147,964,021
Written down of inventories to net realisable WREFEENERFE
value 193,260 —
Impairment loss on trade and other receivables  EMEF R H (308 7 FiEEE 41,274,307 1,736,337
Impairment loss on intangible assets EREEZREER 285,882 88,358,247
Impairment loss on deferred expenditure ERERZ 2 REBE - 2,268,500
Realised (gain)/loss on disposal of available-for-  HEREHEREZ BEE
sale investments (Wezs),/BA (14,266,465) 1,630,320
Fair value loss/(gain) on investment properties REMEZ N FEEZEE,/(WEF) 79,897 (127,279)
Losses on disposal of subsidiaries, net HEMRBARZEE  $8 2,574,197 16,030,080
Share of losses/(profits) of associates SEEEARER/ (R 167,356 (616,346)
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40. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED

41.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(Continued)

Bt %% 3 3k MY &=
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E—RE=A=+—H

31 March 2016

40. EBEEREBXRMNE ®)

2016 2015
—E-RE —ZT—hF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Operating loss before working LIBESEEE 2L EIE
capital changes (62,603,891) (76,865,783)
(Increase)/decrease in inventories FEGEM), B (1,233,583) 1,999,327
Increase in trade and other receivables FEWE B R HAth IR AN (15,422,550) (9,182,590)
Increase in trade, bills and ENER  ZERHEMFKIE
other payables 0 30,489,262 29,851,119
Net cash used in operations REXEBFAZE®F5E (48,770,762) (54,197,927)
LEASES 41. HEHY

Operating leases — lessee

The Group leases certain properties under operating
leases. The leases for properties usually run for
an initial period of one to sixteen years (2015:

one to sixteen years). Lease payments are usually

FEEHEY — AZBA

AEEREEEANAEETHE - %
TR NABEBESEA—E+A

F(-E-nE

—ET+TREF) -

Hez

BERTRBRTEES HSIBEHOBHE

negotiated to reflect market rentals. None of the AR -
leases includes contingent rentals.
The lease payments recognised as an expense are EHERRXHZESIT
as follows:
2016 2015
—E-RE —T=T—nfF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Minimum lease payments =EHE 41,615,998 45,917,744
ANNUAL REPORT 2016 T ANEEE 189
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—ZE-RE=ZA=+—H

31 March 2016

41. LEASES (continued) 41. M=)
The total future minimum lease payments are due AR BN T EE 2 E
as follows:
2016 2015
—E—-XE —T—HF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Not later than one year TER—F 28,716,649 32,974,979
Later than one year and not later than BE—FETERRF
five years 76,591,138 79,646,216
More than five years fiaspi Fakes 58,991,848 80,713,419

164,299,635 193,334,614

Operating leases — Lessor

The Group sub-leases its properties in the PRC
under operating leases. Sub-leases of properties
in the PRC usually run for one to five years (2015:
one to five years). Lease payments are usually
negotiated to reflect market rentals. None of the
lease includes contingent rentals.

The minimum lease receivables under
non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

REEREY — HAA

AEBERBEEROOEERTEZY
X -RPEIEANEZHOBER =
FFE(ZF—A%F: —E0%F) -#Hg
FEBERBRHERE - SIEHANERE

RETAIHHESERO cREREES
wr

2016 2015
—B-R"E ZTHF
HKS$ HK$
B BT

Not later than one year TER—F

Later than one year and not later than HBR—FEANE
five years

More than five years fiEsp C ke

21,180,766 38,666,307

15,994,416 20,152,087
560,544 2,885,329

37,735,726 61,703,723

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

42. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

(a)

—ZET—R"F=A=+—H
31 March 2016

42. BAEIE

(a)
2016 2015
—EBE-RE —ZE—RF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Contracted for but not provided BRI AVBREE
— Commitments for the acquisition WEEKE K& 2 Ik
of plant and equipment 15,678,110 22,643,377
— Capital commitment for KEPBIEETRAES
investment in unlisted equity LB
securities in the PRC 741,674 —
16,319,784 22,643,377
On 27 May 2011, the Company (as the b) M-Z—FRA=-1++tH ARQ

purchaser) entered into an agreement (as
amended and supplemented by supplemental
agreements dated 20 December 2011, 31
December 2012, 30 September 2013 and 30
September 2014) (collectively referred to as
the “BoRen Agreement”) with HaoRan Cultural
Development Limited (the “BoRen Vendor”)
pursuant to which the Company agreed to
acquire from BoRen Vendor the entire issued
capital of BoRen. BoRen holds direct interests
in Elite-China Cultural Development Limited
and its subsidiaries (the “Elite Group”), being
a group of companies which principally engage
in sub-leasing of properties and facilities in
Nanjing. Pursuant to the BoRen Agreement, it
was originally agreed that the Company shall
provide a loan in the total principal amount
of not less than RMB50,000,000 to the Elite
Group for each of the years on or before 30
September 2015, 30 September 2016 and 30
September 2017, respectively (the "Original
Loan”) and in consideration of the provision
of the Original Loan, the BoRen Vendor
shall provide a profit guarantee in favour of
the Company whereby the BoRen Vendor
guaranteed that the total audited combined
net profits after taxation and non-controlling
interest of Elite Group for the three financial
years ending 31 December 2017 shall not
be less than RMB75,000,000 (the "Profit
Guarantee”).
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—E-XRF=ZA=1+—H
31 March 2016

42. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS (Continued)

(b)

(Continued)

On 29 September 2015, the Company, the
BoRen Vendor and the guarantor to the BoRen
Vendor entered into the fifth supplemental
agreement (the "Fifth Supplemental
Agreement”), pursuant to which the parties
agreed to further amend certain terms of
the BoRen Agreement. Pursuant to the Fifth
Supplemental Agreement, the parties mutually
agreed to reduce the amount of the Original
Loan from an aggregate of RMB150,000,000
to RMB10,000,000 (the “New Loan”) for the
purpose of minimizing the Company’'s credit
risk and investment risk, after taking into
consideration of the current market condition
and change of development plan of the
properties of BoRen and its subsidiaries. In
consideration of the BoRen Vendor agreeing
to reduce the size of the Original Loan, the
Company has agreed to accept certain share
pledges in favour of the Company as security
for the New Loan, in place of the Profit
Guarantee. Pursuant to the Fifth Supplemental
Agreement, the New Loan will be provided
by the Company to Elite Group within 30
days upon signing of the Fifth Supplemental
Agreement (i.e. 28 October 2015), subject to
certain conditions precedent being fulfilled
and/or waived.

The Fifth Supplemental Agreement lapsed on
28 October 2015 and no extension has been
agreed between the parties, the Company's
obligation to provide the New Loan has
lapsed accordingly. Upon the lapse of the
Fifth Supplemental Agreement, neither party
shall have any further obligations nor liabilities
towards the other nor any claims against
the other in connection with the BoRen
Agreement (save for antecedent breaches, if
applicable).

For details in relation to the BoRen Agreement
and the Fifth Supplemental Agreement, please
also refer to the Company’s announcements
dated 27 May 2011, 6 July 2012, 11 July 2012
31 December 2012, 30 September 2013, 30
September 2014, 29 September 2015 and 28
October 2015.

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED
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(b)
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A BLCEARBLCEAZERA
AIVERDET ([ ERDETT
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AT St RIBEEMHER
REBCREMBARZ WERE
RIS - ST KRBT ERA
B mAst AR 150,000,000 7T
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and
currency risks arises in the normal course of the
Group's business. The Group is also exposed to
equity price risk arising from its equity investment
in other entities.

Policy for managing these risks is set by the Board
following recommendations from the chief financial
officer. Certain risks are managed centrally, while
others are managed locally following guidelines
communicated from the management. The policy
for each of the above risks is described in more
detail below.

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that counterparties
will default on their contractual obligations
resulting in financial loss to the Group. The
Group exposes to credit risk from loans and
receivables. The Group has adopted a credit
policy to monitor and mitigate credit risk
arising from trade debtors. Credit limit is
regularly reviewed and approved by head of
credit control. The Group assesses credit risk
based on customers’ past due records, trading
history, financial conditions or credit ratings.
The Group and the Company is not exposed
to concentration of credit risk. Please refer
to note 24 for further analysis of credit risk
associated with trade and other receivables.

The credit risk on bank deposits is limited
because the counterparties are banks with
high credit-ratings assigned by international
credit-rating agencies.

(b) Liquidity risk

The Group’'s objective is to ensure there
are adequate funds to meet commitments
associated with its financial liabilities. Cash
flows of the Group are closely monitored by
senior management on an ongoing basis.
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—E-XRF=ZA=1+—H
31 March 2016

43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 43. MBEKREE &)
(Continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (Continued) (b) REBESEE(E)
The contractual maturities of financial liabilities MHABECENIBHBETRET
are shown as below:
Total More than More than
contractual Within Tyearbut 2 years but
Carrying  undiscounted 1 year or less than less than More than
amount  cash flows  on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years
& it it
A4BRE %A ~£ RER \
HEE it EEXR SHWE DREE BRLE
HS U HS  HS T HS A HS
BT BT BT BT BT BT
2016 “E-RF
Non-derivatives: FO7E
Trade, bills and other ERER BB
payables Ef3ia 116,765,977 116,765977 116,765,977 - - -
Amounts due to non- BN RRESE
controlling shareholders 53,594,160 53,594,160 53,594,160 - - -
Amounts due to related EEEALIE
parties 21,051,879 21,051,879 21,051,879 - - -
Bank borrowings RiTfEE 68,703,870 72,012,668 52,595,494 19,417,174 - -
266,115,886 269,424,684 250,007,510 19417174 - -
2016 ZE-RE
Financial guarantee: HHER:
Issued maximum amount BRI RAERE
guaranteed - 42,004,200 42,004,200 - — S
2015 “Z-1f
Non-derivatives: AT -
Trade, bills and Fﬁ‘é‘?& S
other payables =0 R 70,681,180 70,681,180 70,681,180 - - -
Amounts due to non- BN RREE
controlling shareholders 53,594,160 53,594,160 53,594,160 — — —
Amounts due to related ERBEALEE
parties \ 43,894,302 43,894,302 43,894,302 - - -
Bank horrowings RITEE 60,308,803 65808901 36459907 7890448 21,458,546 -
208478445 233978543 204,629,549 7,890,448 21,458,546 -
At 31 March 2016, B R RHIEEBEEZEFR A RZE—RF=HAH=1+—8 "' &R

7] (Nanjing Yinkun Investment Corporation®),
an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, provide the guarantee in respect of
a loan facility for the principal amount of up to
RMB35,000,000 (equivalent to HK$42,004,200)
(2015: nil) provided to an independent third
party from a financial institution in the PRC. The
estimated fair value of the financial guarantee
is HK$ nil which was arrived on the basis of
valuation carried out by APAC for the year ended
31 March 2016.

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(c)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest
rate risk due to the fluctuation of the prevailing
market interest rate on bank balances and
variable-rate bank loans.

The Group is also exposed to fair value
interest rate risk which relates primarily to
its cash and cash equivalents, pledged bank
deposits and bank borrowings which are at
floating rates. The Group currently does not
use any derivative contracts to hedge the
interest rate risk. However, management
will consider hedging significant interest rate
exposure should the need arise.

Interest rate profile

The following table details interest rates
analysis that management of the Company
evaluates the interest rate risk.

—ZET—R"F=A=+—H
31 March 2016

BEERREREZ)

(c)

FRER

MBS T B RTER B
ATBNEED - AEEARRS
REFREMS -

AEB T AR T EREZTHN K
REZRENRSEEER  BE
MIRTHERRBITEEERZAF
BEMZEE - NKE B 5 &)
ERTET ARG QP XRER
AW BEBKESRREEH T
EXMEE R -

FIFEEE

THRAIIARAERBEFIER,
02 FIE S -

2016 2015
ZE-RE “T-1F
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) HK$ rate (%) HK$
EBFAE(%) BT EEFE(%) BT
Financial assets HBEE
Fixed-rate financial assets: ERKEE
— Loan receivables - BIKER 3.00% 28,369,700 0.10% 27,722,772
— Pledged bank deposits - BEABIER 2.62% 43,684,368 2.80% 6,943,655
Floating-rate financial assets: ZEMBAE
— Cash and cash equivalents - BeRBeZE
BH 0.16% 57,051,103 0.52% 102,614,658
— Pledged bank deposits - BEAROER 0.01% 2,300,000 0.01% 2,300,000
Financial liabilities nHas
Fixed-rate financial liabilities: EEMBRE:
— Bank borrowings - fEE 4.29% 50,702,070 7.72% 9,594,869
Floating-rate financial liabilities: FEHBEE:
— Bank borrowings - RI1f8E 6.23% 18,001,800 3.68% 50,713,934
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—E-XRF=ZA=1+—H
31 March 2016

43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(c)

(d)

Interest rate risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the approximate
change in the results after tax in response to
reasonably possible changes in interest rate
to which the Group has significant exposure
at the end of reporting period. In determining
the effect on results after tax on the next
accounting period until next end of reporting
period, management of the Company assumes
that the change in interest rate had occurred
at the end of reporting period and all other
variables remain constant. There is no change
in the methods and assumptions used in 2016
and 2015.

BEERREREZ)

(c)

FRmb(E)
BBETHT

TREBTRIREARRTEEEY
REEAZERRER MR SR
AREFEMEE 2O EE - INE
TEEBRBEEEN T — A2 EME
HE T EREHRCHER - K
NAIBERERIFERREHRE
BANERMBEEMEHERITE -
RZZE—RNER_T—REHFER
ZIERBRERA EEE -

2016 2015

—E—-RE —T—HF

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Increase by 100 basis points #HN 100 {EE 2, 413,493 542,007
Decrease by 100 basis points T 100 EIE 2L (333,672) (26,687)

Currency risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and
the PRC with most of the transactions settled
in their respective functional currencies in
which the group entities operate. Therefore
the Group does not have significant exposure
to risk resulting from changes in foreign
currency exchange rates.

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(e)

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price changes
arising from equity instruments classified as
available-for-sale equity securities. They are
listed on the Stock Exchange and have been
chosen based on their longer term growth
potential and are monitored regularly for
performance against expectations.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis on equity price risk
includes the Group's financial instruments,
which fair value or future cash flows will
fluctuate because of changes in their
corresponding or underlying asset's equity
price. If the prices of the respective equity
instruments had been 50% (2015: 50%)
higher/lower, the other component of equity
would increase/decrease by HK$6,395,668
(2015: HK$10,634,105).

—ZET—R"F=A=+—H
31 March 2016

43. MBEKREE &)

(e)

R A (B 4% L B

AEERH D RAATHLERAE
HFZBRATEMEL ZBRANERE
B RERATARBRMET
HERBREZERENER &
REBHTEERZIEE -

BEEDHT

BAERRRZSRESTEIER
EECysmITAE BT A
ZAFEESAKRRERESHA
BB - U TR E MRS EEE E
2R EBREBATE - (MR A
TEAZE®RER/THE0%(=ZF
— AT :50%) @ BIE AR AR
#1808 4 6,395,668 TT(—
T—FF 10,634,105 7T) °

44. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS 44. BER B D 2 KEER MK
AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY EEHNE
CATEGORY
The following table shows the carrying amount TRBETRMTI)TATZHBEER
and fair value of financial assets and liabilities as BEZEREERATER
defined in note 4(j):
2016 2015
—E-RE —E-A1fF
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
amount value amount value
IREE ATEE REE NYEE
HK$ HKS$ HKS HKS
B B BT BT
Financial assets BREE
Loans and receivables EH R EKEIR 169,559,117 169,559,117 302,608,013 302,608,013
Available-for-sale financial assets Al HEMBEE 43,087,358 43,087,358 21,268,209 21,268,209
Financial liabilities HgaE
Financial liabilities measured HEERAGTEY
at amortised cost BBaRE 266,115,886 266,115,886 228,478,445 228,478,445
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31 March 2016

44. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY
CATEGORY (Continued)

(a) The fair values of financial assets and financial

liabilities are determined as follows:

The fair value of financial assets and
financial liabilities with standard terms
and conditions and traded on active liquid
markets are determined with reference
to quoted market prices.

The fair value of other financial assets
and financial liabilities are determined
in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on discounted
cash flow analysis using prices from
observable current market transactions
and dealer quotes for similar instruments.

(b) The following table provides an analysis of

financial instruments carried at fair value by

level of fair value hierarchy:

Level 1:

Level 2:

Level 3:

Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or
liabilities;

Inputs other than quoted prices
included within Level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (i.e. as prices) or
indirectly (i.e. derived from prices);
and

Inputs for the asset or liability that
are not based on observable market
data (unobservable inputs).

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED
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RBEFERBRRESREDN
MmEE °
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44. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS 44, IRERE D 2K EER MK
AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY BEME®)
CATEGORY (continued)
(b) (Continued) (b) (#&)
2016
—E—XE
Available-for-sale financial Tt HEBKEE
assets Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
EE B2 B3 Fobc]

Listed securities in Hong &% F &% -

Kong, at fair value BAEER 12,791,336 - — 12,791,336
2015
—E-RF
Available-for-sale financial A#tHERKEE
assets Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
fE 41 B4R 2 E&3 e

Listed securities in Hong ~ &/& FHZ&%

Kong, at fair value BAYEE 21,268,209 — — 21,268,209
Reconciliation for financial instruments carried BEANTABERGAER(BRI)
at fair value based on significant unobservable SRz AFEBEYE M ITA
inputs (Level 3) is as follows: HERWT -

2016 2015
—B-AF T I
HK$ HK$
BT BT

Contingent consideration related to  BREAKEHBEAR

acquisition of subsidiaries HANRE
At 1 April R A—H — 103,398,272
Exchange differences PE 3 =% - 125,317
Release of foreign exchange R SR EREREE

reserve upon impairment loss on R Bl SN

available-for-sales investment - (4,775,996)
Impairment loss RIEBE —  (98,747,593)
At 31 March R=A=+—H - —
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—E-XRF=ZA=1+—H
31 March 2016

44. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY
CATEGORY (Continued)

(c)

Valuation techniques and inputs used in
Level 3 fair value measurements

Contingent consideration related to
acquisition of subsidiaries

The contingent consideration is related
acquisition of Boren on 8 July 2011 which
is engaged in sub-leasing of properties and
facilities in Nanjing in the PRC. The carrying
amount of the contingent consideration had
been fully impaired during the year ended 31
March 2015.

Binomial option pricing model is used for
valuation of the contingent consideration in
related to acquisition of subsidiaries. Significant
input into the model was as follows:

Expected 2015 net profits after taxation
and non-controlling interests

Expected 2016 net profits after taxation
and non-controlling interests

Expected 2017 net profits after taxation
and non-controlling interests

Annual risk-free rate

Expected volatility

The fair value of contingent consideration
related to acquisition of subsidiaries is
determined using binomial option pricing
model and the significant unobservable
input used in the fair value measurement
is expected 2015 — 2017 net profits after
taxation and non-controlling interests. The fair
value measurement is negatively correlated
to the expected 2015 — 2017 net profits after
taxation and non-controlling interests. As at 31
March 2014, it is estimated that with all other
variables held constant, an increase/decrease
in expected 2015 — 2017 net profits after
taxation and non-controlling interests by 20%,
which is a reasonable magnitude determined
by management, would have no effect on the
Group’s other comprehensive income.

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED

44, BBERE D 2B EER MK
BEHSE®)

(c)
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BT NERBRRAN R
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FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 March 2016

45. HOLDING COMPANY STATEMENT OF

Bt %5 8RR MY &
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
—E—RE=A=+—H

31 March 2016

45. ER DT 2 MBI R

RZE—NF=A=+—H

2016 2015
—E-XRFE —ZT—hF
Notes HK$ HK$
HiaE BT BT
Assets EE
Non-current assets EREBEE
_Interests in subsidiaries | Mi@n~rl2iEm 46 115,756,748 165,352,347
Current assets RBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries  FEUFIE A T IE 46 560,207,081 476,675,533
Other receivables H fth pE U Fh8 16,621 110,005,201
Cash and cash equivalents HeMReEEER 23,542,073 50,075,906
Total current assets  aBAEEE 583,765,775 636,756,640
Totalassets ~  ®E®#@ 699,522,523 792,108,987
Liabilities =L
Current liabilities RBERE
Other payables Hth fEAS 3R 1B 2,135,826 2,330,808
Amounts due to subsidiaries FET BB R R FUA 46 551,348,004 598,098,816
Bank borrowings RITEE 30,000,000 =
Total current liabilities mEBEER 583,483,830 600,429,624
Net current assets ~ #a#®#EF¥E 00000 281,945 36,327,016
Total assets less current EEAERABAER
liabilities 116,038,693 191,679,363
NET ASSETS BEERE 116,038,693 191,679,363
Capital and reserves BAR HE
Share capital &7 32 35,925,952 35,925,952
Reserves {1 33 80,112,741 155,753,411
TOTAL EQUITY R 116,038,693 191,679,363
ANNUAL REPORT 2016 T - RNEFF
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—E-XRF=ZA=1+—H
31 March 2016

46. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The amounts due from/(to)
unsecured,
except for the following:

46.

subsidiaries are
interest-free and repayable on demand,

Amount due from a subsidiary of HK$7,200,000
(2015: HK$7,200,000) which borne interest at 5%

(2015: 5%) per annum.

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries

as at 31 March 2016.

B A B 2 ok
FEM, (FE ) B 28 B 5OB T A 447
B RABEREER ETIRAR

B

RE = 5%(_? RE :5%)BR 2
JE L — &1 Bt BB A | 3K 38 7,200,000 7 7T
(ZB—1%F: 7,200,000/.375)

RZE—XRNF=ZA=+—8 " £EH B
RAElZFRMT o

Form of Place of Principal activities Issued share capital/ Percentage of
Name husiness structure incorporation and place of operation paid-up registered capital  ownership interests held
B EBERKE  ERAILE TEEBRSENE BRIRA/BRiEMES FeERERERAM
directly indirectly
Bi B
Golden Island (Management) Limited Limited liability ~ Hong Kong Provision of management 10,000 ordinary shares of 100.0 -
company Services to group HK$10,000
companies in Hong Kong
£R(ER)RRAA RREfEAR  BR RERRUERRET 10,0008 10,000/ 7.2 & ik
LN
Welly Champ International Limited Limited liability ~ BVI Investment holding 236.13 ordinary shares of %8 -
company in Hong Kong US$1 each
BEERARLT EREFAT  EBRLES REERERR 236.13REREE T
LERR
Win Success Enterprises Limited Limited liability BVl Investment holding 100 ordinary shares of 100.0 S
company in Hong Kong US$1 each
JFOFRRAT BREART  EERLES REERERR 00REREE 1 Er LR
Wide Stand Holdings Limited Limited liability ~ BVI Investment holding 100 ordinary shares of 1000 =
company in Hong Kong US$1 each
BUARARAT BREART  EBRLES REBRELR 100REREE 2T S8R
Baron Productions and Artiste Limited liability ~ Hong Kong Music production and 100 ordinary shares of HK$100 = 51.0
Management Company Limited company artist management
in Hong Kong
REBERENERERAT EREARA  BE RERUZELRERBAEE  100R100ETLERR
Golden Capital Entertainment Company ~ Limited liabiity ~ BVI Investment holding 10 ordinary shares of - 1000
Limited company in Hong Kong US$1 each
SHRERBRRLT EREAAA  EBRLES REBRARR 0RERERE X1 ER
Golden Capital Entertainment Limited Limited liability ~ Hong Kong Investment holding 1 ordinary share of HKS1 - 1000
‘ company in Hong Kong
SHRERRAT EREfMAR  B# REBRERR Rz &ak
Golden Island Bird's Nest Chiu Chau Limited liability ~ Hong Kong Property holding 12,000 ordinary shares of - 100.0
Restaurant (Causeway Bay) Limited company in Hong Kong HK$1,200,000
LEARMNER (WEL)RRAA RREEAD A% RERRENE 12,0008 1,200,000/37.2
CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED LR EERA A



46. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
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46. M AR 2 =S (#)

Form of Place of Principal activities Issued share capital/ Percentage of
Name business structure incorporation and place of operation paid-up registered capital  ownership interests held
B $RERKS  BRAILE TEERREEHE BEARE/BRIMES e RARERAD Y
directly indirectly
ER B
Solid Sound Productions Limited Limited liability ~ Hong Kong Music production and artist 100 ordinary shares of HK$100 - 510
company management in Hong Kong
UhERERERRAT BRERA  BR REARESLUEREATE 100R100BTZEER
Media Sound Limited liability ~ Hong Kong Investment holding 2 ordinary shares of HK$2 100.0 -
company in Hong Kong
fird BREfLA B REERERR R2ETZERR
Song Labs Co, Ltd*("Song Labs") Sino-foreign equity The PRC Intellectual property Renminbi ("RMB") - 1000
joint venture with enforcement activities 56,250,000
limited liability in the PRC
company
PRRERERSRIERAAIRE]) HaERREE #E MEUSARERGERE  ARE(ARE))
Y 56,250,000
Well Allied Limited liability ~ BVI Investment holding 159,57 ordinary shares of - 68.8
company in Hong Kong US$1 each
i BREART  HBRLES REERBRR 15057 R BRAR 1 %72
LRk
China Music Video Broadcast (Shenzhen) ~ Wholly foreign-  The PRC Karaoke license fee collection ~ RMB15,489,940 - 688
Company Limited*("China Music") owned enterprise business in the PRC
with limited
liability
hEER(RINERAA(RE)) NAEABERR HE PR SR 0K AR 15,489, 94070
EffAd BHEERNEER
Witty Idea Limited liability ~Hong Kong Money lending business 1 ordinary share of HKS1 - 100.0
company in Hong Kong
& EREfRA  EE NEBETHEER 1R B2 ERR
Elite-China Limited liability ~ Hong Kong Investment holding 10,000 ordinary shares of - 60.0
company in the PRC HK$10,000
TEEE EREfAA BE RhER AR 10,0005 10,0008 72 £BR
Nanjing Creative Eastern 8 Zone Taiwan, Hong ~ The PRC Property sub-leasing RMB14,000,000 - 60.0
Technology Co. Ltd* Kong and Macau business in the PRC
Corporation-
owned enterprise
with limited
liability company
HREER\BHEARRALR RRERENEERR T MERENEARER AR%14,000,0007
EffRE
Nanjing Yinkun Investment Corporation®  Limited liability ~ The PRC Property sub-leasing RMB10,000,000 - 60.0
company business in the PRC
BRRRREERARAT ERERRA  4E NGBS AR 10,000,007
ANNUAL REPORT 2016 T— NEEE
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46. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

46. B AT Z2REHE (&)

Form of Place of Principal activities Issued share capital/ Percentage of
Name business structure incorporation and place of operation paid-up registered capital  ownership interests held
B $RERKS  BRAILE TERBREENE BEARE/BRIMES FaRaREREA
directly indirectly
BE B
BoRen Limited liability ~ BVI Investment holding 1 ordinary share of US$1 100.0 -
company in the PRC
i EREFRE  EBRLEE ReERERR \REEI X ERR
China Resources Advertising & Exhibition ~ Limited liahilty ~ Hong Kong Exhibition-related services 100,000 ordinary shares of 100.0 -
Company Limited company in Hong Kong HK§100,000
hEREREARAT BRRRAA  B# REARERERBRY 100,000 100,000 7.2
EBR
New Asia Media Development Limited ~ Limited liability BV Investment holding 1 ordinary share of US$1 100.0 -
company in Hong Kong
FoERERERAT BREART  ZERLES REEREER 1RERI X ERR
Kai Han Asia-Pacific (Holdings) Limited ~ Limited liability BV Property holding 100 ordinary shares of 100.0 -
company in Korea US$1 each
BETA(ER)BRAA BREART  EERKES RERRENE 100REHEE 1 £ LRk
Kai Han Travel Co., Limited Limited liability — Korea Travel and travel related 50,000 ordinary shares of - 100.0
company business in Korea KRW10,000 each
BREEAE % REEMEREREEEE  5000REREAE10,0002E
2% LERR
Great Research Limited liabiity ~ The PRC Operation of sludge and RMB70,000,000 - 51.0
company sewage treatment plants
in the PRC
BIRHRRAR BREfNR  4E RPEEERER KRR AR%700000007

The above list includes the subsidiaries of the
Company which, in the opinion of the Directors,
principally affected the results for the year or
formed a substantial portion of the net assets of

the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries

would, in the opinion of the Directors, result in

particulars of excessive length.

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT

LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

47. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

(a)

Reference is made to the announcements
of the Company dated 17 May 2006 and
19 December 2006 in relation to, amongst
others, (i) a copyright co-operation agreement
dated 8 May 2006 entered into between
China Music, an indirect non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, and the MVCM
Association; (i) a copyright business operation
cooperation agreement dated 8 May 2006
entered into between China Music, Song
Labs, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, and the MVCM Association;
and (i) any supplemental agreements entered
into thereafter (collectively referred to as the
"Copyright Co-operation Agreements”).

Pursuant to the Copyright Co-operation
Agreements, the MVCM Association, China
Music and Song Labs have set up a market
operation team in the PRC to manage and
operate the business of the licenses of copyright
to karaoke music products in the PRC, and
China Music and Song Labs are entitled to
certain portion of the license fees in the PRC.
Under the Copyright Co-operation Agreements,
the MVCM Association takes the role as the
sole market manager and China Music and Song
Labs together take the role as the sole market
operator. Pursuant to the Copyright Co-operation
Agreements, the MVCM Association is required
to collect the license fees from the karaoke
operators and distribute and pay certain portion
of such license fees to China Music and Song
Labs on a weekly basis as operating fees (the
"Operating Fees").

ANNUAL REPORT 2016
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47. EHMRKRER

(a)
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47. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD (continued)

(a)

(Continued)

As at 12 November 2015, the MVCM
Association has not paid certain Operating Fees
to China Music and Song Labs, despite repeated
demands were made by China Music and Song
Labs to the MVCM Association. Based on the
information currently available to the Company,
the outstanding Operating Fees payable by the
MVCM Association amounted to approximately
RMB34,000,000 as at 12 November 2015.

On 1 June 2016, China Music and Song Labs
have initiated legal proceedings (the “Litigation”)
against the MVCM Association and 1t R #Ak5
& A R JEBT(The People's Court of Chaoyang,
Beijing*) notified China Music and Song Labs
that the application for the Litigation has been
accepted. Accordingly, 1t R W # 5 &R A R &
Bt (The People’s Court of Chaoyang, Beijing*)
will commence necessary procedures for the
Litigation upon receipt of the litigation fee from
China Music and Song Labs.

The Litigation is still on preliminary stage and the
Company's PRC legal counsel is currently taking
all necessary steps to protect the Company's
interests.

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED

47. REPREE(B)
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49.
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Bt % R MY A

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD (continued)

(b)  On 16 May 2016, the Company announced its
proposal to raise not less than approximately
HK$107,777,857 and not more than
approximately HK$111,550,090 before expenses
by way of the open offer, pursuant to which
not less than 359,259,523 and not more than
371,833,632 offer shares will be issued at
the subscription price of HK$0.30 per offer
share. The Company will allot one (1) offer
share for every two (2) shares held by the
qualifying shareholders whose names appear
on the register of members of the Company
on the record date. The open offer is not
available to the excluded shareholders. Up
to the date of approval of these consolidated
financial statements, the open offer has not yet
completed.

Details of the open offer were disclosed in the
Company's announcement dated 16 May 2016.

. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified
to conform with the current year presentation.

APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 27
June 2016.

For identification only
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Description

P

980, Gamsan-ri, Andeok-myeun, Seogwipo-si, Jeju-do, Korea

BEEN R BR B ERE™ LB E AL 2 980 5t

CULTURE LANDMARK INVESTMENT LIMITED

Type
R

Residential
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Lease Term
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Freehold
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